

North Coast Instream Flow Policy: Scientific Basis and Development of Alternatives Protecting Anadromous Salmonids

Task 3 Report

Administrative Draft

Prepared for:

California State Water Resources Control Board Division of Water Rights

Prepared by:

Paul DeVries, Dudley Reiser Chi-Ming Huang, Stuart Beck, Michael Ramey Alan Olson, Noble Hendrix, Karee Oliver, Tim Nightengale R2 Resource Consultants, Inc. 15250 NE 95th Street Redmond, Washington 98052-2518

and

James Reilly, Tracey Kenward, Molly Palmer Stetson Engineers, Inc. 2171 E. Francisco Blvd., Suite K San Rafael, California 94901

August 6, 2007

CONTENTS

ΕX	ECUTIVE SUMMARYXV
1.	INTRODUCTION1-1
	1.1 BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE1-1
	1.2 SPATIAL APPLICABILITY OF THE POLICY
	1.2.1 Applicability Upstream of Passage Barriers1-6
	1.2.2 Applicability to Ephemeral Streams1-8
	1.2.3 Stream Classification for Defining Spatial Applicability of Policy Elements1-8
	1.3 ANADROMOUS SALMONID SPECIES OF CONCERN
2.	PROTECTING ANADROMOUS SALMONID HABITAT FLOW NEEDS2-1
	2.1 UPSTREAM PASSAGE FLOW NEEDS2-1
	2.2 SPAWNING AND INCUBATION HABITAT FLOW NEEDS
	2.3 JUVENILE WINTER REARING HABITAT FLOW NEEDS
	2.4 OUTMIGRATION FLOW NEEDS
	2.5 CHANNEL AND RIPARIAN MAINTENANCE FLOW NEEDS
	2.6 ESTUARY HABITAT/OCEAN CONNECTIVITY FLOW NEEDS
3.	INSTREAM FLOW POLICY ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA
	3.1 POLICY ELEMENTS RESTRICTING FLOW DIVERSION
	3.1.1 Diversion Season (DS) Element
	3.1.2 Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) Element
	3.1.3 Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD) Element
	3.2 POLICY ELEMENT RESTRICTING INSTREAM BARRIERS
	3.2.1 Permitting of On-Stream Dams (DP) Policy Element
4.	EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF POLICY ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA RESTRICTING FLOW DIVERSION ON ANADROMOUS SALMONID HABITAT
	NEEDS

	4.1 Hydro	DLOGY AT VALIDATION SITES
	4.1.1	Validation Site Locations4-3
	4.1.2	Estimation of Unimpaired Flow Time Series4-6
	4.1.3	Hydrology and Impaired Flow Time Series4-6
	4.2 HABITA	AT ANALYSIS METHODS
	4.2.1	Methods for Assessing Effects on Upstream Passage Needs
	4.2.2	Methods for Assessing Effects on Spawning and Incubation Habitat Needs4-13
	4.2.3	Methods for Assessing Effects on Juvenile Winter Rearing Habitat Needs4-15
	4.2.4	Methods for Assessing Effects on Outmigration Needs
	4.2.5	Methods for Assessing Effects on Channel and Riparian Maintenance Needs4-15
	4.2.6	Methods For Assessing Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity4-16
	4.3 HABITA	AT ANALYSIS RESULTS USED TO ASSESS PROTECTIVENESS
	4.3.1	Upstream Passage4-16
	4.3.2	Spawning and Incubation4-21
	4.3.3	Juvenile Winter Rearing4-26
	4.3.4	Outmigration
	4.3.5	Channel and Riparian Maintenance4-27
	4.3.6	Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity4-28
5.	PROTECT	IVENESS OF DIVERSION SEASON ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA5-1
	5.1 ANALY	SIS OF PROTECTIVENESS
	5.1.1	Upstream Passage5-1
	5.1.2	Spawning and Incubation Habitat5-2
	5.1.3	Juvenile Winter Rearing Habitat5-3
	5.1.4	Outmigration5-3
	5.1.5	Channel and Riparian Maintenance5-4
	5.1.6	Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity5-5
	5.2 SUMM	ARY OF PROTECTIVENESS
6.		IVENESS OF MINIMUM BYPASS FLOW ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE

	6.1 ANALYSI	S OF PROTECTIVENESS	6-1
	6.1.1 L	Jpstream Passage	6-1
	6.1.2 \$	Spawning Habitat and Incubation	6-3
	6.1.3 V	Vinter Rearing Habitat	6-6
	6.1.4 0	Dutmigration	6-6
	6.1.5 C	Channel and Riparian Maintenance	6-6
	6.1.6 E	Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity	6-6
	6.2 SUMMAR	RY OF PROTECTIVENESS	6-6
7.		/ENESS OF MAXIMUM CUMULATIVE DIVERSION ELEMENT	7-1
	7 1 ANALYSI	S OF PROTECTIVENESS	7-1
		Jpstream Passage	
		Spawning and Incubation Habitat	
		Vinter Rearing Habitat	
		Dutmigration	
		Channel and Riparian Maintenance	
		Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity	
		RY OF PROTECTIVENESS	
	1.2 JUNIMAR	(Y OF FROTECTIVENESS	1-0
8.	PROTECTI	/ENESS OF ON-STREAM DAM/RESERVOIR RESTRICTIONS	8-1
	8.1 ANALYSI	S OF PROTECTIVENESS	8-1
	8.1.1 L	Jpstream Passage, Spawning, and Rearing Habitat	8-1
	8.1.2 0	Dutmigration	8-2
	8.1.3 0	Channel and Riparian Maintenance	8-2
	8.2 SUMMAR	RY OF PROTECTIVENESS	8-3
9.	IMPORTAN	CE OF FISH PASSAGE AND SCREENING MEASURES	9-1
	9.1 ASSESSI	NG PROTECTIVENESS	9-1
		Effects of On-Stream Dams and Diversions without Fish Passage and Screening Measures	9-1
	9.1.2 F	Protectiveness of Upstream Fish Passage Measures	9-2

9.1.3 Pr	otectiveness of Fish Screening Measures9-2
9.2 SUMMARY	OF PROTECTIVENESS
10. EFFECTIVEN	ESS MONITORING PROGRAM10-1
10.1 MONITOF	RING TYPES
10.2 EFFECTIV	VENESS MONITORING PROGRAM GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
10.3 EFFECTIN	/ENESS MONITORING PROGRAM
10.3.1 E	stablishment of Monitoring Oversight Committee10-2
10.3.2 S	election of Appropriate Sampling Designs10-4
10.3.3 S	electing and Monitoring Appropriate Indicators and Metrics10-4
10.3.4 S	tandardization of Sampling Protocols10-6
10.3.5 C	Quality Assurance/Quality Control Program
10.3.6 D	Pata Dissemination
10.3.7 F	unding Support
10.3.8 A	daptive Management – Decision Analysis10-7
10.4 MONITOR	RING PROGRAM: PRELIMINARY STUDY DESIGN10-7
11. REFERENCE	S11-1
APPENDIX A:	Chronology and Technical Basis of the DFG-NMFS Draft Guidelines
APPENDIX B:	Physical, Hydrological, and Ecological Conditions Influencing Anadromous Salmonid Habitat in Policy Area Streams
APPENDIX C:	Summary of Important Biological Characteristics of Target Anadromous Salmonid Species
APPENDIX D:	Defining Protectiveness Levels of Flow Related Habitat Requirements of Anadromous Salmonids at a Regional Scale
APPENDIX E:	Development of Policy Element Alternatives Defining a Range of Protective Levels of Minimum Bypass Flow for Application at the Regional Scale: Upper MBF and Lower MBF Alternatives
APPENDIX F:	Hydrologic Analysis of Validation Sites
APPENDIX G:	Approach for Assessing Effects of Policy Element Alternatives on Upstream Passage and Spawning Habitat Availability
APPENDIX H:	Upstream Passage and Spawning Habitat-Flow Relationships Derived for Validation Sites

- APPENDIX I: Results of Validation Site Protectiveness Analyses
- APPENDIX J: Properties and Behavior of the Cumulative Flow Impairment Index (CFII)
- APPENDIX K: Recommendations for Monitoring the Effectiveness of the North Coast Instream Flow Policy for Protecting Anadromous Salmonids

This page intentionally left blank.

FIGURES

Figure 1-1.	Policy area, pursuant to Water Code §1259.4, as required by Assembly Bill 2121
Figure 1-2.	Potential fish passage barriers identified in CALFISH for the Policy Area 1-
Figure 2-1.	Predicted long-term potential changes in channel width, depth, and grain size distribution resulting from a reduction in bankfull flow due to diversion in Policy area streams potentially supporting anadromous salmonids.
Figure 3-1.	Comparison of the MBF3 and MBF4 alternative criteria for the Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) element of the Policy, which account for variation in instream flow needs with stream size at different levels of protection
Figure 3-2.	Conceptual determination of maximum cumulative diversion (MCD) rate following Trout Unlimited's proposal to base it on a maximum reduction in the time instream flows are at, or above the minimum bypass flow by one-half day
Figure 4-1.	Outline of steps taken to analyze the protectiveness of Policy element alternative criteria restricting flow diversion with respect to anadromous salmonid upstream passage and spawning habitat needs4-2
Figure 4-2.	Locations of validation sites sampled for passage and spawning transects that were evaluated for protectiveness of Policy element alternative criteria involving restrictions on flow.
Figure 4-3.	Example comparison of impaired hydrographs resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios (listed in Table 4-2), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph
Figure 4-4.	Identification of minimum upstream passage flow magnitude using a transect habitat-flow curve, as the lowest flow resulting in a 2 ft wide passage lane in the Dunn Creek validation site
Figure 4-5.	Comparisons of habitat time series for steelhead trout upstream passage resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios (listed in Table 4-2), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph
Figure 4-6.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for steelhead trout in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area

Figure 4-7.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for coho salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area
Figure 4-8.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for Chinook salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area
Figure 4-9.	Comparisons of habitat time series for steelhead trout spawning and incubation resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios involving a MCD rate criterion (listed in Table 4-3), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph4-22
Figure 4-10.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for steelhead trout in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I4-23
Figure 4-11.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for coho salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I
Figure 4-12.	Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for Chinook salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I
Figure 6-1.	Comparisons of minimum bypass flow alternative criteria with protective spawning habitat-flow needs determined for the validation sites for steelhead, coho, and Chinook spawning, distinguished by drainage area. The spawning flow is scaled by the approximate unimpaired mean annual flow
Figure 10-1.	General components and actions associated with monitoring the protectiveness of North Coast Instream Flow Policy elements

TABLES

Table 2-1.	Minimum Upstream Passage Depth Criteria for Analyzing the Protectiveness of the Policy for Upstream Passage Needs (see Appendix G for sources)	2-2
Table 2-2.	Minimum Depth, Favorable Velocity, and Substrate Spawning Criteria for Analyzing the Protectiveness of the Policy for Spawning Habitat Needs (see Appendix G for sources)	2-4
Table 2-3.	Summary of General Lengths of Incubation Time and Maximum Intragravel Residence Time from Initiation of Spawning to Emergence for Anadromous Salmonids in the Policy Area. The Total Duration Numbers were Used in the Analysis (see Appendix G for sources)	2-4
Table 3-1.	Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Diversions	3-2
Table 3-2.	Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Instream Barriers	3-11
Table 4-1.	Sites Where Transects Were Surveyed to Characterize Passage and Spawning Conditions Associated with Alternative Criteria for Policy Elements Regarding Restrictions on Flow. Streams are Ordered from Smallest to Largest Drainage Area.	4-4
Table 4-2.	Description of Flow Alternative Scenarios Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness	4-9
Table 4-3.	Application of Protectiveness Criteria to the Thirteen Validation Sites, for Flow Alternative Scenarios where MCD is Specified as a Maximum Permissible Rate. Streams are Ordered from Smallest to Largest Drainage Area.	4-10
Table 4-4.	Estimated Reduction in the 1.5 Year Flood Peak Flow Rate Associated with Implementation of the Five Flow Alternative Scenarios, in Four Validation Sites with at Least Ten Years of Stream Flow Records.	4-28
Table 5-1.	Description of Diversion Season Element Alternative Criteria Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness	5-1
Table 5-2.	Summary of Protectiveness of Instream Flow Policy Diversion Season Element Alternative Criteria	5-6
Table 6-1.	Description of Minimum Bypass Flow Element Alternative Criteria Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness	6-1
Table 6-2.	Summary of Protectiveness of Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) Alternatives	6-7
Table 7-1.	Description of Maximum Cumulative Diversion Element Alternative Criteria Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness.	7-1

Table 7-2.	Summary of Protectiveness of Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD) Alternatives	.7-9
Table 8-1.	Summary of Protectiveness of the On-Stream Dam Permitting Restrictions (DP) Alternatives.	.8-4
Table 10-1.	Policy elements and potential effectiveness monitoring metrics useful for assessing protectiveness of the North Coast Instream Flow Policy on anadromous salmonids.	10-5

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

BMI	Benthic Macro Invertebrate
CDF	California Department of Forestry
CDV	Cumulative Diversion Volume
CEQA	California Environmental Quality Act
CESA	California Endangered Species Act
CFII	Cumulative Flow Impairment Index
DA	-
DFG	Drainage Area
DFG Division	California Department of Fish and Game
2	Division of Water Rights
DP	On-Stream Dam Permitting
DS	Diversion Season
DWR	California Department of Water Resources
EIR	Environmental Impact Report
ESA	Endangered Species Acts
ESU	Evolutionarily Significant Unit
EUR	Estimated Unimpaired Runoff
FP	Fish Passage and Protection
HSPF	Hydrologic Simulation Program – Fortran
HSI	Habitat Suitability Index
MBF	Minimum Bypass Flow
MCD	Maximum Cumulative Diversion
MOC	Monitoring Oversight Committee
NCRCD	Napa County Resource Conservation District
NMFS	National Marine Fisheries Service
NPS	National Park Service
PHABSIM	Physical Habitat Simulation
POD	Point of Diversion
POI	Point of Interest
Policy	North Coast Instream Flow Policy
QA/QC	Quality Assurance/Quality Control
Q	Flow
Q _m	Unimpaired Mean Annual Flow
Q _{MBF}	Minimum Bypass Flow
R2	R2 Resource Consultants
SEC	Sonoma Ecology Center
SED	Substitute Environmental Document
State Water Board	State Water Resources Control Board
Stetson	Stetson Engineers
USGS	US Geological Survey
WUA	Weighted Usable Area
	5

This page intentionally left blank.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) is responsible for administering water rights in the State of California. Assembly Bill 2121 (Stats. 2004, ch. 943, §1-3) added Sections 1259.2 and 1259.4 to the California Water Code. Water Code §1259.4 (as amended in July 2005) requires the State Water Board to adopt by January 1, 2008, a policy for maintaining instream flows in coastal streams from the Mattole River to San Francisco, and in coastal streams entering northern San Pablo Bay. The policy, termed the North Coast Instream Flow Policy, (hereinafter "Policy") will be prepared and adopted in accordance with state policy for water quality control for the purposes of water right administration. In addition, the State Policy for Water Quality Control requires preparation of a Substitute Environmental Document (SED) that analyzes the potential significant adverse environmental impacts, including cumulative impacts, of the Policy.

In developing the Policy, Water Code section 1259.4 authorized the State Water Board to consider the draft "Guidelines for Maintaining Instream Flows to Protect Fisheries Resources Downstream of Water Diversions in Mid-California Coastal Streams," which were developed by the California Department of Fish and Game (DFG) and National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) (DFG-NMFS 2002). The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines were specifically developed pursuant to respective agency mandates and missions to protect and restore endangered and threatened anadromous salmonids and their habitats. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines contained three elements governing restrictions on flow, and an element governing restrictions on instream barriers. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines also allow, under some circumstances, for site specific studies to be conducted as a means to evaluate whether additional water diversion, the presence of an on-stream dam, and/or a reduction in protective measures can be allowed without adversely affecting anadromous salmonids and their habitat. These same four elements and the option for site-specific studies have been carried through into the development of the Policy. The Division of Water Rights (Division) currently considers the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines when evaluating water right applications, but the Division has not adopted them as formal State Water Board policy.

This report presents the results of an evaluation of the technical basis and rationale behind the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines, and assesses the regional protectiveness of Policy element alternative criteria for anadromous salmonids in the Policy area. The technical evaluation included identification and analysis of possible alternative criteria and/or refinements to the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines that might afford a higher level of protectiveness to anadromous salmonids at the regional level, in terms of biologically desirable instream flows and permissible diversion rates.

The alternative criteria were developed considering comments received during the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) scoping process and from earlier reviews of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines. The alternative criteria furthermore address many of the substantive comments and recommendations made in 2000 by the State Water Board's Peer Review Panel (Moyle et al. 2000) and by Trout Unlimited (prepared by McBain-Trush; MTTU 2000) concerning the protectiveness of proposed State Water Board instream flow management guidelines that preceded the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines. The comments and recommendations included, notably: addressing effects of channel size on anadromous salmonid passage and spawning instream flow needs in smaller streams; basing instream flow standards on clearly defined objectives; using biological and hydrological criteria that can be expressed as testable hypotheses; developing a monitoring program that tests the hypotheses; avoiding cumulative diversion rates that adversely affect habitat downstream in the watershed; restricting on-stream impoundments only to cases where they do not affect anadromous salmonids either locally or downstream; generally operating on-stream dams to allow passage, prevent losses of fish to diversion, avoid causing cumulative effects on habitat downstream, and control exotic species; and considering the potential for future recolonization of habitat lost due to development.

Report Outline

There are ten main chapters in this report, followed by references and appendices containing more detailed supporting technical information and data.

- Chapter 1 provides background information on the Policy, its general applicability, and the target resources that are being protected.
- Chapter 2 identifies general features of protectiveness relative to instream flow needs of anadromous salmonids. Important habitat and biological needs potentially affected by the Policy are identified, and their dependence on various instream flow attributes discussed. Important flow requirements are summarized and protective metrics are identified for assessing each habitat need.
- Chapter 3 describes the four potential elements of the Policy for which protective alternatives were developed.

Three policy elements place restrictions on the timing and amount of flow diverted:

 <u>Diversion Season</u> – The period during which new diversions could be permitted without adversely affecting anadromous salmonids and their habitat.

- <u>Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF)</u> The minimum instream flow rate that is protective of anadromous salmonid spawning and passage. It is the flow rate of water that must be moving past the point of diversion before water may be diverted under a permit.
- <u>Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD)</u> –The maximum amount of water, either by flow rate or volume, that may be withdrawn from a watershed by multiple diverters before new diversions begin to negatively impact the natural instream flow variability needed for maintaining adequate channel structure that protects anadromous salmonid habitat.

The last policy element places restrictions on instream barriers:

- <u>Permitting of On-Stream Dams</u> Measures recommended for protection of instream flows and anadromous salmonid habitat in situations where existing unauthorized dams occur or new on-stream dams are proposed.
- Chapter 4 describes the data collection and analytical approach used to evaluate the protectiveness of the three Policy elements restricting flow.

The next four chapters describe the protectiveness of each of the four elements and include:

- Chapter 5, which describes the Policy element alternative criteria restricting diversion season, and evaluates their protectiveness.
- Chapter 6, which describes the Policy element alternative criteria restricting minimum bypass flow, and evaluates their protectiveness.
- Chapter 7, which describes the Policy element alternative criteria restricting maximum cumulative diversion rates, and evaluates their protectiveness.
- Chapter 8, which describes the Policy element alternative criteria related to the permitting of on-stream dams, and evaluates their protectiveness.

The last two chapters present further issues for protectiveness related to implementation of the Policy:

• Chapter 9 describes general fish passage and screening protection needs at diversion and dam facilities.

• Chapter 10 presents attributes and recommendations for an effectiveness monitoring program designed to assess the protectiveness of the Policy. The data gathered in the effectiveness monitoring program could be used to provide the supporting basis for future revisions to the Policy.

The information and results detailed in these chapters are summarized below. The information in this report will ultimately be integrated into the SED, where the various Policy elements will be evaluated for effects on non-target aquatic resources and other environmental resources.

Definition of Protectiveness

Because anadromous salmonid species listed under the federal and California Endangered Species Acts (ESA) inhabit the Policy area, the protectiveness of the Policy elements should be conservative (i.e., risk averse) and have broad applicability over the range of streams and channels directly or indirectly used by these species. At the same time, the Policy needs to be relatively simple to understand and apply. Attributes of instream flow and diversions that are associated with protectiveness for anadromous salmonids and that were considered in this evaluation include:

- Having flows that support important biological functions (e.g., spawning) available during the seasons they are needed.
- Providing a minimum bypass flow (below diversions) that creates suitable upstream passage, spawning, incubation, emergence, and rearing conditions.
- Allowing within- and across-year, natural flow variability to maintain suitable channel morphology, riparian habitat, and upstream/downstream passage conditions.
- Maintaining connectivity of habitats, by providing unobstructed upstream and downstream passage at dams and diversions.
- Providing protective screens to prevent loss of fish into diversion canals.
- Limiting the amount of water that can be cumulatively withdrawn from a system (both above and within the range of anadromous salmonids) to avoid or minimize impacts to downstream habitats.
- Maintaining the natural upstream to downstream transport of energy and materials (e.g., sediment, wood, food) that are important for the sustainability of anadromous salmonids and their habitats.

Methods for Analyzing the Protectiveness of Policy Element Alternative Criteria

Policy element alternative criteria were assessed for protectiveness by identifying their effects on important anadromous salmonid habitat components, including: upstream passage, spawning and incubation, juvenile winter rearing, smolt outmigration, channel and riparian maintenance, and estuarine habitat and connectivity to the Pacific Ocean. A particular flow-related alternative was considered protective if its effects on habitat components were either undetectable, meaning it caused no effect relative to unimpaired flow conditions; or minimal, meaning it would cause non-biologically significant effects relative to unimpaired flow conditions. Because the elements related to instream barriers were all directed toward protecting anadromous salmonids, the assessment of these elements was focused on the sufficiency of their protection of salmonids and their habitat.

In addition to reviewing existing literature and data related to the flow needs of anadromous salmonids and their habitat, physical and hydraulic cross-sectional data were collected from 13 streams within the Policy area in late summer of 2006. These data were used to specifically assess the effects of the flow-related elements on anadromous salmonid upstream passage and spawning habitat availability, as these two fishery attributes could be most directly related to the effects of diversion using numerical habitat-flow criteria. Impaired flow time series (i.e., with diversion) were compared with estimated unimpaired flow conditions (i.e., without diversion). This provided an estimate of the extent to which each flow-related element could affect primarily anadromous salmonid passage and spawning habitat availability, but also other habitat needs as well.

Overview of Policy Element Alternative Criteria

As described above, the proposed Policy consists of four elements intended to protect fishery resources, specifically targeting anadromous salmonids. Alternatives proposed for the three Policy elements restricting flow diversions (diversion season, minimum bypass flow, and maximum cumulative diversion) are summarized in Table 1. Alternatives proposed for the element restricting instream barriers are summarized in Table 2. Tables 3, 4, 5, and 6 summarize the relative protectiveness of each of the alternatives on a policy element-specific basis.

Diversion Season (DS)	Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF)	Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD)
DS1.	MBF1.	MCD1.
12/15 – 3/31	February median daily flow	MCD Rate = 15% of 20% Winter (12/15-3/31) exceedance
D\$2.	MBF2.	flow
Year Round	10% Exceedance Flow	MCD2.
DS3.	MBF3.	MCD Rate = 5% of 1.5 yr flood peak flow
10/1 – 3/31	<u>Drainage Area (DA) < 290 mi²:</u>	MCD3.
	$Q_{\rm MBF} = 8.7 \ Q_{\rm m} (\rm DA)^{-0.47}$	MCD Volume = 10% estimated unimpaired flow (no restriction on diversion rate)
	<u>Drainage Area > 290 mi²</u> :	MCD4.
	$Q_{MBF} = 0.6 Q_m$	MCD Rate = diversion rate which results in a maximum
	Q _m = unimpaired mean annual flow (cfs);	reduction of the time flow is above the MBF to $\frac{1}{2}$ day during
	For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upper limit of anadromy	a 1.5 yr flood event
	MBF4.	
	<u>Drainage Area < 0.11 mi²:</u>	
	$Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$	
	Drainage Area = 0.11-500 mi ² :	
	$Q_{MBF} = 5.1 Q_m (DA)^{-0.71}$	
	<u>Drainage Area ≥ 500 mi²:</u>	
	Q _{MBF} = 0.06 Q _m	
	For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upper limit of anadromy	

 Table 1.
 Policy Element Alternatives Proposed to Restrict Diversions.

Table 2. Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Instream Barriers.

Stream Class	Permitting of On-stream Dams (DP)
Class I	DP1.1
	On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.
	DP1.2
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:
	1. Fish passage and screening is provided;
	2. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	3. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	4. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated
Class II	DP2.1
	On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.
	DP2.2
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.

Table 2. Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Instream Barrie

Class II (cont)	DP2.3
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.
Class III	DP3.1
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. The on-stream dam will not dewater a Class II stream; and
	2. The on-stream dam will cause less than 10% cumulative instantaneous flow impairment at locations where fish are seasonally present.
	DP3.2
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; and
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented.
	DP3.3
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam.

Diversion Season

A summary of the regional protectiveness of the diversion season Policy element alternative criteria is presented in Table 3. The protectiveness analysis indicated that water temperatures may become critical before October 1 and after March 31 and could be adversely affected by new diversions. Maintaining protective minimum bypass flow and maximum cumulative diversion criteria would preclude any adverse effects of flow diversion to anadromous salmonid habitat between October 1 and December 15.

Policy Element: Diversion Season			
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis	
DS1: 12/15 – 3/31	Yes	Start date is protective of water temperatures that are suitable for summer habitat and fall upstream migration. End date avoids adverse water temperature effects on steelhead incubation and smolt outmigration.	
DS2: Year Round	No	New diversions cannot be permitted during the late spring, summer, and early fall because instream flows during these periods generally limit anadromous salmonid rearing habitat quantity and quality in the Policy area.	
DS3: 10/1 – 3/31	Yes	Start date is protective of water temperatures that are suitable for summer habitat and fall upstream migration. End date avoids adverse water temperature effects on steelhead incubation and smolt outmigration.	
Biological Recommendation:	Apply Alternativ	ve DS3	

Table 3.	Summary of Protectiveness of Diversion Season (DS) Alternatives.
----------	--

Minimum Bypass Flow

A summary of the regional protectiveness of the minimum bypass flow (MBF) Policy element alternative criteria is presented in Table 4. The protectiveness analysis indicated that the MBF provides the first level of protection for upstream passage and spawning habitat during the diversion season, whereas the maximum cumulative diversion rate provides a second order (i.e., lower) level of protection. Two of the four alternative criteria were previously identified: DFG-NMFS (2002; MBF1) and MTTU (2000; MBF2). The other two alternative criteria, MBF3 and MBF4, were developed based on a review of regional data describing upstream passage and spawning habitat-flow needs, and were considered to define upper and lower bounds of instream flow needs, respectively.

Policy Element: Minimum Bypass Flow			
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis	
MBF1:	Partially	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow	
February Median Daily Flow		needs in streams draining more than about 5 mi ² . Under- protective in smaller streams.	
MBF2:	Partially	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow	
10% Exceedance Flow		needs in streams draining more than about 4 mi ² . Under- protective in smaller streams.	
MBF3:	Yes	Generally protective of upstream passage and spawning	
Drainage Area (DA ¹) < 290 mi ² :		habitat flow needs across a wide variety of stream sizes in the region. Protects winter rearing habitat as well. Does	
$Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_{m} (DA)^{-0.47}$		not affect outmigration, channel and riparian maintenance, and estuarine habitat flow needs.	
Drainage Area > 290 mi ² :			
$Q_{\text{MBF}} = 0.6 \ Q_{\text{m}}$			
Q _m = unimpaired mean annual flow (cfs); For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy			
MBF4:	No	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow	
<u>Drainage Area < 0.11 mi²:</u>		needs in some streams, but a majority of streams in the region are under-protected with respect to upstream	
$Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_{m} (DA)^{-0.47}$		passage and spawning habitat flow needs for steelhead and coho. Appears to under-protect Chinook upstream	
<u>Drainage Area = 0.11-500 mi²:</u>		passage and spawning habitat flow needs in nearly all streams. In all cases, the MBF is sufficiently low that	
$Q_{\text{MBF}} = 5.1 \ Q_{\text{m}} (\text{DA})^{-0.71}$		adverse effects could occur to upstream passage and spawning opportunities even with small diversion rates.	
<u>Drainage Area ≥ 500 mi²:</u>			
Q _{MBF} = 0.06 Q _m			
For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy			
Biological Recommendation:	Apply Altern	ative MBF3	

Table 4. Summary of Protectiveness of Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) Alternatives.

¹ Drainage area (DA) is evaluated in square miles.

Maximum Cumulative Diversion Rate

A summary of the regional protectiveness of the maximum cumulative diversion (MCD) Policy element alternative criteria is presented in Table 5. The analysis of protectiveness suggested that the MCD element has the greatest effect on channel and riparian maintenance conditions. The analysis indicated, however, that there is no clear guidance for specifying a protective flow threshold level of MCD with respect to avoiding changes to channel morphology that would adversely impact salmonid habitat. The change in channel morphologic response was predicted to occur roughly proportionally to the change in the bankfull flow rate resulting from the MCD (approximated by the change in the 1.5 year peak flow event). However, the level of change in channel morphologic response that would adversely affect salmonid habitat and production potential could not be determined with certainty. Therefore, in the absence of a clearly defined protective flow threshold level for channel and riparian maintenance, no additional alternative MCD criteria were developed. Instead, the MCD criteria proposed by DFG-NMFS (2002) and MTTU (2000) were assessed for protectiveness. Assessment of protectiveness was based on the relative changes to channel morphology and effects on upstream passage and spawning habitat.

Restrictions on Permitting of On-Stream Dams

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines recommended against permitting on-stream dams on streams that are classified as Class I or II pursuant to the California Department of Forestry (CDF) stream classification system. In general, the analysis completed as part of this study indicated that on-stream dams are not protective of anadromous salmonids unless they are constructed in such a way that they do not: (1) impede upstream or downstream passage where appropriate, (2) interrupt the downstream transport of bedload or larger pieces of wood during high flows, (3) provide habitat for non-native, exotic aquatic species that compete with or prey on juvenile salmonids, and (4) cause increased water temperatures downstream. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and selected variations thereof were considered for their protectiveness (Table 6).

Fish Passage and Protection Measures

The analysis of protectiveness concurred with general conclusions of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines regarding the importance and protectiveness of requiring fish passage and screening requirements as part of diversions.

	Policy Element:	Maximum Cumulative Diversion		
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis		
MCD1 (Rate):	Yes	Generally allows the lowest instantaneous rate of diversion. Likely results in negligible channel change over the long term.		
MCD Rate = 15% of 20% Winter (12/15-3/31) Exceedance Flow				
MCD2 (Rate):	Yes	Allows a higher instantaneous rate of cumulative diversion than		
MCD Rate = 5% of 1.5 yr flood peak flow (annualized series)		MCD1 and MCD4. This alternative will likely result in long term adjustment and reduction in channel size, but the potential change is thought to be minor in terms of bankfull width, depth, and surface grain size distribution. Basing a MCD rate on the 1.5 year flood peak flow rate more directly accounts for the relation between channel size and instream flow need.		
MCD3 (Volume):	Partially	May not be protective of coho and Chinook upstream passage		
MCD Volume = No restriction on diversion rate, stop diversion after the ratio of total cumulative diverted volume to unimpaired runoff volume = 10%		and spawning habitat flow needs during the first month of the diversion season (for DS1 or DS3) in dry and average years. May not be protective of channel maintenance flow needs. Protectiveness is related more defensibly to flow rate rather th volume.		
MCD4 (Rate):	Yes, but	Provides a comparable level of instantaneous diversion rate to		
MCD Rate = Diversion rate that corresponds to a half-day reduction in the duration of time that flow is above the MBF during a 1.5 year flood event	impractical to apply	MCD1 (15% of 20% winter exceedance flow). Likely results in negligible channel change over the long term. Impractical because its implementation requires detailed hourly hydrograph information for each stream.		
Biological Recommendation:	Apply Alternative MCD2.			
	There is uncertainty in defining the maximum amount of change in channel maintenance flows that could occur that would still be protective of anadromous salmonid habitat. Regardless of which MCD alternative is chosen for the Policy, effectiveness monitoring data collected over a period of 10 to 20 years would be needed to assess whether the Policy could be reopened in the future to include a less restrictive MCD that would still be protective of channel maintenance flows while offering the opportunity for higher diversion rates.			

Table 5. Summary of Protectiveness of Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD) Alternatives.

Table 6. Summary of Protectiveness of the On-Stream Dam Permitting Restrictions (DP) Alternatives.

Class Alternative Protective? Basis Class I DP1.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. Yes DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines DP1.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit provided for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built provided; Partially – dependent on success of mitigation measures met: Although this alternative allows come existing on-stream dams on success of mitigation measures met. 1. Fish passage and screening is provided; Partially – dependent on bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; Although this alternative allows come existing on-stream dams on bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Class I DP2.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines Class I On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dams built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: Yes A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; Yes Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams or bypass system is provided	01		Policy Element: Restriction of		
 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP1.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built provided; A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass the minimum instream flow regift permits. A pressive bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. Chass I break and that was built provided to bypass system is provided to mitigated. A pravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is provided to bypass system is provided to mitigated. DP2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan is implemented; and A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be 	Stream Class		Alternative		Basis
right permits. DP1.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 77/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. Fish passage and screening is provided; 2. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. DF2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DF2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DF2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DF2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DF2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; 2. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed right permits. DF2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is inplemented; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan is implemented; 4. A gravel and wood augmentation plan is implemented; 5. An exotic species eradication plan or o bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be	Class I	DP	1.1		
New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit, may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: Partially – dependent on success of mitigation measures impact anadromous salmonids and prot anad/or restore important ecosyst functions to those streams. 1. Fish passage and screening is provided; Atthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams or bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; Atthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams or bypass system is implemented; and 3. An exotic species eradication plan or bypass system is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Yes Class II DP2.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. Yes Atthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams coreceive water right permits. 1. A passive bypass system is inpolemented; Yes DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines role of the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; Yes Atthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams coreceive water right permits. 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A naxotic species eradication plan is implemented; and Yes 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; an			-	Yes	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines
 water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. Fish passage and screening is provided; 2. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 3. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 4. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. Yes Ves Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams on class I l streams to receive water right permits. DP2.1 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; and A passive bypass system is provided to bypass system is provided to bypass system is implemented; A nexotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		DP	1.2		
 In this passage and screening is provided; A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. Class II DP2.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		wa ma una prio	ter right permits. A water right permit y be considered for an existing, authorized on-stream dam that was built or to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are	dependent on success of mitigation	some existing on-stream dams on Class I streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria to mitigate existing adverse impacts to anadromous salmonids and protect and/or restore important ecosystem
bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 3. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 4. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. Class II DP2.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued Yes water right permits. A water right permit prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be		1.			
 implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. DP2.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		2.	bypass the minimum instream flow		
 or bypass system is implemented; and 5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated. Class II DP2.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued Yes water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		3.			
mitigated. Class II DP2.1 On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. Yes DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: Yes Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams of Class II streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria design to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions to those streams and still afford a h level of protectiveness. 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; hevel of protectiveness. 2. An exotic species eradication plan or bypass system is implemented; and hevel 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and hevel		4.			
On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.YesDFG-NMFS (2002) GuidelinesDP2.2New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:YesAlthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams on Class II streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria design to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions to those streams and still afford a h level of protectiveness.1.A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;YesAlthough this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams or Class II streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria design to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions to those streams and still afford a h level of protectiveness.2.An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and4.Disturbed riparian habitat will be		5.			
right permits. DP2.2 New on-stream dams may not be issued Yes Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams or Class II streams to receive water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be	Class II	DP	2.1		
 New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be 				Yes	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines
 water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met: 1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; 2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		DP	2.2		
 A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements; An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are		Yes	some existing on-stream dams of Class II streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria design to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions to
 implemented; 3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be 		1.	bypass the minimum instream flow		
or bypass system is implemented; and 4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be		2.			
		3.			
5		4.	Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.		

Table 6.	Summary of Protectiveness of the On-Stream Dam Permitting Restrictions (DP)
	Alternatives.

Class II	DP	2.3		
(cont)		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam if the following criteria are t:	Partially	Multiple on-stream dams on Class II streams have potential to cause adverse cumulative effects on downstream spawning and rearing habitat quantity and quality in Class streams.
	1.	A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		
	2.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;		
	3.	A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and		
	4.	Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.		
Class III	DP	3.1		
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam if the following criteria are t:	Partially	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines Protectiveness could be increased via inclusion of additional fish
	1.	The on-stream dam will not dewater a Class II stream; and		protection measures as provided in DP 3.2.
	2.	The on-stream dam will cause less than 10% cumulative instantaneous flow impairment at locations where fish are seasonally present.		
	DP	3.2		
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam if the following criteria are t:	Yes	This alternative contains criteria tha must be met before on-stream dams would be allowed on Class III
	1.	A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		streams. The criteria are designed to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions, and provide an additional level of protectiveness not
	2.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; and		provided by the DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines.
	 A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented. 			
	DP	3.3		
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam.	Partially	With no restrictions imposed, cases would likely occur where protectiveness would not be assured. Multiple on-stream dams built without restrictions on Class III streams are likely to cause adverse cumulative effects on downstream spawning and rearing habitat quantity and quality in Class I and II streams.
Biologica	l Re	commendation:	Apply DP1.1, D	P2.2 and DP3.2

Site-Specific Studies

Site-specific studies provide the most detailed and accurate information regarding instream flow needs for a particular stream. Such studies can be conducted by applicants seeking to adjust/reduce specific restrictions of diversion that are imposed by various Policy elements. Site-specific studies should be designed in consultation with and approved by applicable state and federal resource agencies including the California Department of Fish and Game, and the National Marine Fisheries Service. The results of such studies could then be evaluated by respective resource agencies to determine whether and to what extent adjustments could be made to the Policy elements in question.

Effectiveness Monitoring Recommendations

The protectiveness analyses suggested certain levels or attributes of each Policy element that are protective of anadromous salmonids and their habitat. Once the Policy is implemented, the next step would be to initiate a monitoring program to evaluate the effectiveness of the Policy for protecting anadromous salmonids. The effectiveness monitoring program described in this report is designed to assess the effectiveness of the Policy elements that are aimed at maintaining minimum bypass flows, protecting natural flow variability, and avoiding cumulative impacts. Nine steps are recommended and described for establishment of the effectiveness monitoring program, and a study design outline is provided as a guide to the approximate level of effort that may be required for its implementation. The final design of the effectiveness monitoring program will reflect technical input from a Monitoring Oversight Committee and the availability of funds.

This page intentionally left blank.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) is responsible for administering water rights in the State of California. The State Water Board's mission is to preserve, enhance and restore the quality of the State's waters, and ensure their proper allocation and efficient use for present and future generations. In administering the water right process, the State Water Board's Division of Water Rights (Division) must consider the effects of its actions on the public trust, the public interest, and the environment, including adverse impacts on threatened and endangered species (SWRCB 2005).

Assembly Bill 2121 (Stats. 2004, ch. 943, §1-3) added sections 1259.2 and 1259.4 to the California Water Code. Water Code section 1259.4 (as amended in July 2005) requires the State Water Board to adopt by January 1, 2008, a policy for maintaining instream flows in coastal streams from the Mattole River to San Francisco, and in coastal streams entering northern San Pablo Bay. The policy, termed the North Coast Instream Flow Policy, (hereinafter "Policy") will be prepared and adopted in accordance with state policy for water quality control for the purposes of water right administration.

The State Water Board consequently contracted in May 2006 with a team led by Stetson Engineers (Stetson), and including R2 Resource Consultants (R2) to help develop the Policy and supporting technical and environmental documents. The Stetson Team is in the process of assisting the State Water Board in preparing the Policy, in accordance with Water Code section 1259.4. The State Policy for Water Quality Control requires preparation of a Substitute Environmental Document (SED) that analyzes the potential significant adverse environmental impacts, including cumulative impacts, of the Policy. The SED replaces an Environmental Impact Report (EIR), pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21080.5. The SED must include, at a minimum, a Policy description, Policy alternatives, and mitigation measures to avoid or reduce the Policy's effects on the environment (SWRCB 2005).

In developing the Policy, Water Code section 1259.4 authorizes the State Water Board to consider the draft "Guidelines for Maintaining Instream Flows to Protect Fisheries Resources Downstream of Water Diversions in Mid-California Coastal Streams," which were developed by the California Department of Fish and Game (DFG) and National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) in 2002, referred to from here forward as the "DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines." The DFG and NMFS recommended that permitting agencies (including the State Water Board), planning agencies, and water resource development interests use the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines when evaluating proposals to divert and use water from northern California coastal streams. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines were specifically developed pursuant to

respective agency mandates and missions to protect and restore endangered and threatened anadromous salmonids and their habitats (DFG-NMFS 2002). The Division currently considers the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines when evaluating water right applications, but they have not been adopted as formal State Water Board policy (SWRCB 2005).

As part of the overall Policy review process, the Division requested that Stetson and R2 evaluate the technical basis and rationale behind the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and assess its overall protectiveness to anadromous salmonids (i.e., steelhead trout [*Oncorhynchus mykiss*], coho salmon [*O. kisutch*], and Chinook salmon [*O. tshawytscha*]), which are the target aquatic resources for which the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines were developed. In addition, the State Water Board requested that Stetson-R2 evaluate the technical basis and level of resource protectiveness provided by other alternative criteria, and document the science forming the basis. The evaluation included identification and analysis of possible alternative criteria and/or refinements to the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines that might afford a broader, regional level of protectiveness and restoration potential to the target resources in more streams, in terms of biologically desirable instream flows and permissible diversion rates. Alternative criteria were developed based on comments received during the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) scoping process and from earlier reviews of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines.

Given the focus by DFG and NMFS on anadromous salmonids as the target resource based on requirements of the Endangered Species Act (ESA), the emphasis of this report is on the technical evaluation of the levels of protectiveness offered these species by various Policy elements alternatives. The elements, described in Section 1.4, provide a clearly defined framework for evaluating the benefits of implementing the Policy on anadromous salmonids. Use of the elements as a framework for evaluation is consistent with the history of the development of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines, which is summarized in Appendix A.

This report is organized as follows:

- Chapter 1 provides important background information on the Policy purpose and applicability.
- Chapter 2 summarizes the important flow needs for anadromous salmonids and their habitat, and identifies specific quantitative criteria or other indirect measures used in assessing protectiveness.
- Chapter 3 identifies specific elements of the Policy, alternative criteria considered for each element, and how they were formulated.

- Chapter 4 describes the analytic methods and results of the evaluation of protectiveness of Policy elements restricting flow diversion.
- Chapter 5 discusses the protectiveness of alternative criteria identified for the Policy diversion season element.
- Chapter 6 discusses the protectiveness of alternative criteria identified for the Policy minimum bypass flow element.
- Chapter 7 discusses the protectiveness of alternative criteria identified for the Policy maximum cumulative diversion element.
- Chapter 8 discusses the protectiveness of alternatives identified for the Policy on-stream dam permitting element.
- Chapter 9 discusses the protectiveness of providing for fish passage and screening.
- Chapter 10 describes an effectiveness monitoring program designed to assess the protectiveness of the Policy.
- Chapter 11 is the list of references used in the report and appendices.
- Eleven appendices describe technical details and supporting references relied on in the main report.

The information in this report will ultimately be integrated into the SED, where the various Policy elements will be evaluated for effects on other non-target aquatic resources.

1.2 SPATIAL APPLICABILITY OF THE POLICY

The Policy area encompasses coastal and inland channels located in Marin, Sonoma, and portions of Napa, Mendocino, and Humboldt counties (Figure 1-1). The Mattole River constitutes the northern-most coastal basin under consideration, and the Napa River the eastern-most basin draining into San Pablo Bay. Major coastal salmon and steelhead stream basins from north to south include the Mattole, Ten Mile, Noyo, Big, Navarro, Garcia, Gualala, Russian, Walker, and Lagunitas drainages. Major salmon and steelhead stream basins draining to San Pablo Bay include Sonoma Creek and the Napa River. There are also numerous smaller basins draining directly into the Pacific Ocean and San Pablo Bay that either currently or historically supported anadromous salmonids. Policy area streams range widely in size as well as geologic, geomorphic, hydraulic, hydrologic, and biologic characteristics. Such characteristics manifest themselves in streams that differ in channel size, channel slope, valley



Figure 1-1. Policy area, pursuant to Water Code §1259.4, as required by Assembly Bill 2121.

confinement, channel incision, topographic relief, soil type, hillslope and riparian vegetation, annual precipitation, and other abiotic and biotic features. As such, they present a variety of channel conditions that may be utilized by anadromous salmonids over a range of temporal and spatial scales that render coincident flow responses highly variable. Specific physical features of the Policy area influencing stream flow and fish habitat are described in greater detail in Appendix B.

The Policy likely will set restrictions on diversions in the Policy area that are conservatively protective for anadromous salmonids and their habitat. These restrictions may be superseded on a case-by-case basis if a site-specific study can demonstrate, for example, that higher water usage or a watershed-based approach used to coordinate usage amongst diverters to maximize water usage would still be protective of anadromous salmonids and their habitat.

There is no distinction made in the analysis of the protectiveness of the Policy concerning the value of different streams containing historical habitat for anadromous salmonids. The NMFS follows a similar principle when establishing critical habitat ranges. Critical habitat is defined under Section 3 of the ESA as (1) specific areas within the geographical area occupied by the species at the time of listing, on which are found those physical or biological features that are essential to the conservation of the listed species and that may require special management considerations or protection, and (2) specific areas outside the geographical area occupied by the species at the time of listing that are essential for the conservation of a listed species (70 FR 52488). Establishing equal importance to critical habitat in different streams recognizes (1) the species' use of diverse habitats and underscores the need to account for all of the habitat types supporting the species' freshwater and estuarine life stages, from small headwater streams to migration corridors and estuarine rearing areas, and (2) the importance of natural variability in habitat use (e.g., some streams may have fish present only in years with abundant rainfall, whereas other streams may have better spawning habitat conditions during dry years) (65 FR 7764). Federal regulations further provide that unoccupied areas be designated when the present range would be inadequate to ensure the conservation of the species (50 CFR 424.12(e)). Similar fundamental principles apply to permitting of water right applications in a protective manner under the Policy. In view of the multitude of impacts to anadromous salmonids listed under the ESA and the degraded condition of populations that warrant listing, as broad an area should be protected as possible (as logically conditioned by historical range limits) to buffer against or offset temporary reductions in stock size that may occur locally. This need in part reflects uncertainty in the precise amount of habitat needed to sustain anadromous salmonid species in the Policy area, and uncertainty in the complex relations between minimum viable population size, habitat conditions and carrying capacity, and instream flows (e.g., Castleberry et al. 1996; IFC 2002). It also reflects the need to maintain diversity of habitat and flows for sustaining healthy aquatic ecosystems (Poff et al. 1997).

1.2.1 Applicability Upstream of Passage Barriers

Questions were raised during the CEQA scoping process regarding whether restrictions on diversion and on-stream dams need to be applied to streams above existing upstream passage barriers caused by human actions. For example, comments dated September 15, 2006, by Wagner & Bonsignore Consulting Civil Engineers, James C. Hanson Consulting Civil Engineer, and the law firm Ellison, Schneider & Harris L.L.P. (Consulting Engineers), included a recommendation to limit restrictions on diversions to streams only where anadromous fish and habitat are currently sustainable.

There are numerous artificial barriers that have influenced historical distribution. Figure 1-2 depicts potential structural barriers identified by CalFish in their Passage Assessment Database [http://www.calfish.org]. These potential barriers include points of diversions which are usually assigned an unknown barrier status. Lifting Policy limitations above structural barriers would not be protective of the anadromous salmonid resource if the possibility exists that historically accessible habitat will be re-opened by correction of passage barriers. This has proven to be an effective, high-return method for restoring anadromous salmonid populations elsewhere (e.g., Roni et al. 2002).

Efforts have been made, and will likely continue, to inventory and characterize passage barriers throughout the Policy area, with the eventual goal of restoring runs upstream. For example, fish passage barrier surveys conducted by the Sonoma Ecology Center (SEC) in the Sonoma Creek watershed identified over 100 potential man-made barriers, including 23 full barriers and 48 partial (flow-dependent) obstacles to passage. Habitat was estimated to have been lost in approximately 170 miles of stream length due to barriers, amounting to approximately 25% of stream length in the freshwater portion of the Sonoma Creek watershed. It was hypothesized that the potential maximum fish population supported by available habitat may be reduced to a similar degree (SEC et al. 2004). Elsewhere, Taylor et al. (2003) visited 545 stream crossing sites and surveyed 183 of them for their potential as passage barriers in the Russian River watershed. They created a ranked list of 125 crossings for use by DFG in prioritizing the order in which specific barriers should be corrected. RTA (2003) similarly visited and assessed passage conditions at 90 sites in Marin County.

In summary, current trends in fisheries management within the Policy area are to identify and correct passage barriers caused by human actions. Once barrier problems are corrected, it is likely that efforts will be undertaken to subsequently improve habitat conditions above the former barrier location (e.g., DFG 1996; Flosi et al. 1998; DFG 2002; Roni et al. 2002; DFG 2004). Hence, the Policy should also apply above existing barriers to stream reaches potentially supporting anadromous salmonids, or that influence flow and habitat in such downstream reaches, in anticipation of restored runs in the future.


Figure 1-2. Potential fish passage barriers identified in CALFISH for the Policy Area.

1.2.2 Applicability to Ephemeral Streams

A similar question was raised in the scoping comments regarding the protection of winter flows in ephemeral streams. Studies have shown that even relatively small, ephemeral streams (i.e., streams that flow seasonally or in response to storm events, but that typically become dewatered or dry during a portion of the year) have been used for spawning and rearing by anadromous salmonids. In these instances, adult fish move into and spawn within the streams when they contain flow, and assuming flows remain sufficient throughout egg incubation and fry emergence, then, as flows recede, newly emerged fry move downstream to larger systems where flow conditions are more suitable for rearing. For example, steelhead trout are capable of spawning in tributaries in the Policy area that dry up in summer, where fry emigrate downstream soon after hatching (Moyle 2002). Juveniles may also move up into tributaries to overwinter and then emigrate in the spring before the stream dries up. Coho salmon juveniles for example have been observed to use ephemeral tributaries for over-winter rearing (e.g., Ebersole et al. 2006). For these reasons, and because of potential cumulative effects of upstream diversion on downstream flows and gravels, ephemeral streams also require flow protection.

1.2.3 Stream Classification for Defining Spatial Applicability of Policy Elements

The spatial applicability of specific Policy elements will depend in part on the type of stream channel potentially affected by granting an application for water right. There are correspondingly two important implementation issues for the Policy related to the type of stream concerned: (1) Which streams the Policy should be applied to in order to be protective toward anadromous salmonids, and (2) whether different stream types (or classes) require different levels of protection depending on location in the channel network and biological characteristics. These types of issues have been and can be addressed by the use of a stream classification system. Such a system can be identified here for purposes of implementing the Policy and protecting anadromous salmonids. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines referenced an existing system developed by the California Department of Forestry (CDF; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, section 916.5, Table 1) which defines three stream type classes. Appendix D includes a review of issues related to stream classification in the context of setting protective instream flow standards, in which it was concluded that the CDF classification system can be used with the addition of clarifying language including distinguishing between anadromous and nonanadromous fish species. The corresponding stream classification definitions given in Section 916.5, Table 1 are as follows:

 Class I – Fish always or seasonally present onsite, includes habitat to sustain fish migration and spawning;

- Class II Fish always or seasonally present offsite within 1,000 feet downstream and/or aquatic habitat for non-fish aquatic species; excludes Class III waters that are tributary to Class I waters;
- Class III No aquatic life present, water course showing evidence of being capable of sediment transport downstream to Class I or Class II waters under normal high water flow conditions.

1.3 ANADROMOUS SALMONID SPECIES OF CONCERN

There are three anadromous species of concern found in the Policy area: steelhead trout, coho salmon, and Chinook salmon. Of these, steelhead trout have the broadest, and Chinook salmon the narrowest historical distribution. Current distributions are much reduced over historical extents because of habitat degradation, habitat loss, and other factors caused by human settlement and development. For purposes of the Policy, it was assumed that historically available habitat could become useable again through appropriate habitat restoration, and implementation of improved land and water management practices. It is because of the currently low population numbers that NMFS and DFG have listed various Evolutionarily Significant Units (ESUs) of each species as threatened, endangered, and/or species of concern within the Policy area, as defined under the federal Endangered Species Act (ESA), and/or the California Endangered Species Act (CESA). Critical habitat designations by NMFS indicate the likely range that could support salmonid populations. Actions adversely affecting critical habitat cause "take" as defined under the ESA.

The important general features of the three species' life histories and distributions that may be affected by implementation of the Policy are summarized in Appendix C.

This page intentionally left blank.

2. PROTECTING ANADROMOUS SALMONID HABITAT FLOW NEEDS

The State Water Board has continuing authority to protect public trust uses and to prevent the waste, unreasonable use, unreasonable method of use, or unreasonable method of diversion of water in the state, regardless of basis of right. Accordingly, the State Water Board must carefully consider and decide on the appropriate level of resource protectiveness that must be achieved (to meet its public trust responsibilities) via Policy adoption and implementation. In the case of anadromous salmonids, this is a difficult proposition and requires an understanding of important life history functions and flow dependence. A review of the literature on this is provided in Appendix D which includes an overview of the issues and problems related to defining and quantifying protective instream flow levels. Specific flow-related criteria are reviewed and selected for analysis in Appendix G. This chapter summarizes instream flow requirements and criteria of anadromous salmonids for each important life history stage potentially influenced by winter diversions under the Policy. It has previously been shown that new diversions cannot be permitted during the late spring, summer, and early fall because instream flows during this period are generally limiting anadromous salmonid rearing habitat quantity and quality in the Policy area (e.g., SEC et al. 2004).

2.1 UPSTREAM PASSAGE FLOW NEEDS

Adult salmonids returning to streams to spawn must do so at the proper time and with sufficient energy to complete their life cycle (Bjornn and Reiser 1991). Delays in migration may impact at least a portion of the spawning population and lead to reduced egg and fry production. Upstream migration appears generally to coincide with the decline in flow following a runoff event, and thus it is the occurrence of a flow pulse that appears to be most important, not necessarily its magnitude. Furthermore, the requisite magnitude of attraction flow to the mouth of a stream may be larger than the minimum passage flow, but its magnitude is uncertain (SWRCB 1995).

In general, the degree to which stream flow conditions may become problematic to upstream migrating adults relates directly to their migration period. Thus, stocks that migrate during the late fall and winter under high stream flow conditions (e.g., winter steelhead) would be less likely to encounter flow related impediments, than stocks that migrate in late summer or early fall, such as Chinook salmon. The approximate dates of upstream passage for anadromous salmonid species in the Policy area, coinciding with the proposed range of Policy diversion season element alternative criteria defining the winter diversion season, are (see Chapter 3 and Appendices C and G):

Steelhead:	11/1 – 3/31
Coho:	10/1 – 2/28
Chinook:	10/1 – 1/31

The level of flow necessary for upstream passage through shallow water constrictions depends on the ability of fish to negotiate specific water depths. This ability reflects predominantly body size, with larger bodied Chinook requiring deeper water than smaller bodied coho salmon. Criteria for critical depths needed for successful upstream passage are discussed in detail in Appendix G. Table 2-1 presents summary upstream passage criteria considered applicable to evaluating protectiveness of the Policy for the three anadromous species of concern.

Species	Minimum Passage Depth Criterion (ft)	
Steelhead	0.7	
Coho	0.6	
Chinook	0.9	

Table 2-1.Minimum Upstream Passage Depth Criteria for Analyzing the Protectiveness
of the Policy for Upstream Passage Needs (see Appendix G for sources).

In addition to riffle constrictions, physical barriers such as waterfalls, debris jams, and diversion structures can delay or prevent upstream migration of adults. Low stream flow can directly influence the passage conditions at potential barriers, but the flow needed for upstream passage is highly specific to site geometry, more so than riffle passage. It is generally not feasible to develop a regional policy protecting passage over such obstructions without collecting extensive data, and thus it must be assumed that a Policy protecting riffle passage at the regional scale will also protect upstream passage over select channel obstructions.

Other anadromous salmonid habitat needs influenced by instream flow include cover, water temperature, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity. These needs are discussed in Appendix D. They are generally assumed to be associated with secondary effects of flow diversion during the winter compared with flows needed for sufficient passage depth.

2.2 SPAWNING AND INCUBATION HABITAT FLOW NEEDS

Flow is an important influence on the reproductive capacity of anadromous salmonid populations. The conditions that exist during the period in which eggs are deposited in the gravels, embryos incubate and hatch, and fry subsequently emerge can be primary determinants of year-class-strength and the ultimate numbers of fish that may be recruited into the population. Spawning and egg incubation success is dependent on both the quantity and quality of spawning habitat, both of which are modified by the amount of stream flow.

Stream flow influences the amount of spawning habitat available within a stream by determining the extent to which spawning gravels are wetted with suitable combinations of water depth and

velocity. Embryos in redds constructed closer to the channel thalweg may under certain circumstances be more vulnerable to effects of scour and fine sediment deposition than embryos in redds constructed higher up on the cross-section. Large decreases in stream flow can result in redd dewatering. Low winter flows may also expose eggs to freezing temperatures. Adverse effects include reduced embryo growth and alevin size, accelerated or delayed hatching and emergence depending on temperature, and mortality.

Stream flow also plays an important role in providing and maintaining the quality of the spawning gravels. High flows mobilize and transport fine sediments from spawning gravels, which increased gravel permeability and facilitates transport of oxygen to, and metabolic wastes from the developing embryos.

In addition to incubation duration, the timing of spawning of salmon and trout in streams is also closely linked to water temperatures. In the streams within the mid-California coastal area, water temperatures are important determinants of when fish spawn, how long the eggs incubate (development is directly related to water temperature), and when fry emerge. Flow diversion can lead directly and indirectly to thermal alteration due to changes in flow and condition of the riparian zone. The approximate dates of peak spawning by anadromous salmonid species in the Policy area, coinciding with the proposed range of Policy diversion season element alternative criteria defining the winter diversion season, are (see Chapter 3 and Appendices C and G):

Steelhead:	12/1 – 3/31
Coho:	11/1 – 2/28
Chinook:	11/1 – 1/31

The level of flow necessary for spawning reflects the size of the fish and other factors that influence habitat selection including depth, velocity, and spatial distribution and quantity of suitably-sized spawning gravel. Depths and velocities must be suitable over areas with suitable gravel at the correct time. Depth is generally limiting only in terms of shallowness, whereas there are lower and upper limits to suitable velocities for spawning. The criteria vary with species. As for upstream passage, larger bodied Chinook require deeper water than smaller bodied coho salmon. Criteria for critical depths and velocities needed for successful spawning are discussed in detail in Appendix G. Table 2-2 presents summary depth and velocity criteria considered applicable to evaluating protectiveness of the Policy alternatives for the three anadromous species of concern.

Minimum Depth, Favorable Velocity, and Substrate Spawning Criteria for Table 2-2. Analyzing the Protectiveness of the Policy for Spawning Habitat Needs (see Appendix G for sources).

Species	Minimum Depth (ft)	Favorable Velocities (ft/s)	Useable Substrate D ₅₀ (mm)
Steelhead	0.8	1.0-3.0	12-46
Coho	0.8	1.0-2.6	5.4-35
Chinook	1.0	1.0-3.0	11-78

The general number of days for spawning and incubation in the Policy area are presented in Table 2-3. It can be seen in the table that embryos in redds constructed in late winter/early spring generally emerge sooner after fertilization than from redds constructed earlier in the winter. This is because of increasing water temperatures in the late winter/early spring. The data used to generate these criteria are discussed in Appendix G.

Residence Time from Initiation of Spawning to Emergence for Anadromous Salmonids in the Policy Area. The Total Duration Numbers were Used in the Analysis (see Appendix G for sources).						
Approximate Time to Emergence From Total Duration of Vulnerability to Fertilization (days) Dewatering (days)						
Species	Nov 1–Feb 28	Mar 1–April 30	Nov 1–Feb 28	Mar 1–April 30		
Steelhead	60	47	65	52		

62

70

80

95

Table 2-3. Summary of General Lengths of Incubation Time and Maximum Intragravel Posidanas Timo from Initiation of Snawning to Emorganas for Anadra

2.3 JUVENILE WINTER REARING HABITAT FLOW NEEDS

75

90

The habitats that constitute rearing areas are diverse and perhaps more complex than any other life history stage. For some stocks of salmon and trout, the upper drainages represent spawning and initial rearing areas, where fry and juveniles can grow in relatively protected areas that are generally free from large predators, and that contain excellent water quality characteristics. The conditions afforded to fry and juvenile anadromous salmonids in many instances establish the overall carrying capacity of the stream and therefore factor directly into defining numbers of returning adults. Stream flow is an important determinant of the capacity of a stream to support a certain number of juvenile salmonids, through the direct influence on the

Coho

Chinook

67

75

distribution and quantity of water depths and velocities utilized by fry and juvenile salmonids, particularly at lower base flows when physical living space becomes limiting.

Water depths used by rearing salmonids can be quite variable depending on the factors associated with such depths, e.g., substrates, cover, food, velocity, predator density. Newly hatched fry often utilize the extreme edge habitats of a stream where velocities are low and there are few predators. As salmonid juveniles grow they are capable of using deeper waters with limits of use generally related to some other interrelated parameter such as velocity. Shifts in velocity usage by fish have also been observed seasonally, presumably in response to increased water flows and decreases in water temperature. The shifts are generally from higher velocities in the summer feeding periods to lower velocities during the winter holding periods. During these periods, coho salmon have been observed moving into side channels, alcoves and beaver ponds containing large woody debris for cover and overwintering habitat. The availability of high flow can influence accessibility to such habitat.

High flows are also important for maintaining juvenile habitat quantity and quality, through channel maintenance and flushing flows. In addition to transporting sediments from pools and cobble areas used for rearing and over-wintering, and riffles serving as food production areas, high flows are necessary to create habitat-structure in the form of large wood and boulder deposits. High flows are also needed to inundate riparian and floodplain vegetation that serve to increase bank stability, provide shade and contribute allochthonous (out of stream) materials/nutrients to the stream.

Rearing habitat locations are more widely dispersed in a stream network than passage, and spawning habitat locations and instream flow needs for juvenile salmonids are correspondingly more difficult to quantify. Specific types of rearing habitats, such as side channels in larger rivers, tend to have the most specific flow requirements at which they become connected with the main channel and experience flow-through. Such habitat can be especially important in larger channels for all three species. However, this and other types of rearing habitat are also more difficult to analyze for suitable instream flows because of scale-related effects where fish size is much smaller than channel size, such that depth-averaged velocities may not be a reasonable approximation of what juveniles are selecting.

Experience with Physical Habitat Simulation (PHABSIM) and other flow assessment methods indicates that minimum instream flows for juvenile salmonids as defined by depth and velocity distributions tend to be lower than minimum instream flows for adults and spawning, irrespective of channel size (Vadas 2000; R2 2004). Hence, for this analysis, it was assumed that flows that meet spawning habitat criteria will also provide sufficient water to protect juvenile rearing habitats.

2.4 OUTMIGRATION FLOW NEEDS

There is evidence that salmon and steelhead smolts migrate downstream to the ocean in the spring in large numbers in response to a variety of factors including high flows. Some factors act through influencing the onset of smolting, and appear to include water temperature, lunar rhythms, photoperiodicity, and annual physiological rhythms. Some research results point to the potential importance of the timing and duration of short-term flow changes to stimulating downstream migration of juvenile salmonids. Elevated water temperatures in late spring, which may be exacerbated by low flows, can inhibit or reverse smoltification in late outmigrants, especially steelhead. This can lead to fish remaining in the stream an extra year, and increased mortality if summer low flows limit holding capacity and survival.

There is also evidence that Chinook salmon juvenile survival increases with flow variability in the spring and early summer outmigration period, as defined by the ratio of mean to median flow rate evaluated over the same period. In the Policy area, higher velocities commensurate with higher flows reduce the time it takes for anadromous species to reach the estuary, where increased growth rates can occur.

There are no specific criteria for defining a suitable flow regime to stimulate and/or facilitate downstream passage on a regional basis. Hence, protectiveness can be assessed by specifying the outmigration season and comparing its overlap with the diversion season. Information reviewed in Appendix C indicates that the primary dates of outmigration by anadromous salmonid species in the Policy area are from March through June. Juvenile Chinook begin outmigrating about a month earlier, reflecting their ocean type life history and earlier fall spawning dates. Outmigration behavior is also exhibited by steelhead juveniles in the November-February period, and may reflect searching for or redistribution across over-wintering habitat.

2.5 CHANNEL AND RIPARIAN MAINTENANCE FLOW NEEDS

It has been demonstrated that large flood events, which may impart short term impacts to a population, are key to the continuous renewal of high quality physical habitats and ecological functions that promote population viability and health. Channel and riparian conditions, and their influence on anadromous salmonid habitat quantity and quality, are strongly dependent on high flow variability. The overall weight of scientific evidence indicates that a range of flow levels, rather than just one, are needed to be protective of instream habitat and riparian conditions.

Channel maintenance flows influence both the quantity and quality of anadromous salmonid habitat. Channel maintenance is a long-term process whereby the basic habitat structure of a stream is formed and maintained by multiple, variable high flow events occurring on an annual basis. These flows effectively maintain channel structure and the riparian zone to the extent

that the characteristic variability represented in anadromous salmonid habitat persists over time. Diversions during high flows will reduce flow magnitude. Evaluating morphologic responses to reductions in high flow magnitude is complicated because channels are generally free to adjust their width, depth, slope, and bed grain size distribution in response to changes in flow regime. These attributes may adjust in concert or individually depending on circumstance.

Establishment and maintenance of riparian vegetation can be particularly dependent on flow variation. Indeed, some species of riparian plants (e.g., cottonwoods) are especially dependent on flood events that serve to stimulate germination of seeds leading to new plant growth. The existence of a healthy riparian zone in part controls channel form, water quality, and other features and functions that comprise anadromous salmonid habitat. Removal of riparian vegetation can lead to increased summer water temperatures, changes in water quality and quantity, decreased habitat for aquatic-origin adult insects, decreased bank stability and increased sediment inputs, and decreased wood recruitment that provide instream habitat structure. Reducing peak flows by diverting water has the potential to affect riparian vegetation primarily through three mechanisms: (1) reduction in groundwater recharge through the stream banks, (2) reduction of scouring flows that create new surfaces for riparian vegetation, and (3) reduction in growth rates during the early spring. Thus, the degree of protectiveness of diversion restrictions reflects the amount of water that may be diverted without adversely affecting the health, diversity, and future potential of the riparian zone.

However, suitable criteria for both channel and riparian maintenance flows are less well defined than criteria for upstream passage, spawning/incubation, and rearing. The primary quantitative metrics for assessing protectiveness are the degrees of change in channel morphologic characteristics, expressed as changes in surface grain size distribution, and bankfull width and depth. As discussed in Appendix D in greater detail, minor to moderate changes in these channel values are approximately linear with changes in bankfull flow (as represented by the 1.5 year peak event magnitude) (Figure 2-1). Because the changes to channel values never reach a lower limit (i.e., bottom out) and the linkage between reduction in channel size and anadromous salmonid production cannot be identified with great accuracy and precision, there is no readily discernable flow reduction limit suggested for identifying a protective channel and riparian maintenance flow.



Figure 2-1. Predicted long-term potential changes in channel width, depth, and grain size distribution resulting from a reduction in bankfull flow due to diversion in Policy area streams potentially supporting anadromous salmonids.

2.6 ESTUARY HABITAT/OCEAN CONNECTIVITY FLOW NEEDS

Estuaries are an important interface between the freshwater and saltwater phases of the anadromous salmonid life cycle for both upstream and downstream migrants, although the importance can vary greatly from relatively little to a critical bottleneck depending on river and species. There are two flow-related influences on the suitability of estuaries for anadromous salmonids in the Policy area:

- 1. Reducing access to returning adult salmon and steelhead in the fall through sand bar closures across the mouth of the estuary, and
- 2. Providing suitable freshwater over-summer habitat conditions.

Sand bars at the entrance of some California coastal streams can create temporary upstream migration barriers to salmon and steelhead trout. The processes controlling the breaching of

these sand bars are complicated and depend on the resource and basin in question. Estuaries in the Policy area tend to become blocked during the low flow summer months, typically some time during July, August, and/or September. Blocking has the potential to delay entry of returning adults, with greatest potential effects occurring in the Policy area to Chinook salmon that return the earliest of the three target species.

Estuaries in the policy area are used over the summer as rearing habitat by steelhead and Chinook. Although Chinook salmon downstream migration occurs earlier in the spring, juvenile fish at the end of the season may be trapped in the lagoon for the summer. Available data suggest that these lagoons may provide more productive rearing habitat for salmonids than open systems in the Policy area, allowing increased growth that improves ocean survival.

The primary flow needs related to estuary habitat implementation of the Policy therefore pertain to breaching in the fall months to facilitate the return of adults to freshwater. However, specific flow requirements for breaching vary with the basin, making it difficult to identify a regional flow-based criterion. Protectiveness of the element alternatives can be indirectly evaluated by comparing the general level of impaired base flows occurring during the diversion resulting from the element alternatives with flow characteristics required for sand bar breaching as reported in the literature (see Appendix D).

This page intentionally left blank.

3. INSTREAM FLOW POLICY ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA

Four fishery protection elements contained in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines (see Appendix A) provided the framework for defining potential Policy elements. These followed two main themes: elements restricting flow diversion and an element restricting instream barriers. A number of alternative criteria have been identified for each of the elements restricting flow diversion. In the case of the element restricting instream barriers, alternative criteria were composed of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and modifications thereof that varied in restrictiveness. Each of the four fishery protection elements, as well as alternative criteria identified during the scoping process, are identified and described below in the context of how they would function to benefit anadromous salmonids.

3.1 POLICY ELEMENTS RESTRICTING FLOW DIVERSION

Three potential elements of the Policy involve restrictions on diversions to benefit anadromous salmonids: (1) diversion season, (2) requirements for a minimum bypass flow during the diversion season, and (3) the maximum permissible cumulative diversion rate or volume. Table 3-1 lists the various alternative criteria evaluated for each element.

Two sets of alternative criteria were provided that encompassed all three elements, the first in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines (Alternatives DS1, MBF1, MCD1, MCD2, and MCD3 in Table 3-1) and the second in a proposal provided by Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000; Alternatives DS2, MBF2, and MCD4). Background on the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and the Trout Unlimited proposal is provided in Appendix A.

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines recommended modifications to the State Water Board staff proposals for the administration of applications for water diversions (SWRCB 1997, 1998) that withdraw less than 3 cfs or 200 acre-ft/yr by implementing measures described below. Diversions that withdraw more than 3 cfs or 200 acre-ft/yr would require site-specific studies and monitoring. The measures specified for smaller diversions would apply to cases where site-specific studies were not conducted. However, the option to conduct site-specific studies would also be available for small diversions, the results of which could be used to justify different criteria for each element than were recommended by the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines.

The Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) proposal included the same elements as the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines, but differed with respect to the timing and levels of permissible extraction, and was to be applied to streams with drainage areas smaller than about 10 mi². In addition, the Trout Unlimited proposal made no distinction between (1) existing, legally permitted, and (2) new permit applications for diversion, and would apply to all diversions in perennial and ephemeral streams with or without anadromous salmonids.

Diversion Season	Minimum Bypass Flow	Maximum Cumulative Diversion
DS1.	MBF1.	MCD1.
12/15 – 3/31	February median daily flow	MCD Rate = 15% of 20% Winter (12/15-3/31) exceedance
DS2.	MBF2.	flow
Year Round	10% Exceedance Flow	MCD2.
DS3.	MBF3.	MCD Rate = 5% of 1.5 yr flood peak flow MCD3.
10/1 – 3/31	<u>Drainage Area (DA) < 290 mi²:</u>	
	$Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$	MCD Volume = 10% estimated unimpaired flow (no restriction on diversion rate)
	<u>Drainage Area > 290 mi²:</u>	MCD4.
	$Q_{MBF} = 0.6 Q_m$	MCD Rate = diversion rate which results in a maximum
	Q _m = unimpaired mean annual flow (cfs);	reduction of the time flow is above the MBF to ½ day during a 1.5 yr flood event
	For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy	
	MBF4.	
	<u>Drainage Area < 0.11 mi²</u> :	
	$Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$	
	Drainage Area = 0.11-500 mi ² :	
	$Q_{MBF} = 5.1 Q_m (DA)^{-0.71}$	
	<u>Drainage Area ≥ 500 mi²:</u>	
	Q_{MBF} = 0.06 Q_m	
	For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy	

Table 3-1. Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Diversions

Several other specific alternative criteria were identified for discrete elements restricting diversion and are described in Table 3-1 and in the following sections. In particular, the MBF3 and MBF4 alternatives summarized in Table 3-1 were both developed to account for variation in instream flow needs for different channel sizes, but respectively approximated the maximum/minimum amounts of water that might be left instream without substantially over-/under-protecting anadromous salmonids.

3.1.1 Diversion Season (DS) Element

The proposed Policy would restrict the season of operation of new diversions to the period of highest winter flows when water is most available and the impacts of water withdrawals on fishery resources would be minimized. New diversions would not be permitted during the summer, fall, or late spring months, which are periods when streamflows are especially important to limiting anadromous salmonid populations. The primary question concerning the protectiveness of this element of the Policy is to determine which dates bracketing the winter diversion season are the most biologically appropriate for the target species. Three alternative criteria were identified for the diversion season.

3.1.1.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines Diversion Season DS1

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines proposed a December 15 – March 31 diversion season that reflected biological timing (i.e., periodicity) of various anadromous salmonid life stages, and the availability of water, the latter based on an analysis of five gages in the Russian River basin (SWRCB 1997).

3.1.1.2 Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) Diversion Season DS2

Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) proposed no limitation to the diversion season as long as instream flow restrictions were met (see sections below on minimum bypass flow and maximum cumulative diversion).

3.1.1.3 Consulting Engineers (2006) Diversion Season DS3

A set of comments and recommendations provided on September 15, 2006 during the CEQA scoping process by Wagner & Bonsignore Consulting Civil Engineers, James C. Hanson Consulting Civil Engineer, and the law firm Ellison, Schneider & Harris L.L.P. (Consulting Engineers) proposed that the diversion season begin on October 1 instead of December 15. The early date would allow on-stream reservoirs to fill and subsequently spill earlier in the fall depending on the magnitude of instream flows.

3.1.2 Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) Element

The minimum bypass flow (MBF) element of the Policy would set a minimum instream flow that must be moving past a point of diversion before water may be diverted under a permit. The term, 'bypass,' refers to flow that is not impounded or diverted and hence remains in the stream. This element reflects the need to provide and maintain sufficient instream flows downstream of diversions and on-stream dams for anadromous salmonid habitat.

3.1.2.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) Minimum Bypass Flow Alternative Criterion MBF1

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines recommended a MBF equal to the February median daily unimpaired flow. The month of February was chosen because analysis indicated it was generally the highest median flow during the winter period (based on hydrologic analysis of Russian River tributaries), and would thus be expected to protect spawning and egg incubation habitat of salmonids in other months. A median statistic was considered preferable to a mean because it better reflected flow duration, and was not influenced as strongly by infrequent, high flow events.

3.1.2.2 Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) Minimum Bypass Flow Alternative Criterion MBF2

Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) proposed a geomorphic measure, defined as the active channel stage height, for determining the magnitude of the MBF. The active channel was defined as corresponding to the lower limit of woody riparian vegetation, particularly white alder, and the concomitant edge of a defined gravel-sand bench in straight reaches. The bench and white alder roots were reported to contain lower flows, thereby keeping the active channel bed and any anadromous salmonid redds therein wetted during declining flows (MTTU 2000). However, in lieu of site-specific studies for determining the active channel stage height, Trout Unlimited recommended the annual 10% exceedance flow as an approximation of the flow resulting in the active channel water level. This metric would therefore allow diversions to occur approximately 36.5 days per year on average.

3.1.2.3 Minimum Bypass Flow Alternative Criterion MBF3

The MBF3 alternative criterion was developed based on comments from the 2000 State Water Board workshop peer review panel (Moyle et al. 2000) and those from MTTU (2000). The development of this criterion is presented in Appendix E. The alternative criterion incorporated basin size (drainage area) and hydrology (mean annual flow) into the development of the following criteria for MBF (Q_{MBF}) that are focused on protecting spawning habitat and upstream passage:

- Basin Area < 290 mi²:
- Basin Area > 290 mi²:

- $Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$ $Q_{MBF} = 0.6 Q_m$ $Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA_2)^{-0.47}$
- Locations Above Anadromous Habitat:

(3.1)

where Q_m and DA are the estimated mean annual flow and drainage area at the point of diversion (POD), respectively, and DA₂ is determined at the upper limit of anadromous habitat. These criteria are displayed in Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1. Comparison of the MBF3 and MBF4 alternative criteria for the Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) element of the Policy, which account for variation in instream flow needs with stream size at different levels of protection.

The alternative's format is consistent with Moyle et al.'s (2000) comment that the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines should include a separate minimum passage depth criterion for smaller streams used by anadromous salmonids. The normalization of instream flow needs by mean annual flow was accordingly done to account for channel size effects on flow needs vs. stream flow.

This alternative criterion was developed to be protective of anadromous salmonid habitat in as many streams as possible based on measures of channel size expressed in terms of drainage area and mean annual flow. In cases where proposed diversions would cause flows to drop below stated criteria, site specific studies could be conducted in consultation with resource agencies to determine if lower MBFs could be allowed that would still be protective. Analysis of

this alternative criterion (which is described in detail in Appendix E) suggested that while a more restrictive minimum bypass flow could be imposable on diversions, doing so would likely not provide significant additional, quantifiable benefits to the three anadromous salmonid species.

3.1.2.4 Minimum Bypass Flow Alternative Criterion MBF4

The MBF4 alternative criterion was developed in part from existing instream flow studies which provided a minimum negotiated level of protection for anadromous salmonids (see Appendix E). The alternative criterion would allow diverters to extract as much water as possible, while still providing MBFs that ostensibly would not imperil the sustainability of anadromous salmonids. This alternative criterion was developed to be protective of anadromous salmonid habitat based on a lower level of protection compared with the MBF3 alternative and was similarly based on measures of channel size expressed in terms of drainage area and mean annual flow.

The MBF4 criterion for MBF (Q_{MBF}) consists of the following criteria that are based on protecting spawning habitat and upstream passage:

- Basin Area (DA) < 0.11 mi²: $Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$ (3.2)
- Basin Area = 0.11-500 mi²: $Q_{MBF} = 5.1 Q_m (DA)^{-0.71}$
- Basin Area \geq 500 mi²: Q_{MBF} = 0.06 Q_m
- Locations Above Anadromous Habitat: $Q_{MBF} = K Q_m (DA_2)^M$

where K and M depend on the drainage area as indicated above, and DA₂ is the drainage area determined at the upper limit of anadromous habitat. These criteria are plotted in Figure 3-1 for comparison with the MBF3 alternative criterion.

3.1.3 Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD) Element

This element of the Policy was focused on defining the magnitude of the maximum cumulative diversion (MCD) rate or total volume of diversions that could be allowed when stream flows exceed the MBF while still being protective of fishery resources. The overall intent of the MCD element is to allow for some flow diversion while still preserving natural flow variability downstream (see Appendices D and E for discussion of the ecological importance of flow variability). Detailed geomorphic analysis (see Appendix D) did not reveal a clearly defined, protective threshold MCD rate (or equivalent volume) for protecting channel and riparian maintenance flows. Four alternative criteria were thus identified based on existing recommendations: three formulated from the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and one from MTTU (2002).

Comments received during scoping from the Consulting Engineers (2006) recommended that determination of water availability should involve estimating the actual seasonal depletion due to cumulative diversions in the watershed above the POD, rather than the cumulative amount appropriated. Water would be considered available for diversion as long as the actual average annual cumulative depletion remained below the estimated average annual stream flow in more than half the water years considered. However, there is no legal mechanism preventing all water rights holders from simultaneously diverting their full appropriated amounts of water from the stream, provided such flows are available at the time of diversion and regardless of past diversion practices. It follows then that evaluation of the MCD element requires a worst-case scenario in which it is assumed that all appropriated water is diverted, rather than an estimate of actual current use. Thus, this recommendation was not evaluated further.

3.1.3.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) Maximum Cumulative Diversion Alternative Criteria MCD1, MCD2, and MCD3

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines contained two primary approaches for maintaining natural flow variability and avoiding significant cumulative effects due to diversion. Absent site-specific information and analyses demonstrating otherwise, the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines stated that the natural hydrograph should be protected by either:

a. Limiting the cumulative instantaneous rate of withdrawal (i.e., MCD rate) to 15% of the winter 20% exceedance flow during the period December 15-March 31, subject to a limiting cumulative rate of withdrawal that does not appreciably diminish (qualified as <5% of) the natural hydrograph flows needed for channel maintenance (considered to be approximated by the 1.5 year peak annual flood) and upstream fish passage;

OR

b. Limiting the total cumulative volume of water to be diverted, at historical limits of anadromous fish distributions, to 10% of the unimpaired runoff during the period December 15-March 31 during normal water years, using a Cumulative Flow Impairment Index (CFII). Hydrologic analysis is required for projects with CFIIs between 5%-10% to demonstrate that a diversion will not impair geomorphic processes and salmonid migration and spawning.

The procedure proposed for calculating the CFII was:

$$CFII = \frac{Cumulative \ Diverted \ Volume \ From 10/1 - 3/31}{Estimated \ Unimpaired \ Runoff \ From 12/15 - 3/31}$$

The CFII was recommended as a screening method of determining which water right applications can be permitted without further study and which points of interest (POI) require detailed evaluation of potential cumulative impacts. Technical considerations in the evaluation of the protectiveness of the CFII are discussed further in Appendix J.

The analysis in Appendix D indicated that the limiting condition identified in option (a) of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines above, whereby a MCD rate should not exceed a level equaling 5% of the 1.5 year annual peak flood, could potentially be the least restrictive option identified relative to cumulative flow diversion while still protecting channel maintenance processes. A review of local gage data identified in Appendix F indicates this level is, on average, roughly five to seven times the 15% of 20% exceedance flow rate proposed under the first component of the DFG-NMFS alternative criterion.

These criteria were used to develop three MCD alternatives which were separately assessed for protectiveness:

- 1. Maximum cumulative diversion rate = 15% of the unimpaired Dec 15 Mar 31 20% exceedance flow (MCD1)
- 2. Maximum cumulative diversion rate = 5% of the 1.5 year flood magnitude (MCD2); and
- 3. Maximum cumulative diversion volume (CDV) = 10% of the unimpaired Dec 15 Mar 31 normal year volume (MCD3).

The MCD3 alternative was formulated to provide a worst-case evaluation of the 10% CFII threshold with respect to hydrograph impairment during the beginning of the diversion season. In applying this alternative, it was assumed that:

- 1. There is no maximum limit imposed on the instantaneous rate of diversion.
- 2. The diversion demand is set equal to 10% of the estimated unimpaired runoff volume from December 15 until March 31.
- 3. All flows above the MBF are diverted until the diversion demand is satisfied.

3.1.3.2 Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) Maximum Cumulative Diversion Alternative Criterion MCD4

Trout Unlimited recommended that the MCD be calculated based on changes in flow timing, with the goal of minimizing the reduction in total time available for spawning. Explicit guidance was not given regarding how much can be diverted when flows exceed the MBF, but examples given by MTTU (2000) implied that the diversion rate resulting in a shift of the descending limb

of the event hydrograph of half a day at the time the MBF occurs is the MCD at any time during the event (Figure 3-2). Trout Unlimited proposed that the 1.1-year to 1.5 year event be used as the basis for determining the MCD (MTTU 2000). Given hydrograph recession characteristics, the corresponding time that the hydrograph is compressed at higher flows will typically be shorter.

From a practical standpoint, implementation of this proposal is problematic as it effectively requires hourly hydrograph data to evaluate pending water right applications, data that are not readily available in most Policy area streams. Its application is further complicated by the observation that each runoff event would, in principle, be associated with a different MCD aimed at resulting in no more than one-half day shortening of flow at the MBF level.



Figure 3-2. Conceptual determination of maximum cumulative diversion (MCD) rate following Trout Unlimited's proposal to base it on a maximum reduction in the time instream flows are at, or above the minimum bypass flow by one-half day.

3.2 POLICY ELEMENT RESTRICTING INSTREAM BARRIERS

There is one element of the Policy concerning instream barriers, and that is whether an onstream dam could or should be permitted. This element involves measurable actions whose costs and benefits to water users and natural resources are more definitive and quantifiable than elements involving measures of flow quantity. The alternatives considered are shown in Table 3-2.

The alternatives range in degree of restrictiveness. For the protectiveness analysis, all alternatives were assumed to be applied in conjunction with the Policy elements restricting flow, including diversion season, MBF, and MCD. In some cases, exceptions to the imposed barrier restrictions may be possible, but only if site-specific studies conducted in cooperation with resource agencies demonstrate such.

3.2.1 Permitting of On-Stream Dams (DP) Policy Element

Construction of on-stream dams can result in a number of direct and indirect impacts to anadromous salmonids, including the local loss of free-flowing stream habitat and food production, loss of upstream fish production, providing habitat for non-native species, trapping of spawning gravels, and regulation of downstream flows. The objective of this Policy element is to avoid, reduce and/or mitigate for these impacts. Questions relevant to evaluating the effects of implementing this element concern how changes in methods of water diversion and storage practices may affect riparian resources and summer low flows, and if there are certain conditions where on-stream dams could still be allowed without impacting downstream resources.

The Consulting Engineers (2006) comments included a recommendation that dams and onstream impoundments be permitted; (1) in channels, swales, or water courses that have surface runoff only during and immediately following precipitation events; (2) in water courses where there are existing downstream dams or other barriers; (3) in streams where there is no salmonid habitat or species at the POD and no significant impact to flows at the current upstream limit of anadromy; or (4) when the impoundment contains 10 acre-ft or less of water. The applicability of these recommended modifications to a given stream or channel would require site specific studies to be conducted, and therefore they were not considered as potential modifications to the DFG-NFMS (2002) alternative for regionally applied criteria.

Table 3-2.	Policy	Element	Alternative	Criteria	Proposed	to Res	strict Ir	nstream E	Barriers.
				•••••••					

Stream Class	Permitting of On-stream Dams (DP)
Class I	DP1.1
	On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.
	DP1.2
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream
	dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:
	1. Fish passage and screening is provided;
	2. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	3. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	4. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	5. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated
Class II	DP2.1
	On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.
	DP2.2
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.

	Table 3-2.	Policy Element Alternative Criteria Proposed to Restrict Instream Barriers.
--	------------	---

Class II (cont)	DP2.3
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and
	4. Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.
Class III	DP3.1
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. The on-stream dam will not dewater a Class II stream; and
	2. The on-stream dam will cause less than 10% cumulative instantaneous flow impairment at locations where fish are seasonally present.
	DP3.2
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:
	1. A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;
	2. An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; and
	3. A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented.
	DP3.3
	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam.

3.2.1.1 DFG-NMFS (2002) On-Stream Dam Permitting Alternatives (DP1.1, DP2.1, and DP3.1)

The DFG-NMFS (2002) proposed that the State Water Board avoid additional permitting of small on-stream dams beyond those already legally permitted. An exemption was provided in cases where the following conditions were met: (1) the proposed diversion was located in a stream where aquatic fauna were not historically present, per Class III designation under Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, section 916.5, Table 1 (i.e., no aquatic life present, water course showing evidence of being capable of sediment transport downstream to fish-bearing waters under normal high water flow conditions); (2) the project would not lead to a cumulative diversion rate exceeding 10% of the natural instantaneous flow in any reach where fish are at least seasonally present ("cumulative" was defined to include all existing water rights); and (3) the project would not lead to dewatering of a fishless stream supporting other aquatic fauna.

3.2.1.2 Modifications to the DFG-NMFS (2002) Alternative (DP1.2, DP2.2, DP2.3, DP3.2, and DP3.3)

Trout Unlimited (MTTU 2000) proposed that new and existing on-stream dams must be individually approved by DFG following a quantitative analysis of; (1) cumulative effects on downstream anadromous salmonid habitat; (2) loss of upstream anadromous habitat; (3) effects on other fish resources as defined by DFG code; (4) effects on off-channel wetlands connected hydraulically to the channel via surface flow; and (5) channel maintenance flow needs. All downstream locations potentially impeding upstream migration of adult and juvenile salmonids must be identified. The analysis would need to consider all existing water rights upstream of potential barriers and the proposed water right application. An exemption would be allowed for on-stream dams on Class III streams where it could be demonstrated quantitatively that (1) the minimum bypass flow and maximum diversion rate guidelines could be met at the upstream limit of potential anadromy, (2) that downstream riparian vegetation and other fishery resources including seasonal wetlands may be sustained, and (3) minimum bypass flow guidelines are met in Class II and III channels and swales. New and existing on-stream dams that meet permitting criteria would need to have an operational plan approved by DFG for annually replacing an equivalent volume of coarse bed material into the downstream channel, so that the supply to salmonid spawning habitat downstream is not interrupted (MTTU 2000).

Alternatives to those proposed in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines were accordingly developed. The first alternative included protective modifications as suggested by Trout Unlimited and the State Water Board. The second included less restrictive criteria that those proposed by DFG-NMFS. All alternatives are shown in Table 3-2, distinguished by stream class.

This page intentionally left blank.

4. EVALUATION OF THE EFFECTS OF POLICY ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA RESTRICTING FLOW DIVERSION ON ANADROMOUS SALMONID HABITAT NEEDS

This chapter presents the methods and results for evaluating the effects of Policy elements restricting flow diversion on the various important anadromous salmonid habitat needs identified in Chapter 2. The assessment of anadromous salmonid habitat needs provided by each alternative criterion included both direct and relative comparisons of specific habitat metrics described in this chapter.

Quantitative analyses focused on the use of daily flow time series. Estimated unimpaired flow time series were compared with different impaired flow time series resulting from implementation of specific combinations of Policy element alternative criteria (diversion season, minimum bypass flow, and maximum cumulative diversion). Each impaired flow time series resulting from implementing a specific set of Policy element alternatives is called henceforth a "Flow Alternative Scenario."

Whether or not a specific Policy element alternative criterion, or combination of alternative criteria (i.e., a Flow Alternative Scenario), could be considered protective depended on the extent to which each habitat need was adversely affected by the reduction in daily flows resulting from the allowed impairment. The relevant habitat metrics were derived from analyses of unimpaired and impaired flow data, using hydraulic and habitat data collected in the late summer of 2006 at a number of sites distributed over the Policy area (henceforth called "validation sites" in this report). Because the overall goal of the analysis was to determine protectiveness at the regional scale, an overall criterion used to evaluate the results for all validation sites was the extent to which Policy element alternative criteria resulted in some streams barely being protected and the rest being over-protected (see Appendix D for a discussion of the rationale). If more than one or two validation sites were adversely affected in some way, the outcome would then not be considered protective at a regional scale.

Of the six habitat needs identified in Chapter 2, upstream passage and spawning habitat metrics were assessed most directly using field data, in part because they were most readily quantifiable. Figure 4-1 depicts the general analysis steps followed for these two habitat needs. The steps are described further below and in greater detail in Appendices F and G. For some habitat needs, it was not possible to define a quantitative metric for establishing the degree of effect, such that a weight of evidence, literature-based approach was necessary instead; such cases are noted below.



Figure 4-1. Outline of steps taken to analyze the protectiveness of Policy element alternative criteria restricting flow diversion with respect to anadromous salmonid upstream passage and spawning habitat needs.

The methods used to derive flow data for the validation sites are presented first, followed by the methods used to derive the habitat metrics. Results of the habitat analyses are then discussed (specific results are presented in Appendices H and I). The results serve as the basis for the analyses of protectiveness in subsequent chapters.

It should be noted that the analysis of anadromous salmonid habitat needs was restricted to assessing direct protective attributes of each Policy element described in Chapter 3, not indirect attributes or effects due to changes in diversion practices that result from implementation of the Policy. For example, in the case of riparian vegetation, which is an important element of salmonid habitat, the analysis considers how the MCD element may help maintain the level of high flow and how the level of high flow so-maintained could directly maintain and protect the riparian zone. The analysis in this chapter does not consider the indirect effects of shifting water extraction from surface water diversion to alternate sources, such as groundwater pumping and use of riparian water rights, which could lead to loss of the riparian zone by reducing the summer water table elevation. These types of indirect effects will be addressed in the effects analysis of the SED.

4.1 HYDROLOGY AT VALIDATION SITES

Thirteen validation sites were used to evaluate Policy element alternative criteria. Hydrologic data were collected and unimpaired daily flow time series were developed for each site. Policy elements restricting flow were then applied to time series of unimpaired flow in order to develop impaired time series. The hydrologic data and creation of time series at the validation sites is summarized below and is detailed in Appendix F.

4.1.1 Validation Site Locations

The thirteen validation sites were visited in the Policy area between August 28 and September 1, 2006 to collect spawning habitat and upstream passage data. As described in Appendix G, the sites were selected that (1) represented smaller sites (drainage area generally less than 15 mi²) to supplement more readily available habitat-flow data for larger sites, and to address a critical data gap identified by MTTU (2000), (2) had a gage nearby from which an unimpaired winter daily flow time series could be reasonably estimated for at least two years, and preferably more, (3) would be well distributed across the Policy area, and (4) could be readily accessed to maximize field time efficiency. The major physical and hydrologic characteristics of the sites are summarized in Table 4-1, and their general locations depicted in Figure 4-2.

Table 4-1.	Sites Where Transects Were Surveyed to Characterize Passage and Spawning
	Conditions Associated with Alternative Criteria for Policy Elements Regarding
	Restrictions on Flow. Streams are Ordered from Smallest to Largest Drainage Area.

		Dreinere	Reach		Number of Transects		
Stream	Date Visited	Drainage Area (mi ²)	Slope (%)	Passage Spawning		 Water Years Analyzed 	
E. Fk. Russian River Trib	8/31/2006	0.25	2.5	1	0	1959-1961	
Dry Creek Trib	8/30/2006	1.2	2.04	1	1	1968-1969	
Dunn Creek	8/31/2006	1.9	1.58	2	2	1962-1964	
Carneros Creek	8/29/2006	2.8	1.10	2	2	2002-2005	
Huichica Creek	8/29/2006	4.9	0.79	1	1	2002-2005	
Olema Creek	8/28/2006	7.0	0.91	2	2	1987-2003	
Pine Gulch Creek	8/28/2006	7.8	1.14	2	2	1999-2003	
Warm Springs Creek	8/30/2006	12.2	0.71	2	2	1974-1983	
Santa Rosa Creek	9/1/2006	12.5	1.37	1	2	1960-1970	
Albion River	8/31/2006	14.4	1.01	2	2	1962-1969	
Salmon Creek	8/30/2006	15.7	0.69	2	2	1963-1975	
Franz Creek	9/1/2006	15.7	0.29	2	2	1964-1968	
Lagunitas Creek	8/28/2006	34	0.53	2	2	1956-1992	



Figure 4-2. Locations of validation sites sampled for passage and spawning transects that were evaluated for protectiveness of Policy element alternative criteria involving restrictions on flow.

4.1.2 Estimation of Unimpaired Flow Time Series

Unimpaired flow is the natural flow in a stream without any human alterations to the hydrology; that is, the flow without any diversions or man-made storage. The unimpaired stream flow was needed particularly to analyze two of the Policy elements, MBF and MCD rate or volume. Accordingly, unimpaired flow time series were developed for each of the validation sites.

For all thirteen validation sites, gaged data were available from one of three sources: the US Geological Survey (USGS), Napa County Resource Conservation District (NCRCD), and the National Park Service (NPS). The gaged data were collected and compared to historical permitted diversions and storage to determine whether they represented unimpaired flows.

Historical permitted diversions and storage were estimated for the validation sites using data from the State Water Board's Water Rights Information Management System (WRIMS) database as of December 20, 2006. In cases where diversions and storage regulation during the gaged period of record were not significant, gaged flows were used as an estimate of unimpaired flow. This was the case for nine of the thirteen sites (Albion River, Dry Creek Trib, Dunn Creek, EF Russian River Trib, Olema Creek, Pine Creek, Salmon Creek, Santa Rosa Creek, and Warm Springs Creek).

For the remaining four validation sites, gaged data were not used to represent unimpaired flows because diversions and storage were determined to have potentially impacted measured daily flow rates significantly. Instead, calculated or modeled flows were used to represent unimpaired flows. For one validation site (Lagunitas Creek), unimpaired flows were obtained from the Marin Municipal Water District (MMWD) which has calculated such flows on a daily basis. For the other three streams with significant diversions and storage, a model (Hydrologic Simulation Program - Fortran, HSPF) was used to simulate unimpaired flows. Streamflow was modeled for the Carneros Creek, Franz Creek, and Huichica Creek validation sites. Details of the model inputs, calibration, and results are in Appendix F, Section F.2.4.

After the unimpaired time series for each validation site were created, hydrologic parameters such as mean annual flow, peak flood magnitude, and flow-duration (exceedance) values were computed. Development of these unimpaired flows and associated hydrologic parameters is described in detail in Appendix F, Section F.2.

4.1.3 Hydrology and Impaired Flow Time Series

Impaired daily flow time series were generated by applying, in concert, specific diversion season, MBF, and MCD rate or volume criteria to the estimated unimpaired flow daily time series. Details of the impairment calculations are given in Section F.3 in Appendix F.

Statistics and hydrologic parameters of the impaired time series were computed in order to assess changes to the hydrology resulting from the application of the Policy elements (see section F.3 in Appendix F). In addition, a sensitivity analysis was performed to specifically assess the effect of the MCD rate or volume criteria on the hydrology (Section F.4 in Appendix F). The sensitivity analysis was used in the assessment of protectiveness for the MCD Policy element. Results of the sensitivity analysis indicate that, in general, diversions occur less frequently but at much higher rates when the MCD volume method is employed. Maximum diversion rates are generally an order of magnitude higher when diversions are limited by the MCD volume method. Also, the MCD volume method reduces peak annual floods more significantly than the MCD rate methods.

As described in the next section, specific combinations of the three Policy elements restricting flow diversion were evaluated by first creating the appropriate impaired flow time series. Effects on anadromous salmonid habitat needs were then evaluated by relating various habitat-flow metrics to the impaired daily flows.

4.2 HABITAT ANALYSIS METHODS

The general approach of the habitat analysis involved evaluating the effects of impaired flows on the various important habitat needs of anadromous salmonids identified in Chapter 2. Negligible effects were interpreted as representing a protective condition in the context of the habitat attribute under consideration. Where possible, the unimpaired and impaired daily flow time series were related as directly as possible to effects on habitat quantity and quality. For habitat needs where a quantity or quality metric could not be identified and readily analyzed, the analysis of protectiveness relied on more general ecological and physical principles established in the literature.

It is important to note that the analyses of effects of flow diversions on habitat were complicated by the fact that the three elements restricting flow diversion must be applied in concert. As indicated in 4.1.3, each impaired daily flow time series is generated through hydrologic analysis, and the analysis requires that a set or combination of alternative criteria be specified for each of the three Policy elements, diversion season, MBF, and MCD. The diversion season controls the dates when instream flows are affected by impairment, and the MBF and MCD elements variously and simultaneously control the level of flow remaining in the stream. Hence, it is difficult to single out the effect of any one element alternative criterion without conducting a detailed sensitivity analysis where two elements are held constant at a given level of impact and the third element is varied. A habitat-flow sensitivity analysis was not feasible in the time frame and budget available.

Instead, a fixed number of impaired flow time series were generated and evaluated for passage, spawning, and channel maintenance habitat-flow needs. As described at the beginning of this

chapter, the impaired flow time series corresponded to implementation of specific combinations of Policy element alternatives identified in Chapter 3; these specific combinations are referred to as Flow Alternative Scenarios and are described in Table 4-2. Flow Alternative Scenario 1 and 5 represent the two alternative expressions of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines, one using a MCD rate (MCD1) and the other the CFII MCD volume (MCD5). Flow Alternative Scenario 2 represents the proposal by Trout Unlimited. Flow Alternative Scenario 3 (Upper Flow Scenario) represents a combination of the most restrictive Policy element alternatives; Flow Alternative Scenario 4 (Lower Flow Scenario) represents a combination of the least restrictive Policy element alternatives excluding those that were likely to not be protective. The number of Flow Alternative Scenarios compared was the minimum that could be analyzed to describe effects associated with the various Policy element alternatives. In the absence of a full sensitivity analysis, however, these five scenarios still described a range of impaired flow scenarios that appeared to have sufficient variation for inferring the relative protectiveness of alternatives for each distinct Policy element.

Of the Flow Alternative Scenarios listed in Table 4-2, Flow Alternative Scenarios 1, 2, 3, and 4 involve specifying a MCD rate as opposed to a volume (Flow Alternative Scenario 5). The corresponding flow rates estimated for MBF and MCD are presented in Table 4-3 (note there is no fixed MCD flow rate for Flow Alternative 5). An example of the effect of each Flow Alternative Scenario on the shape of the impaired hydrograph is depicted in Figure 4-3 for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in a representative validation site, Salmon Creek. The MBF is visible as periods of steady flow below the natural, unimpaired hydrograph for the respective Flow Alternative Scenario 5 is also visible in the figure as the date when Flow Alternative 5 no longer results in flat-lining the hydrograph at the MBF level.
Flow Alternative Scenario		Description, Policy Element Alterr	native Criteria Included				
Unimpaired	Flow conditio	Flow conditions using the estimated natural hydrology described in the previous section					
Flow Alternative Scenario 1		Flow conditions impaired with the maximum diversions allowed by the following Policy Element Alternatives:					
(DFG-NMFS 2002 Criteria,	DS1	MBF1	MCD1 Rate				
MCD Rate)	12/15-3/31	February median daily flow	15% of 20% winter exceedance flow				
Flow Alternative Scenario 2	DS2	MBF2	MCD4 Rate				
(MTTU 2000 Criteria)	Year round	10% exceedance flow	Calculated for each site following the procedure depicted in Figure 3-2				
Flow Alternative Scenario 3	DS1	MBF3	MCD1 Rate				
(Upper Flow Scenario)	12/15-3/31	Specified as a function of drainage area and mean annual flow	15% of 20% winter exceedance flow				
Flow Alternative	DS3	MBF4	MCD2 Rate				
Scenario 4 (Lower Flow Scenario)	10/1-3/31	Specified as a function of drainage area and mean annual flow	5% of 1.5 year flood magnitude				
Flow Alternative Scenario 5	DS1	MBF1	MCD3 Volume				
(DFG-NMFS 2002 Criteria, MCD Volume)	12/15-3/31	February median daily flow	CFII = 10% estimated unimpaired runoff (EUR)				

Table 4-2. Description of Flow Alternative Scenarios Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness.

Table 4-3. Application of Protectiveness Criteria to the Thirteen Validation Sites, for Flow Alternative Scenarios where MCD is Specified as a Maximum Permissible Rate. Streams are Ordered from Smallest to Largest Drainage Area.

		Flow A	Alternative Sce	nario 1	Flow	Alternative Sce	enario 2	Flow /	Alternative Sce	nario 3	Flow	Alternative Sce	enario 4
Stream	Mean Annual Flow (cfs)	Diversion Season	Minimum Bypass Flow (cfs)	Maximum Diversion Rate (cfs)									
E. Fk. Russian River Trib	0.13	12/15-3/31	0.3	0.1	1/1-12/31	0.3	0.1	12/15-3/31	2.0	0.1	10/1-3/31	1.8	1.3
Dry Creek Trib	2.2	12/15-3/31	6.8	1.5	1/1-12/31	5.6	3.2	12/15-3/31	16	1.5	10/1-3/31	10	5.5
Dunn Creek	2.5	12/15-3/31	4.3	0.8	1/1-12/31	5.5	0.1	12/15-3/31	15	0.8	10/1-3/31	8.1	4.7
Carneros Creek	3.8	12/15-3/31	2.7	1.6	1/1-12/31	6.6	9	12/15-3/31	18	1.6	10/1-3/31	9.3	13
Huichica Creek	8.9	12/15-3/31	7.4	3.7	1/1-12/31	17	2.2	12/15-3/31	33	3.7	10/1-3/31	15	13
Olema Creek	25	12/15-3/31	36	15	1/1-12/31	52	na 1	12/15-3/31	79	15	10/1-3/31	32	na 1
Pine Gulch Creek	12	12/15-3/31	19	6.2	1/1-12/31	25	1.1	12/15-3/31	36	6.2	10/1-3/31	14	37
Warm Springs Creek	35	12/15-3/31	39	20	1/1-12/31	92	11	12/15-3/31	85	20	10/1-3/31	30	43
Santa Rosa Creek	19	12/15-3/31	25	8.3	1/1-12/31	39	7.2	12/15-3/31	46	8.3	10/1-3/31	16	60
Albion River	20	12/15-3/31	21	11	1/1-12/31	51	10	12/15-3/31	45	11	10/1-3/31	15	37
Salmon Creek	25	12/15-3/31	21	12	1/1-12/31	50	13	12/15-3/31	53	12	10/1-3/31	18	70
Franz Creek	24	12/15-3/31	15	9.1	1/1-12/31	55	7.6	12/15-3/31	52	9.1	10/1-3/31	17	65
Lagunitas Creek	72	12/15-3/31	83	31	1/1-12/31	163	na 1	12/15-3/31	108	31	10/1-3/31	30	na 1

¹ - 1.5 year flood estimate not available from gage data



Figure 4-3. Example comparison of impaired hydrographs resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios (listed in Table 4-2), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph.

4.2.1 Methods for Assessing Effects on Upstream Passage Needs

Methods used to analyze the effects (and conversely protectiveness) of Policy element alternative criteria to upstream passage are presented in detail in Appendix G. As shown in Figure 4-1, the habitat analysis for passage focused on guantifying the number of days that upstream passage was afforded in all 13 validation sites for each Flow Alternative Scenario. Protectiveness was inferred when the Flow Alternative Scenario (i.e., impaired flow time series) did not result in a substantial reduction in the number of days per water year that passage was afforded compared with unimpaired conditions. Two comparisons were made, in terms of (1) absolute and (2) percent difference in number of days from unimpaired flow conditions. A consistent, quantitative, biologically meaningful basis could not be identified for selecting a specific threshold, in terms of a number difference or a percent reduction, that distinguished between protective and non-protective flow conditions. For example, a 25 percent reduction in passage opportunities in a stream with few such occurrences each year could have greater biological significance to the indigenous anadromous salmonid stock than a comparable percent reduction in a stream with many days of passage afforded overall. It was thus necessary to invoke professional judgment when concluding whether a particular Flow Alternative Scenario (i.e., combination of Policy element alternatives) was protective or not.

In performing the analysis, one to two transects were sampled that best represented low flow passage barriers in the site after walking a length of stream and visually assessing low flow passage conditions. The number of transects depended on whether a single transect could be identified clearly as the low flow limiting condition for the length of site walked. Where uncertainty existed, two transects were placed at the two locations in the site that were perceived as being the most limiting to upstream passage at low flow.

The minimum flow providing passage was estimated for each passage transect sampled using a habitat-flow curve, where habitat was represented as a suitable width for passage (e.g., Figure 4-4). Where two transects were analyzed, the one requiring the highest minimum passage flow was used to represent limiting conditions in the site in comparisons between impaired and unimpaired flow conditions. Passage was considered feasible when a minimum 2 ft wide contiguous portion of the cross-section profile had a depth equaling or exceeding minimum depth criteria for each species. The upstream passage depth suitability criteria used in the analysis are presented in Table 2-1. The biological periods over which upstream passage was evaluated for the Flow Alternative Scenarios were, for each species:

- a. Steelhead: From 11/1 through 3/31
- b. Coho: From 10/1 through 2/28
- c. Chinook: From 10/1 through 1/31



Figure 4-4. Identification of minimum upstream passage flow magnitude using a transect habitat-flow curve, as the lowest flow resulting in a 2 ft wide passage lane in the Dunn Creek validation site.

The protectiveness assessment included evaluating whether the daily flows associated with a Flow Alternative Scenario adversely affected upstream passage opportunities. Without a comprehensive habitat-flow sensitivity analysis for all thirteen sites (which was not possible for the given budget), it was not possible to completely partition out the effect of the MCD element on habitat availability from the effects of the MBF and diversion season elements. Professional judgment was therefore used to infer the protectiveness of the MBF and MCD element alternative criteria tested.

4.2.2 Methods for Assessing Effects on Spawning and Incubation Habitat Needs

Methods used to analyze effects (and conversely protectiveness) of Policy element alternative criteria to spawning and incubation habitat are presented in detail in Appendix G. As shown in Figure 4-1, the habitat analysis for spawning and incubation focused on quantifying the number of days that spawning was afforded across transects measured in 12 validation sites for each Flow Alternative Scenario (potential spawning habitat was not present in the accessible reach of one site). Spawnable substrates were only considered useable for successful reproduction if they remained wetted by 0.1 ft of water or more over the modeled duration of incubation (see Appendix G). Protectiveness was inferred when the impaired flow time series did not result in a substantial reduction in the number of days per water year that reproduction could occur

successfully, compared with unimpaired conditions. Two comparisons were made, in terms of (1) absolute and (2) percent difference in number of days from unimpaired flow conditions. As for passage, a consistent, quantitative, biologically meaningful basis could not be identified for selecting a specific threshold in terms of a number difference or a percent reduction that distinguished protective and non-protective flow conditions. For example, a 25 percent reduction in the number of days spawning could occur successfully in a stream with few such occurrences each year could have greater biological significance to the indigenous anadromous salmonid stock than a comparable percent reduction in a stream with many days of spawning afforded overall. Professional judgment was therefore used when concluding whether a particular Flow Alternative Scenario (i.e., combination of Policy element alternatives) was protective or not.

In performing the analysis, one to two transects were sampled that best represented good quality spawning habitat in the site after walking a length of stream and visually assessing geomorphic and flow conditions. Transects were placed in channel locations where spawning was expected to occur based on professional experience. Typically, transects were placed preferentially over the pool edge/riffle crest interface, representing classic salmonid spawning habitat. The number of transects depended on the availability of spawning habitat within the length of site walked.

The minimum flow providing spawning was estimated for each transect based on depth, velocity, and substrate suitability criteria. Where two transects were analyzed, the one requiring the lowest minimum spawning flow was used to represent the site. The spawning habitat suitability criteria used in the analysis are presented in Table 2-2. The durations over which spawning habitat must remained wetted by at least 0.1 ft of water are presented in Table 2-3 for two general incubation periods, corresponding to before and after March 1. The lengths of incubation reflected general temperature trends recorded at USGS gages for the region. Species specific biological periods over which spawning activity was considered possible based on information summarized in Appendix C were:

- a. Steelhead: from 12/1 through 3/31
- b. Coho: from 11/1 through 2/28
- c. Chinook: from 11/1 through 1/31

The protectiveness assessment included evaluating whether daily flows associated with each Flow Alternative Scenario adversely affected spawning habitat availability. As for the passage habitat analysis, it was not possible to completely partition out, or compare the effects of the MCD element on habitat availability from the effects of the MBF and diversion season elements. Professional judgment was therefore used to assess the protectiveness of the MBF and MCD element alternative criteria tested.

4.2.3 Methods for Assessing Effects on Juvenile Winter Rearing Habitat Needs

As discussed in Chapter 2 and Appendix D, juvenile anadromous salmonid winter rearing habitat was assumed to be protected if the flows provided by the MBF protected spawning and incubation habitat. High flow habitats and their accessibility could not be related directly to flow metrics given the high degree of site-specificity of the relationship. Such habitats were assumed to be protected if natural flow variability was preserved through the MCD element.

4.2.4 Methods for Assessing Effects on Outmigration Needs

Given the uncertainty discussed in Chapter 2 and Appendix D regarding clearly defining flowbased criteria protecting outmigration, it was not possible to identify a regional flow criterion that could be used to establish protectiveness. Instead, protectiveness was evaluated indirectly in terms of the effects of changing the end date of the diversion season relative to availability of pulse flows and seasonal increases in water temperature in the spring. The assessment relied primarily on existing literature.

4.2.5 Methods for Assessing Effects on Channel and Riparian Maintenance Needs

The analysis of protectiveness of channel and riparian maintenance flows involved estimating or hypothesizing changes in channel morphology and riparian condition that might occur from the different Policy element alternative criteria and the corresponding effects on anadromous salmonid habitat quantity and quality. The primary metric analyzed was the percent change in bankfull flow and the resulting changes in three fundamental morphologic attributes, bankfull depth, width, and surface grain size characteristics. This analysis was made based on a relationship derived from general gravel bed river data (Figure 2-1; details on derivation and rationale for using bankfull flow are given in Appendix D). However, the scatter of data used to generate the relations was large, resulting in uncertainty in the predictions of channel change. Increasing the level of confidence in such predictions would require extensive site-specific hydrograph and sediment transport analyses. Even then, additional uncertainty exists when attempting to relate morphologic changes to changes in anadromous salmonid habitat quantity and quality.

Therefore, protectiveness of channel and riparian maintenance flows was assumed to be provided by implementing a protective MBF and proposing a MCD that results in a relatively small level of channel morphology change. In the absence of clearly defined alternative criteria, the three cumulative diversion rate alternatives proposed by DFG-NMFS (15% of 20% winter daily exceedance flow; 5% of the 1.5 year flood) and MTTU (the diversion rate resulting in a half-day reduction in the duration of the MBF during the 1.5 year flood event), and the volume based CFII alternative proposed by DFG-NMFS, were evaluated for their effect on bankfull flow in terms of how they would change the 1.5 year flow magnitude in the validation sites. The

assessment relied primarily on existing literature for determining direct effects on channel form and riparian condition and in turn anadromous salmonid habitat.

4.2.6 Methods For Assessing Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity

As discussed in Chapter 2 and Appendix D, it was not possible to directly identify a regional flow criterion that could be used to protect estuarine habitat and provide ocean connectivity during the summer. Protectiveness was instead indirectly evaluated by comparing flow characteristics reported in the literature as being required for sand bar breaching, with the general level of base flows occurring during the diversion season associated with impaired Flow Alterative Scenarios.

4.3 HABITAT ANALYSIS RESULTS USED TO ASSESS PROTECTIVENESS

The results presented and discussed in this section were used as the basis for conclusions regarding the protectiveness of the three Policy elements restricting diversion on anadromous salmonid habitats.

4.3.1 Upstream Passage

Curves were developed that depicted the width of stream passable as a function of flow for each of the 13 validation sites (see Appendix H). In this case, habitat time series were derived by applying habitat-flow curves in Appendix H to flow time series for each site. An example of the resulting relationship is presented in Figure 4-5 for steelhead in Salmon Creek corresponding to the impaired flow time series depicted in Figure 4-3. The term 'habitat' refers to width of stream bed predicted to be passable that day. The data depicted in Figure 4-5 were used to determine the number of days that passage was possible, where for example any non-zero data point depicted in Figure 4-5 corresponded to a day with passage (the minimum passable width was set at 2 feet, where having wider passage lanes does not affect the ability to pass). The analysis focused on assessing changes in the total number of days that passage was predicted to be possible for each Flow Alternative Scenario (i.e., days with potentially successful passage opportunities).

The average number of days per year of potential upstream passage opportunities afforded by the unimpaired flow and each impaired Flow Alternative Scenario for all 13 validation sites are depicted by species in Figures 4-6 to 4-8 (based on data in Appendix I). Also presented in Appendix I are the results for the two water years with the fewest and most days of passage (these may not necessarily equate to wet and dry years, as the length and years of record vary among the gages).



Figure 4-5. Comparisons of habitat time series for steelhead trout upstream passage resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios (listed in Table 4-2), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph.



Figure 4-6. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for steelhead trout in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area.



Figure 4-7. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for coho salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area.



Figure 4-8. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on upstream passage opportunities for Chinook salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom), as a function of drainage area.

4.3.2 Spawning and Incubation

Curves were also developed of the relationships of the width of stream available for spawning as a function of flow for each of the 13 validation sites (see Appendix H). As for upstream passage, habitat time series were derived by applying spawning habitat-flow curves in Appendix H to flow time series for each site. Figure 4-9 depicts an example of the resulting relationship for steelhead in Salmon Creek corresponding to the impaired flow time series depicted in Figure 4-3. In this case, the term 'habitat' refers to the width of streambed with suitable depths, velocities and substrates available for a given day that stays wetted over the incubation season, thus providing for successful reproduction. The data depicted in Figure 4-9 can be used to assess effects in terms of the number of days that spawning habitat is provided, as well as relative changes in total habitat availability. For example, when unimpaired flows are relatively high, Flow Alternative Scenario 4 can be seen to result in a few days with more spawning habitat available than the other Flow Alternative Scenarios.

This analysis focused primarily on assessing changes in the total number of days that spawning habitat would be provided (i.e., days with potentially successful spawning opportunities; details on how spawning was determined to be successful are given in Appendices G and H), rather than an evaluation of the quantity of spawning habitat which would have required the placement and measurement of several more transects at each site. Accordingly, the total number of days was summed for each water year with complete unimpaired and impaired flow records, for each site. The average number of days per year with potential spawning opportunities afforded by the unimpaired flow and each impaired Flow Alternative Scenario for all 13 validation sites over all water years, are presented in Figures 4-10 to 4-12 (see Appendix I for details). Also presented in Appendix I are the results for the two water years with the fewest and most days with potentially successful spawning opportunities (these may not necessarily equate to wet and dry years, as the length and years of record vary among the gages).



Figure 4-9. Comparisons of habitat time series for steelhead trout spawning and incubation resulting from implementation of Flow Alternative Scenarios involving a MCD rate criterion (listed in Table 4-3), for the October 1 – March 31 period of WY 1971 in the Salmon Creek validation site. Lower graph is an expansion of box indicated in upper graph.



Figure 4-10. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for steelhead trout in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I.



Figure 4-11. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for coho salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I.



Figure 4-12. Predicted effects of the Flow Alternative Scenarios on spawning opportunities for Chinook salmon in the validation sites, expressed as average number of days per year (top) and percent change from estimated unimpaired flow conditions (bottom). Data are plotted against each site's drainage area and are summarized from information presented in Appendix I.

4.3.3 Juvenile Winter Rearing

There were no specific habitat-flow results for juvenile winter rearing habitat. As discussed in Chapter 2 and Appendix D, this habitat component was assumed protected by provision of spawning habitat through the MBF element and by maintaining natural flow variability through the MCD element.

4.3.4 Outmigration

The results of the literature review indicated that water velocity, temperature, level of smolt development, time of year and possibly turbidity can all influence the downstream migration of juvenile salmonids (Giorgi et al. 1985; Beeman and Rondorf 1992; Berggren and Filardo 1993; Achord et al. 1994; Buettner and Brimmer 1995; Skalski and Townsend 1999). Many of these factors are related to high flow and were considered when assessing protectiveness. There are primarily two ways described below in which diversion in the Policy area could adversely affect outmigration: through the effects of physical changes in flow rate on migration behavior, and through physiological effects of water temperature.

For example, the reduction in flow velocities caused by low to moderate rates of diversion in the Policy area has the potential to directly affect both (1) initiation of migration and (2) travel time of outmigrants as they head downstream to the ocean. The effect of reduced water velocity in the spring can be qualitatively evaluated by assuming that travel time is inversely proportional to water velocity. Average water velocities during spring runoff in Policy area streams may typically be between 3-10 ft/s (cf. Leopold et al. 1995), or 50-160 miles/day. Manning et al. (2005) tracked outmigrating steelhead smolts in the Russian River and observed travel speeds averaging around 9-12 miles/day. These speeds were similar to results from the previous year and for hatchery fish that exhibited speeds ranging from 3.7-12 miles/day, and appeared to be independent of differences in flow across years. Demko et al. (1998) observed travel speeds of Chinook smolts in the Central Valley ranging on the order of 5-7 miles/night. These speeds were generally less than average water particle speeds during high flow. However, Moser et al. (1991) noted faster, short-term travel speeds for coho of up to 36-64 miles/day, and longer duration speeds averaging 18 miles/day. Chinook migration rates have been observed in the Willamette River in Oregon to approximate 70 miles/day (Bradford et al. 1990). These rates are relatively fast, and most Policy area streams are comparatively short in length. Hence, the direct effects of flow reductions in Policy area streams during periods of smolt outmigration would not likely be biologically significant because they are unlikely to affect smolt swimming speeds and rates of downstream movement to an extent where delays in reaching the ocean would result in biologically meaningful consequences.

However, effects could still be indirectly manifest if flow reductions resulted in warming of water temperatures which can increase stress and incidence of disease. Temperatures of 15°C and

19°C approximate the limit to optimal juvenile salmon growth, and the approximate onset of feeding inhibition and avoidance during migration, respectively (ODEQ 1995; McCullough 1999). These temperatures are generally reached in Policy area streams between March-May (15°C) and April-July (19°C), respectively, depending on the stream and location in the channel network (USGS water quality data). Temperature preference has been correlated with optimal growth temperature, and the general preference of juvenile salmonids appears to be for temperatures 15°C and lower (McCullough 1999). Water temperatures around 15°C and higher have been found to cause premature smolting and/or de-smoltification (failure to smolt), which may influence the numbers of fish reaching the estuary and successful transition to saltwater. This phenomenon has been observed for steelhead, Chinook and coho juveniles, with steelhead smolts appearing to undergo reverse smoltification more readily at elevated temperatures than salmon species (Wedemeyer et al. 1980). Elevated water temperatures could thus affect steelhead smolts more strongly than coho and Chinook smolts in Policy area streams, although all three species would likely be susceptible to adverse effects of elevated temperatures beginning in March.

4.3.5 Channel and Riparian Maintenance

As discussed in Appendix D, the literature indicates that the 1.5-year flood magnitude, as derived from an annual maximum flood series, is a hydrologic metric that can be used as an estimate of the bankfull flow or effective discharge magnitude. The bankfull flow metric can be applied throughout a drainage basin, and is a surrogate that effectively integrates the effects of magnitude, frequency and duration of high flows forming the channel and affecting riparian condition.

The clearest conclusion that could be inferred from the analysis of channel and riparian maintenance flow needs is that a greater rate of diversion is less protective than a smaller rate, but it was not possible to identify a clear threshold between protective and non-protective diversion rates or volumes in the context of anadromous habitat needs. The MCD Policy element has the most significant impact on channel and riparian maintenance flows.

Table 4-4 summarizes predicted percent reductions of the 1.5 year flood magnitude caused by implementing each MCD alternative criterion as part of the Flow Alternative Scenarios, as estimated for the four validation sites with the longest stream gage records (see section F.4 in Appendix F for details). The 15% of the winter 20% exceedance flow rate and the comparable magnitude diversion rate proposed by MTTU (2000) are predicted to result in negligible channel change based on a comparison of the percent reductions in Table 4-4 with Figure 2-1. The CFII = 10% alternative criterion proposed in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines results in the greatest predicted change, at levels that according to Figure 2-1 could result in large changes in channel morphologic characteristics. Therefore, the CFII = 10% level does not appear to be regionally protective of channel maintenance flow needs. Based on professional judgment, the

5% of the 1.5 year flood magnitude appeared to have the potential to result in relatively small channel changes according to Figure 2-1 and be the closest of the MCD element alternative criteria to a protective regional channel maintenance threshold. Smaller diversion rates have a greater potential to be overly protective.

Table 4-4.	Estimated Reduction in the 1.5 Year Flood Peak Flow Rate Associated
	with Implementation of the Five Flow Alternative Scenarios, in Four
	Validation Sites with at Least Ten Years of Stream Flow Records.

		Percent Reduction in 1.5 Year Flood Magnitude by Flow Alternative Scenario					
	Unimpaired	Flow Alternative Scenario 1	Flow Alternative Scenario 2	Flow Alternative Scenario 3	Flow Alternative Scenario 4	Flow Alternative Scenario 5	
Validation Site	1.5 Year Flood (cfs)	(MCD1: 15% of 20% Winter Exceedance Flow)	(MCD4: Reduce MBF Duration for 1.5 Year Event by ½ Day)	(MCD1: 15% of 20% Winter Exceedance Flow)	(MCD2: 5% of 1.5 Year Flood Flow Rate)	(MCD3: CFII=10%)	
Albion R	1,017	1%	1%	1%	5%	30%	
Salmon Cr	1,439	1%	1%	1%	5%	20%	
Santa Rosa Cr	1,170	1%	1%	1%	5%	37%	
Warm Springs Cr	690	3%	2%	1%	5%	11%	

Hence, it was concluded in the analysis that specification of a protective maximum cumulative diversion limitation should involve an element of conservativeness, whereby a level is proposed that is considered by professional judgment to have a low risk of reducing channel size and surface grain size distribution over the long and short terms, respectively. Given the level of uncertainty in specifying a MCD that is protective of channel and riparian maintenance flow needs, it was concluded that effectiveness monitoring would be key to determining protectiveness in this context, particularly with respect to establishing whether additional water may be diverted.

4.3.6 Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity

The literature review indicates that sand bar closing generally occurs during the summer months. The reduction of flows during the fall months could potentially delay sand bar breaching. Presently, sand bar breaching is artificially induced in some systems to meet various management goals and ensure impacts to aquatic fauna are minimized. In the case of the Russian River, management of flows into the estuary involves coordinated flow releases from Warm Springs and Coyote Valley dams during the summer months. Management actions can include mechanical breaching of the sandbar at the mouth to allow adult Chinook and coho access to the river during dry and critical water supply conditions. Artificial breaching has allowed some adult Chinook salmon to enter the Russian River as early as August, although the majority of upstream migration generally occurs in October or November when water temperatures are more favorable. The overall objective of a present multiagency estuary management proposal (Russian River Estuary Flow-Related Habitat Project; Cook 2004, Entrix 2004) is to improve adult passage and juvenile rearing habitat for listed salmonid species, while preventing flooding. Given the extent to which the Russian River and other affected estuaries are managed by artificial breaching, the Policy is unlikely to have direct biological effects in those systems.

In systems not managed by artificial breaching, the literature review indicated that the amount of flow required to breach the blocking sand bar tends to reflect a minimum flow level, not the peak magnitude of a pulse flow event during the fall. There does not appear to be one flow level associated with breaching because of various other physical factors involved. Findings in the literature and gage data suggest that the range of base flows occurring during the winter period typically exceeds the flow at which sand bar blockage occurs. For example, estimates of the flow needed in the Navarro River to keep the mouth open throughout the summer range from around 5 cfs (Cannata 1998) to 25 cfs (Fisk 1955). Mean monthly flow during the winter period at the Navarro River gage generally exceeds 30 cfs from October through June (USGS station 1146800). October flows in some years are less than 5 cfs, but on average the base flow exceeds the flow needed to breach the sand bar. As another example, the Mattole River sand bar was observed to close when flows were between 44-133 cfs at the Petrolia gage (USGS station 1146900; MRC 1995). Mean monthly flow during the winter period at this gage generally exceeds 200 cfs from October through June, although October flows in some years are less than 44 cfs. Specification of a minimum bypass flow that equals or exceeds winter base flow levels would ensure sand bar breaching dates would not differ from unimpaired flow conditions.

This page intentionally left blank.

5. PROTECTIVENESS OF DIVERSION SEASON ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA

This chapter analyzes the protectiveness of diversion season element alternative criteria for anadromous salmonids and their habitat in the Policy area. The analysis interprets results identified in Chapter 4, Appendix D, and in other relevant literature. The analysis focused particularly on differences in the five Flow Alternative Scenarios (Tables 4-2 and 5-1) with unimpaired flow conditions.

Table 5-1.	Description of Diversion Season Element Alternative Criteria Evaluated in the
	Analysis of Protectiveness.

Diversion Season Alternatives	Description	Impaired Flow Analysis
DS1 (DFG-NMFS 2002)	12/15-3/31	Flow Alternative Scenario 1, 3, & 5
DS2 (MTTU 2000)	Year Around	Flow Alternative Scenario 2
DS3 (Consulting Engineers 2006 Scoping Comments)	10/1-3/31	Flow Alternative Scenario 4

5.1 ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVENESS

The times of year when new diversions can be permitted in the Policy area without adversely impacting anadromous salmonids are generally restricted to the winter high flow period, which generally corresponds to the months of December through March, although diversion may also be possible in the late fall months during storm events. During the diversion season, primary instream flow needs are protected by appropriate MBF and MCD element criteria. The winter diversion season specification also reflects the need to prevent permitting further diversion during the critical late spring, summer, and early fall months when low flows may substantially limit juvenile habitat quantity and quality in Policy area streams. Therefore, the protectiveness of the diversion season element hinges on specification of appropriate starting and ending dates that preclude the potential for adverse effects of winter diversion. The year-round alternative (DS2) is therefore not considered a feasible option.

5.1.1 Upstream Passage

Upstream passage needs have the potential to affect the beginning date of the diversion season. Upstream migration of anadromous salmonids in the Policy Area generally begins first with Chinook in September or October depending on the stream. Coho begin migrating upstream in substantial numbers in October, followed by steelhead in November (see Appendix C for details). The upstream migration of each species generally occurs opportunistically as flow conditions allow. Low flow years may be associated with infrequent upstream movement triggered by suboptimal flow increases, whereas wet years with numerous high flow events may

allow a more even distribution of fish entry, upstream migration, and spawning (e.g., Tetzlaff et al. 2005). With protective MBF and MCD elements in place, the effect of the diversion season element should be minor on hydraulic conditions affecting upstream passage.

Water temperatures can influence upstream migration behavior during the October-December period when stream flows are increasing, and air and river temperatures are falling (NCRWQCB 2000). Adults generally do not migrate upstream until water temperatures are suitable, typically below 21°C (McCullough 1999). Water temperatures in Policy area streams are generally near or above this level in September and below this level in October (USGS data). Thus, although stream flow reductions can increase periods of warmer water temperatures, diversions made after October 1 have a lower probability of interfering with upstream passage ability than diversions occurring earlier. As such, there does not appear to be a distinguishable difference in terms of protectiveness between the DS1 and DS3 alternative criterion start dates to the winter diversion season. Comparison of the results of the different Flow Alternative Scenarios in Appendix I indicates that the diversion season length has less influence on passage opportunities than the MBF and MCD. This suggests that the earlier diversion date (October 1) should be equally protective compared with the December 15 date, as long as protective MBF and MCD criteria are met. For example in Franz Creek (Figure I-12), it was predicted that the combined effect of lower MBF and higher MCD under Flow Alternative Scenario 4 would consist of substantial reductions in passage opportunities compared with Flow Alternative Scenario 2. At the same time, Flow Alternative Scenario 3, which involved the most protective combination of diversion season, MBF and MCD (see Table 3-1), does not substantially reduce passage opportunities compared with unimpaired flow conditions, in terms of number of days per year.

5.1.2 Spawning and Incubation Habitat

The major spawning activity in Policy area streams generally begins around October 1 and continues through the end of March (Chapter 4; Appendix C). Base flows are highest during the December-March period and provide the greatest opportunity for spawning.

With respect to the DS1 and DS3 alternative criteria diversion start dates (October 1, or December 15), redds that are created during early fall freshets in October and November could be constructed in any portion of the channel containing suitable depth, velocity and substrate characteristics, including channel margins as well as deeper channel segments (e.g., thalweg). Absent appropriate MCD and MDF criteria during these periods, redds constructed along the margins could be susceptible to dewatering if flows decrease after spawning is completed. Conversely, redds constructed near the thalweg could be more prone to scour during winter high flows (MTTU 2000). However, allowing a diversion start date of October 1 could benefit redds constructed near channel margins as well as deeper areas, provided appropriate MBF and MCD rate elements are met during this time. Indeed, comparison of results for the different Flow Alternative Scenarios (see Appendix I) indicated that diversion season length has less

influence on spawning habitat availability for all three anadromous salmonid species than the MBF and MCD. For example in Franz Creek (Figure I-12), it was predicted that the combined effect of lower MBF and higher MCD under Flow Alternative Scenario 4 would consist of substantial reductions in spawning habitat availability compared with Flow Alternative Scenario 2. At the same time, Flow Alternative Scenario 3, which involves the most protective combination of diversion season, MBF and MCD, does not substantially reduce spawning opportunities compared with unimpaired flow conditions in terms of number of days per year. This suggests it should be possible to divert prior to December 15 as long as protective MBF and MCD criteria are met.

Chinook salmon are a special case and warrant a separate discussion. Because Chinook salmon migrate and spawn earlier than the other anadromous salmonid species, they would be most vulnerable to effects of diversion prior to December 15 due in part to their larger size and higher flow requirements. However, Chinook in the Policy area tend to spawn in larger channels, which require proportionally less water than smaller channels relative to mean annual flow. Therefore, maintaining base flows in upstream channels that are protective of steelhead spawning habitat needs after October 1 should also be moderately to fully protective of Chinook spawning needs downstream depending on the stream (see Appendix E). Also, because major spawning activity of Chinook and coho generally occurs in November and later, water temperatures should not be adversely affected by the earlier alternative criterion diversion start date.

5.1.3 Juvenile Winter Rearing Habitat

As long as an MBF element protective of spawning habitat is implemented, the start and end dates of the diversion season should not influence the protectiveness of juvenile rearing habitat. In general, upper water temperature thresholds for juvenile salmonid rearing tend to be higher than for adult upstream migration and smolt outmigration (cf. McCullough 1999). Hence, diversion season start and end dates that are protective of these habitat needs should also be protective of juvenile winter rearing habitat needs in terms of physical living space and water temperature.

5.1.4 Outmigration

Since the difference in diversion period between alternatives DS1 and DS3 only involves the start date, and most juvenile outmigration occurs in the spring, the effects of an earlier start date (October 1) should not reduce the overall protectiveness of the Policy relative to smolt outmigration. High flow events can still occur in April and later, thus it is necessary to assess the protectiveness of the March 31 end date proposed. The literature and available data indicated that March 31 is approximately the latest ending date of the diversion season that may be considered protective, as discussed below. Considerations other than physical habitat space influence protectiveness of the end date of the diversion period. Downstream water velocity and

water quality are two important factors potentially influencing migration timing/rate and smolting processes, as described below.

Flows tend to drop off markedly in Policy area streams in April. Considerable numbers of salmon and steelhead smolts that depend on high flows complete their downstream migration through June. However, as indicated in Chapter 4, the effect of flow reduction on travel time is unlikely to be a critical determinant of outmigration success. Diversions during the post March 31 period may influence downstream migration success, by reducing the flow needed to stimulate and facilitate downstream migration.

The protectiveness of the Policy diversion season ending date is thus influenced predominantly by the relation between flow and water temperature. Increased water temperatures may interfere with smolting and fish health. Most coho salmon, steelhead, and Chinook salmon migrate downstream before highly stressful temperatures occur. Coho and steelhead tend to outmigrate as yearlings or older individuals in the Policy area, whereas Chinook emigrate primarily as young of year, including in the larger Russian River (Entrix 2004). Because older smolts tend to outmigrate first, high flows later in the outmigration season may be most important for later migrating, younger fish (Quinn 2005). Chase et al. (2003) noted downstream migration of Chinook smolts in the Russian River to peak through the first half of May and then slowly decline through June in 2002, and steelhead smolts to migrate primarily in mid-March through April. As discussed in Chapter 4, water temperatures have the potential to adversely affect smolt outmigration success in April and later, depending on the year and location. Late migrating steelhead and Chinook salmon can encounter stressful temperatures with adverse results, with later migrating Chinook being at greatest risk to decreases in spring flows (Entrix 2002). For all species, allowing additional diversion could lead to smolts being increasingly vulnerable to adverse water temperature conditions if new permits are approved for April or later.

The net conclusion based on the information reviewed is that extending the diversion past March 31 would not be protective of downstream migrant steelhead and salmon. Consequently, the year-round diversion season proposed by MTTU (2000) could also be considered as nonprotective for outmigration in addition to summer rearing habitat.

5.1.5 Channel and Riparian Maintenance

The majority of channel and riparian maintenance flows occur after the first few fall storms, usually after October 1 and before March 31. As long as a protective MCD element is implemented, the start and end dates of the diversion season should not influence the protectiveness of the Policy towards ensuring suitable channel and riparian maintenance flows.

5.1.6 Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity

Base flows after October 1 appear to be generally sufficient to promote sand bar breaching. Base flows in September may not be sufficient. Hence, an October 1 diversion season start date should be protective of freshwater entry by Chinook salmon, which is the earliest species to return to spawn. The end date of the Policy would need to extend into the summer before sand bar blockages would be promoted. Consequently, other factors than estuary habitat and ocean connectivity would be expected to control specification of a protective diversion season end date.

5.2 SUMMARY OF PROTECTIVENESS

Table 5-2 summarizes the protectiveness attributes of Policy diversion season element alternative criteria. Key habitat needs influencing the protectiveness assessment of the diversion season element are adult upstream passage, steelhead incubation during the late spring, and smolt outmigration, in terms of starting and ending dates of diversion.

A diversion season start date of October 1 would not be expected to be any less protective of upstream migration needs of anadromous salmonids than a December 15 start date, as long as protective MBF and MCD elements of the policy are also in place that protect upstream passage, spawning, winter rearing, and channel and riparian maintenance needs. Prior to October 1, water temperatures could be adversely affected by diversion leading to delay in upstream migration, and diversion may also potentially lead to delay in sand bar breaching dates. Permitting of new diversions should thus be avoided prior to about October 1. After March 31, water temperature increases may exacerbate adverse effects of diversion on incubation and smolting processes and survival, and thus permitting of new diversions should be avoided later in the spring.

Recommendation:

	Element Alternative Chiena.					
	Policy Element: Diversion Season					
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis				
DS1: 12/15 – 3/31	Yes	Start date does not contribute to adverse water quality conditions, and flows must be protected by appropriate MBF and MCD element alternative criteria. End date avoids adverse water temperature effects on steelhead incubation and smolt outmigration.				
DS2: Year Round	No	New diversions cannot be permitted during the late spring, summer, and early fall because instream flows during this period are generally limiting anadromous salmonid rearing habitat quantity and quality in the Policy area.				
DS3: 10/1 – 3/31	Yes	Start date does not contribute to adverse water quality conditions, and flows must be protected by appropriate MBF and MCD element alternative criteria. End date avoids adverse water temperature effects on steelhead incubation and smolt outmigration.				

Apply the 10/1 – 3/31 DS3 alternative criterion

Table 5-2.Summary of Protectiveness of Instream Flow Policy Diversion SeasonElement Alternative Criteria.

6. PROTECTIVENESS OF MINIMUM BYPASS FLOW ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA

This chapter analyzes the protectiveness of the Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) element alternative criteria identified in Chapter 3 for anadromous salmonids and their habitat in the Policy area. The analysis interprets results identified in Chapter 4, Appendix D, and in other relevant literature. The analysis focused particularly on differences between unimpaired flow conditions and impaired flow conditions under each of the five Flow Alternative Scenarios (Table 6-1). The analysis indicates that the MBF has the potential to impact primarily upstream migration, spawning success, and winter rearing habitat availability of anadromous salmonids.

Minimum Bypass Flow Alternatives	Description	Impaired Flow Analysis
MBF1 (DFG-NMFS 2002)	February median daily flow	Flow Alternative Scenario 1, 5
MBF2 (MTTU 2000)	10% exceedance flow	Flow Alternative Scenario 2
MBF3 (Upper MBF)	Varies with drainage area and mean annual flow, protective of best spawning habitat conditions in all streams	Flow Alternative Scenario 3
MBF4 (Lower MBF)	Varies with drainage area and mean annual flow, lowest possible limit of protectiveness	Flow Alternative Scenario 4

Table 6-1.	Description of Minimum Bypass Flow Element Alternative Criteria Evaluated
	in the Analysis of Protectiveness.

6.1 ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVENESS

The analysis below indicates that the MBF has the potential to impact primarily upstream migration, spawning success, and winter rearing habitat availability of anadromous salmonids.

6.1.1 Upstream Passage

Based on data described in Chapter 4 and Appendix E, the provision of spawning habitat appears to require more flow than passage on a regional basis, and therefore protection of the former should protect the latter. For example, steelhead and coho passage opportunities are generally provided more frequently in the validation sites than spawning opportunities (see graphs in Appendix I). Indeed, suitable passage conditions were afforded for steelhead on more days than suitable spawning habitat in ten out of twelve validation sites for unimpaired flow conditions (one site was not assessed for spawning habitat).

The data analysis also suggests that on a daily basis, suitable passage conditions in most Policy area streams are more limited for Chinook than for steelhead and coho (Figures 4-6 to

4-8 and Appendix I). The analysis indicates that passage conditions for Chinook are suboptimal under unimpaired flows in the validation sites, where passage depths are below the minimum depth criterion in Table 2-1 but still provide for limited passage under more stressful conditions (see range of alternate criteria in Appendix G). These results appear consistent with the existing distribution of Chinook in the Policy area, where the species is generally restricted to larger mainstem channels compared with the broader historical distributions of steelhead and coho.

As a related consideration, anadromous salmonids require holding habitat while they migrate upstream to spawn. Adult salmon and steelhead may enter spawning streams several weeks prior to spawning and seek out pools and cover to hold until flow conditions are suitable and/or they have matured sexually. For example, Bratovich and Kelley (1988) noted that most spawning in the Lagunitas Creek system occurred from 3 weeks to a month after adult fish had entered freshwater. Importantly, the provision of suitable passage conditions by the MBF element will allow access to important holding areas.

Comparisons of the reduction in average number of days per year with suitable passage conditions against those provided under unimpaired flow conditions suggest that Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 4 (described in Table 4-2) are least protective for upstream passage and that Flow Alternative Scenario 3 is most protective (Figures 4-6 to 4-8). Flow Alternative Scenario 4 typically resulted in an approximate 30-60% reduction in the number of suitable upstream passage days in most validation sites for all three species. Flow Alternative Scenario 2 appeared to be less protective than Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 3 in two of the smallest streams (i.e., drainage areas < about 4 mi²).

Because results for the upstream passage analysis are based on Flow Alternative Scenarios that combine different Policy element alternatives to generate a flow time series (see Table 4-2), it is not possible to attribute the above results solely to the effects of the MBF. However, some inferences can be made from the results depicted in Figures 4-6 to 4-8 based on sites where the MCD levels of two Flow Alternative Scenarios are of comparable magnitude (see Table 4-3) but MBF levels are different. For example, Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 3 have the same MCD rate and diversion season for all sites, but different MBF levels, thereby allowing an evaluation of relative protectiveness of the MBFs with unimpaired flow conditions. In this case, the upper MBF in Flow Alternative Scenario 3 appears more protective as indicated by the greater number of sites afforded suitable passage conditions than in Flow Alternative Scenario 1 (Figures 4-6 to 4-8). As a second example based on site comparisons in Table 4-3, the Salmon Creek, Franz Creek, Albion River, and Santa Rosa Creek sites have similar MCD rates for Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 2, but the DFG-NMFS (2002) MBF in Flow Alternative Scenario 1 is about half that of the MTTU (2000) MFB in Flow Alternative Scenario 2 and is correspondingly less protective of upstream passage.

Flow Alternative Scenario 4, which includes the lower MBF4 alternative criterion for the MBF, resulted in substantial reductions in passage opportunities (Figures 4-6 to 4-8). While Flow Alternative Scenario 4 also includes a MCD rate that allows the greatest cumulative diversion of the four flow rate based element alternatives, it appears that the lower MBF4 level likely contributes to the overall reduction in suitable passage conditions. The MBF4 element alternative appears to result in suboptimal passage depth conditions for both Chinook and steelhead in most basins (see Appendix E, and the comparison of upstream passage requirements with criteria listed in Table G-3 in Appendix G).

The observations above suggest that the upper MBF (MBF3) alternative criterion contained in Flow Alternative Scenario 3 appears to be most protective of upstream passage needs in all size basins.

6.1.2 Spawning Habitat and Incubation

Protectiveness of the MBF for spawning and incubation habitat is, to a certain extent, facilitated by spawning behavior of anadromous salmonids. In general, steelhead and coho choose redd locations that are rarely exposed by falling stream levels in California coastal streams (Shapovalov and Taft 1954; Bratovich and Kelley 1988; Trush 1991). This phenomenon likely reflects fish waiting to begin spawning until the storm hydrograph is in recession. Water levels typically fall rapidly following the peak flow and then fall off more gradually as the source of water switches to groundwater storage within the basin (Linsley et al. 1982). Spawning activity seems to begin nearer the inflection point of the descending limb than the peak (Shapovalov and Taft 1954), and thus likely represents an adaptation to characteristics of groundwater input, rather than the more variable surface runoff. Spawners that use areas that are inundated and suitable at higher flows and become exposed at lower flows, would likely experience a selective pressure against that trait. Moreover, steelhead and coho spawning sites are frequently near riffle heads, in pool or run tails (Shapovalov and Taft 1954; Bratovich and Kelley 1988; Trush 1991). These sites are less prone to dewatering during flow reductions because the riffle crest downstream prevents the water level from decreasing to levels where redds become exposed (i.e., depth is greater than zero when there is no flow).

Higher MBFs, in addition to providing more suitable spawning habitat, should also be more protective against redd scour than lower flows. In general, under low flow conditions, redd construction may be concentrated closer to the channel thalweg and in deeper water areas closer to the upstream edge of a pool tail (i.e., closer to a pool). Redds constructed near the channel thalweg and near the upstream edge of the pool tail would likely be most susceptible to scour during high flows (Bratovich and Kelley 1988; MTTU 2000; DeVries 2000). Thus, if MBFs are too low during the spawning period, many redds may be constructed in the deepest regions of the channel where the stream bed may be more prone to scour (although not all thalweg locations are prone to deep scour depending on stream-wise position of the redd in the

spawning bed; DeVries 2000). MTTU (2000) noted that a minimum bypass flow would be more protective if it allowed for some spawning to occur in locations other than the deepest spawning habitat available. A higher MBF would therefore be more protective from this perspective.

The validation site analysis indicated that Flow Alternative Scenarios 1, 2 and 3 provide comparable frequencies of spawning day opportunities for steelhead and coho in streams draining more than about 4 mi², and for Chinook in streams draining more than about 8 mi² (Figures 4-10 to 4-12). In these cases, the three Flow Alternative Scenarios do not appreciably reduce the availability of days that spawning is possible compared with unimpaired flows. The greatest differences in spawning day opportunities were observed for Flow Alternative Scenario 4 over all sites. For drainage areas less than about 4 mi², the analysis indicated that Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 2 had large reductions in successful spawning opportunities compared with unimpaired flow conditions.

The reductions in spawning opportunities observed above can be attributed in large part to the magnitude of the MBF calculated for the four MBF alternatives. The reason can be seen in Figure 6-1. This figure compares the four MBF alternatives against minimum spawning flow needs at the validation sites. The minimum spawning flow needs derived from field measurements are indicated by the diamonds. Predicted minimum bypass flows using MBF1 and MBF2 are shown by the squares and open circles, respectively. Predicted minimum bypass flows using MBF3 and MBF4 are indicated by the solid lines.

Figure 6-1 shows that MBF2, part of Flow Alternative Scenario 2, and MBF1, part of Flow Alternative Scenario 1, fall below minimum spawning flow needs for drainage areas less than about 4 mi² and 5 mi², respectively. Thus, these two hydrologic MBF metrics would not likely be protective of spawning habitat availability in streams with smaller drainage areas. They do appear to be protective in larger streams.

In contrast, the MBF3 alternative criterion (part of Flow Alternative Scenario 3) is associated with the smallest change in the number of spawning days compared with unimpaired flows, around +/- 10% (Figures 4-10 to 4-12), and also envelopes most of the spawning habitat-flow needs determined for the validation sites (Figure 6-1). This demonstrates the overall protectiveness of the MBF3 criterion. In addition, Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 3 have the same MCD criteria, but Flow Alternative Scenario 1 was less effective in estimating minimum flow needs. This indicates that the MBF has a strong influence on spawning habitat availability, particularly in streams draining less than about 4-5 mi² (Figure 6-1).

Figure 6-1 shows the MBF4 criterion (part of Flow Alternative Scenario 4) can be protective of spawning conditions in some but not all streams. The habitat analysis indicated that in many of the larger streams, the MBF4 criterion is associated with a decreased frequency of predicted



Figure 6-1. Comparisons of minimum bypass flow alternative criteria with protective spawning habitat-flow needs determined for the validation sites for steelhead, coho, and Chinook spawning, distinguished by drainage area. The spawning flow is scaled by the approximate unimpaired mean annual flow.

depths and velocities over steelhead and coho spawning substrates that meet suitability criteria (see Table 2-2), compared with other alternative criteria. Of the three species, the MBF4 criterion appears to be well below the flow needed for Chinook salmon spawning habitat (i.e., the diamonds) in more validation sites than for steelhead or coho (Figure 6-1).

6.1.3 Winter Rearing Habitat

As discussed in Chapter 4 and Appendix D, this habitat need is assumed to be protected by a MBF element that also protects spawning habitat.

6.1.4 Outmigration

The MBF element generally does not affect outmigration flow needs. As discussed in Chapter 5, the diversion season Policy element protects outmigrating smolts from the potential of adverse effects related to flow and water temperature during base flows resulting from Policy implementation. The need for pulse flows to stimulate and facilitate outmigration is affected by the MCD element.

6.1.5 Channel and Riparian Maintenance

The MBF element does not affect channel and riparian maintenance flow needs, which are affected by the MCD element.

6.1.6 Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity

All of the MBF alternatives are generally protective of estuary habitat and ocean connectivity. As described in Chapter 4, the flow required to breach sand bars blocking river mouths is generally less than the winter base flow. All MBF alternatives appear to result in preserving winter base flows based on hydrologic analysis of the validation sites. Estuarine habitat conditions for juveniles generally do not become adverse until the summer. However, all of the MBF alternative criteria are protective of this anadromous salmonid habitat flow need if a protective winter diversion season alternative is used.

6.2 SUMMARY OF PROTECTIVENESS

Table 6-2 summarizes the protectiveness attributes of each MBF element alternative criterion considered. The results indicate that it is more protective on a regional basis to apply a conservative MBF threshold for administering water right permit applications under the Policy, and require site specific studies to determine if lower bypass flows might still be protective. Because a regionally protective Policy inherently results in over-protecting some streams (e.g., see Figure D-5 in Appendix D), application of the MBF3 alternative criterion would likely result in many cases where additional study could indicate that lower bypass flows might still be protective.

	Policy Element:	Minimum Bypass Flow
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis
MBF1: February Median Daily Flow	Partially	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs in streams draining more than about 5 mi ² . Under-protective in smaller streams.
MBF2: 10% Exceedance Flow	Partially	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs in streams draining more than about 4 mi ² . Under-protective in smaller streams.
MBF3: <u>Drainage Area (DA¹) < 290 mi²</u> : $Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$ <u>Drainage Area > 290 mi²</u> : $Q_{MBF} = 0.6 Q_m$	Yes	Generally protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs across a wide variety of stream sizes in the region. Protects winter rearing habitat as well. Does no affect outmigration, channel and riparian maintenance, and estuarine habitat flow needs.
Q _m = unimpaired mean annual flow (cfs); For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy		
MBF4: <u>Drainage Area < 0.11 mi²</u> : $Q_{MBF} = 8.7 Q_m (DA)^{-0.47}$ <u>Drainage Area = 0.11-500 mi²</u> : $Q_{MBF} = 5.1 Q_m (DA)^{-0.71}$ <u>Drainage Area ≥ 500 mi²</u> : $Q_{MBF} = 0.06 Q_m$ For streams above anadromous habitat, DA is determined at the upstream limit of anadromy	No	Protective of upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs in some streams, but a majority of streams in the region are under-protected with respect to upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs for steelhead and coho. Appears to under-protect Chinook upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs in nearly all streams. In all cases, the MBF is sufficiently low that adverse effects could occur to upstream passage and spawning opportunities even with small diversion rates.
Biological Recommendation:	Apply Altern	ative MBF3

Table 6-2. Summary of Protectiveness of Minimum Bypass Flow (MBF) Alternatives.

¹ Drainage area (DA) is evaluated in square miles.

This page intentionally left blank.
7. PROTECTIVENESS OF MAXIMUM CUMULATIVE DIVERSION ELEMENT ALTERNATIVE CRITERIA

This chapter analyzes the protectiveness of the maximum cumulative diversion (MCD) element alternative criteria identified in Chapter 3 for anadromous salmonids and their habitat in the Policy area. The analysis interprets results identified in Chapter 4, Appendix D, and in other relevant literature. The analysis focused particularly on differences between unimpaired flow conditions and impaired flow conditions under each of the five Flow Alternative Scenarios (Table 7-1).

Maximum Cumulative Diversion Alternatives	Description	Impaired Flow Analysis
MCD1 (DFG-NMFS 2002)	MCD Rate = 15% of 20% winter (12/15-3/31) exceedance flow	Flow Alternative Scenario 1, 3
MCD2 (DFG-NMFS 2002)	MCD Rate = 5% of 1.5 year flood peak flow	Flow Alternative Scenario 4
MCD3 (DFG-NMFS 2002)	MCD Volume = CFII = 10% of estimated unimpaired runoff (no restriction on diversion rate)	Flow Alternative Scenario 5
MCD4 (MTTU 2000)	MCD Rate = calculated from site- specific hydrograph for a reduction in duration of MBF rate by ½ day during 1.5 year event	Flow Alternative Scenario 2

Table 7-1.	Description of Maximum Cumulative Diversion Element Alternative Criteria
	Evaluated in the Analysis of Protectiveness.

7.1 ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVENESS

Depending on the timing and magnitude of the extraction relative to the instantaneous instream flow, individual diversions can have local effects on anadromous salmonids and their habitat in the downstream vicinity of the POD. The combined effect of multiple diversions upstream also influences the cumulative amount of water that flows at downstream locations, referred to in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines as POI. Diversions can therefore have cumulative impacts on downstream resources as well as local impacts. The primary anadromous salmonid habitat needs potentially affected are addressed below. The analyses below and in Chapters 4 and 6 indicate that the MCD element has the potential to impact primarily channel and riparian maintenance flows, although upstream migration, spawning success, and winter rearing habitat

availability of anadromous salmonids could be further adversely affected if an unprotective MBF element is applied.

7.1.1 Upstream Passage

Upstream passage of anadromous salmonids tend to be more restricted by low flows in smaller channels, where suitable passage depths are hydrologically less frequent, than in larger channels (MTTU 2000; R2 2004; Lang et al. 2004). The analysis in Chapter 6 and Appendix E indicates, however, that the MCD element should not appreciably affect upstream passage opportunities for steelhead and coho in most smaller channels when an MBF element is used that is protective of upstream passage flow needs based on the conservative depth criteria in Table 2-1. The validation site analysis results suggest that the primary way diversions could influence upstream passage under the Policy would be if the MCD element allows substantial reduction in peak flood magnitude earlier in the late fall/winter diversion season in some small streams if the MBF used is less than that truly needed for good passage conditions. In the extreme case, when flows greater than the MBF are completely diverted as is assumed for the worst case application under Flow Alternative Scenario 5, the impaired hydrograph would be essentially 'flat-lined' nearer the MBF level, akin to 'lopping off the top.' If this mode of diversion occurs for long enough (e.g., in dry and possibly average flow years), upstream passage opportunities of earlier migrating Chinook in particular could be reduced in frequency compared with unimpaired flow conditions.

The adverse effect of flat-lining the peak hydrograph, in the manner proposed for the worst case application of the CFII metric, can be seen in the validation site analysis results depicted in Figures 4-7 and 4-8 for Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 5. Flow Alternative Scenario 5 results in more reductions in coho and Chinook salmon passage opportunities compared with unimpaired and Flow Alternative Scenario 1 instream flows. It should be noted that the only difference between Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 5 is the use of different maximum cumulative diversion alternatives. They have the same MBFs and diversion seasons. Flow Alternative Scenario 1 applies a maximum diversion rate, whereas Flow Alternative Scenario 5 involves the worst case, unlimited diversion rate starting at the beginning of the diversion season until the CFII = 10% limit is reached. Since these two Flow Alternative Scenarios have a common diversion season start date of December 15, it is likely that applying an earlier start date (e.g., October 1) to Flow Alternative Scenario 5 could result in an even greater reduction in passage opportunities for coho and Chinook salmon because stream flows are generally higher for the month or so after December 15 than for the equivalent length period after October 1. A significant fraction of each species' run migrates upstream between October 1 and December 15. Effects would be expected to be most pronounced in dry and average years when it can take up to 60 days or more after December 15 for the CFII to reach 10%. Hence, of the alternative criteria for the MCD element, the worst case, flat-lining method of diversion used when applying the CFII alternative criterion appears to have the greatest potential to reduce

upstream passage opportunities for coho and Chinook in smaller stream channels, particularly when a regionally unprotective MBF element is implemented.

Other inferences can be made from the results depicted in Figures 4-6 to 4-8 based on sites where the MBF levels of two Flow Alternative Scenarios are comparable in magnitude in Table 4-3 and the MCD rates are different. For example, in the Dunn Creek and Dry Creek Tributary sites, the MBF levels for Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 2 are similar, but the MCD rate differs, where for Flow Alternative Scenario 1 it is higher in Dunn Creek and lower in Dry Creek than for Flow Alternative Scenario 2. In both cases, the higher MCD rate results in fewer passage opportunities in the respective streams for steelhead and coho (the streams are generally too small to support Chinook). In addition, the MCD rates in Pine Gulch Creek and Warm Springs Creek are generally higher for Flow Alternative Scenario 3 than Flow Alternative Scenario 1. Steelhead passage opportunities are fewer for Flow Alternative Scenario 3 in Pine Gulch Creek and comparable in Warm Springs Creek. Coho passage opportunities are comparable in both streams. These results suggest that upstream passage opportunities are less vulnerable to effects of diversions allowed by the MCD when the most protective MBF alternative criterion is applied (MBF3, part of Flow Alternative Scenario 3) than for the other MBF alternative criteria with which increased diversion rates are more likely to result in reduced passage opportunities.

7.1.2 Spawning and Incubation Habitat

The validation site analysis results for the MBF element in Chapter 6 indicated that diversion can adversely affect the availability of anadromous salmonid spawning habitat primarily when the MBF element is not protective. Use of a protective MBF criterion for spawning according to the conservative habitat suitability criteria in Table 2-2 should ensure that spawning habitat would remain available at some locations in a stream even at maximum cumulative diversions that are higher than the MCD1 alternative.

Figures 4-10 and 4-11 show that in a few cases, a less restrictive MCD which allows more diversion leads to lower peak flows that are predicted to provide more favorable conditions for steelhead and coho spawning. These cases are indicated by the points in the lower graphs of Figures 4-10 and 4-11 that plot as positive changes, where the number of days with spawning opportunities increase over unimpaired flow conditions. The result reflects additional time during the rising and descending limbs of event hydrographs in which the diversion of flow provides more spawning habitat (via provision of suitable depths and velocities over spawning gravels) than would otherwise exist.

7.1.3 Winter Rearing Habitat

As discussed in Chapter 4 and Appendix D, this habitat need is assumed to be protected by an MBF element that also protects spawning habitat.

7.1.4 Outmigration

The importance of flow for downstream passage was concluded in Chapters 4 and 5 and Appendix D to be minor for initiating and facilitating outmigration, as long as the diversion season ends before increasing water temperatures become an issue and, as well, there are still freshets. All of the MCD element alternative criteria result in the maintenance of flow pulses later in the diversion season and thus, would not be expected to adversely affect outmigration. By maintaining natural hydrograph variability and the associated stimulus for migration, flows that serve a channel maintenance function would also be generally sufficient for downstream passage at any point in the drainage network system. Prior to March 31, delays in migration and temperature effects do not appear to be significant, and thus downstream passage is not likely an important factor on which to base the MCD criterion. Consequently, all of the MCD alternative criteria can be considered to be protective of outmigration flow needs subject to the constraint of also having a protective diversion season element.

7.1.5 Channel and Riparian Maintenance

There are two approaches embodied in the MCD alternative criteria in which diversions may be managed to protect natural hydrograph functions, with varying effects on channel maintenance processes. In both approaches, water may be extracted when instream flows exceed the MBF. In the first approach, a fixed MCD rate may be permitted once instream flows exceed the threshold MBF (analyzed as Flow Alternative Scenarios 1-4). In the second approach, water may be extracted above the MBF threshold at any rate but total extractions are limited by the MCD volume (analyzed as Flow Alternative Scenario 5). As seen in Appendices F and J, the second approach allows more water to be diverted than the first, in terms of both volume and rate, and can thus have greater effects on channel processes and habitat availability. The second approach can result in a reduction of peak stream flows to the MBF, or "flat-lining," which can adversely affect channel and riparian conditions. The first approach better preserves hydrograph variability in terms of frequency of channel modifying events, and thus would likely be more protective of anadromous salmonid habitat. However, what the levels of MCD rate and volume criteria should be to ensure protectiveness of channel and riparian maintenance flow needs are uncertain, as discussed in Appendix D.

7.1.5.1 Channel Maintenance Flows

Changes in Channel Size

The MCD element alternative criteria generally limit diversions in a manner such that bedload transporting flows still occur. However, the results described in Appendices D and F, and presented in Figure 2-1 and Table 4-4, suggest that specification of a relatively low magnitude MCD rate or volume will over the long term result in channel adjustments toward establishment of a smaller channel for a given basin size and available runoff volumes, and thus reduced habitat area. This long term outcome may not necessarily have negative impacts on

anadromous salmonids. If the size adjustment is relatively small, then the change in channel size would not likely adversely affect production of anadromous salmonids. For example, if a 30 ft wide channel eventually becomes 5% narrower according to Figure 2-1, it may still provide all the habitat elements needed and used by anadromous salmonids. While the net effect may be reduced habitat area, there is no clear threshold defining when habitat loss related to channel size would impart a population level effect. Indeed, when coupled with MBFs based on current channel sizes, such channel narrowing may actually tend to increase the number of upstream passage and spawning opportunities as a function of increased water depths. If so, caution is needed to avoid a situation where additional diversions become considered subsequently feasible under the rationale of meeting MBF requirements reflecting a smaller channel. By setting a conservative diversion rate, effectiveness monitoring can later indicate if additional water is available for diversion without adversely affecting anadromous salmonid habitat (see Chapter 10).

Comparison of the flow magnitudes in Table 4-3 suggests that the 15% of 20% winter exceedance flow, and the MTTU (2000) alternative criteria for the MCD element (contained in Flow Alternative Scenarios 1 and 2, respectively) result in comparable maximum diversion rates. Table 4-4 shows that stream flows using these two alternatives correspond to roughly 1% of the 1.5 year flood peak flow rate for four validation sites. Based on Figure 2-1 and results in Appendix F, the two alternative criteria would therefore not be expected to result in significant channel change.

The analyses and literature reviewed in Appendix D and above suggest that a greater reduction in peak flow magnitudes associated with the MCD alternative criterion of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines (i.e., 5% of the 1.5 year flood magnitude; contained in Flow Alternative Scenario 4) should still be protective; changes in channel size and spawning and rearing habitat should be relatively small. The 5% of the 1.5 year flood magnitude MCD alternative criterion has an advantage over the other MCD element alternative criteria in that it most directly accounts for the variation in channel maintenance needs throughout a channel network. This makes the criterion more attractive from the perspective of protecting against the effects of cumulative diversions upstream of a POI. As noted above, whether to allow an increase in diversion rates above this level should be assessed through monitoring and/or site specific studies.

The results in Table 4-4 indicate that the CFII=10% alternative (MCD3) criterion has the potential to adversely affect channel maintenance flow needs through relatively large reductions in channel size over the long term (greater than 10 years). The MCD3 criterion is thus likely not protective of channel maintenance flow needs at the regional level.

Changes in Grain Size Distribution

As suggested by the analysis in Appendix D, reductions in high flows are also expected to result in an increase in fine sediments ("fining") within the bed surface armor layer in Policy area streams, and possibly some loss in morphologic complexity associated with the substrate over the short term. Parker et al. (2003) conducted experiments of the effects of extracting various amounts of water when flows were around bankfull and lower. A variable flood hydrograph was found to be associated with reduced fine sedimentation the bed, and greater variation in bed elevation compared with conditions under a constant bankfull flow. The surface fines content progressively increased, and bed irregularity decreased, as the degree of diversion increased. Parker et al. (2003) inferred from the results that variable flows may be associated with a greater diversity in habitat than flows affected by diversion.

Fining of the streambed can fill-in the interstitial spaces of the substrate thereby reducing invertebrate production, and the quality of spawning gravels. However, changes in the subsurface layer composition primarily reflect changes in the prevailing sediment load (Dietrich et al. 1989) while changes in the armor layer more reflect changes in the hydrograph. Changes in sediment load should, in principle, not substantially change in response to small changes in bankfull flow regime. Given that salmonid embryos are generally buried well below the surface armor layer (Montgomery et al. 1996; DeVries 2000), it is unlikely that small reductions in channel maintenance flow magnitudes associated with the MCD alternatives would have large effects on intragravel survival of anadromous salmonid embryos.

7.1.5.2 Riparian Maintenance Flows

Implementation of the MCD under the Policy may affect riparian vegetation directly through reduction of winter peak flows. As described in Chapter 2 and Appendix D, riparian vegetation may be affected primarily through three mechanisms: (1) reduction in groundwater recharge through the stream banks, (2) reduction of scouring flows that create new surfaces that allow growth of riparian vegetation, and (3) reduction in growth rates during the early spring. The question for analyzing protectiveness concerns the amount of water that may be diverted without adversely affecting the health, diversity, and future potential of the riparian zone as affected by high flows in terms of each of these three factors.

Each factor is addressed below, although assessing the potential impacts of high-flow diversion on the riparian zone is complicated. Prediction of diversion impacts and mitigation needs must generally be based on site-specific information and analyses, reflecting a number of sources of variability not directly related to diversion rate (Risser and Harris 1989). Local geology, microclimate, and floodplain physiography determine the relative impact of diversion on scouring or availability of water to riparian plants. Lower gradient reaches with significant groundwater recharge primarily by streamflow may be associated with loss of riparian vegetation depending on the extent to which water is diverted relative to recharge rate. Steeper reaches may experience increased plant height or riparian encroachment due to reduction in frequency and severity of scouring flows, depending on the availability of adequate substrate. Species-specific adaptations can also influence the nature of effect of diversion on a riparian community (Risser and Harris 1989). Factors that may lead to shifts in dominant riparian forest species include frequency of disturbance, air temperature, root zone aeration, and depth to groundwater. For example, willow species prevail in high disturbance environments, cool growing seasons favor black cottonwood, and white alder can dominate when turbulent, well aerated water is close to the surface (Holstein 1984).

Stream Bank Groundwater Recharge

None of the instantaneous MCD rate alternative criteria would be expected to prevent or substantially reduce the frequency of large magnitude flows, and given the transient nature of streambank groundwater recharge, would not be expected to adversely affect the riparian zone in this manner. Additionally, given the relatively small changes in channel form expected in association with the largest magnitude MCD rate alternative criterion (i.e., the 5% of 1.5 year flood level), the riparian zone should be able to adjust to changes in the high flow regime. The unlimited diversion rate embodied in the CFII alternative criterion would not be expected to affect spring and summer streambank groundwater levels because in most years the CFII = 10% limit would be reached within the first month or two of the diversion season. Therefore, additional high flow events could still occur during the remainder of the winter. The CFII alternative criterion would be expected to have the greatest effects of all MCD alternative criteria in dry years.

Scouring Flows

Regional flood frequency regressions in DFG (2003a) indicate that a 5% reduction in the 2-year flood peak flow rate in the Policy area corresponds approximately to a 3% reduction in the 5year flood peak flow rate. The highest MCD rate alternative criterion analyzed as part of Flow Alternative Scenario 3, i.e., a 5% reduction in the 1.5 year flood, would correspond to a smaller reduction in the magnitude of the 5 year flood and other recurrence interval events. Using the same regressions and plotting the results on log-probability paper suggests that the corresponding pre-diversion recurrence interval for the 3% reduction in the 5-year event flow rate is around 4.3 to 4.6 years for a range of drainage areas and precipitation values. Higher flood levels remain possible when the MCD element is based on an instantaneous rate, hence the highest MCD proposed as part of the Flow Alternative Scenario 4 is not predicted to result in a substantial reduction in the availability of scouring flows, especially in wet years when scouring activity is greatest under unimpaired flow conditions. Likewise, the CFII = 10% alternative criterion embodied in Flow Alternative Scenario 5, where all flow above the MBF is extracted until the 10% limit is reached, would not be expected to adversely affect scouring flows because the criterion would be reached relatively soon after the diversion season begins in wetter years.

Reduced Vegetation Growth

Riparian communities contain some of the most productive vegetation in the Policy area, largely because they receive the most water. Most of the growth of riparian vegetation occurs in the spring when water is still sufficiently available in the soil and temperatures are favorable. Red alder is frequently the dominant riparian tree in coastal forests within the Policy area. White alder forms gallery forests south and east of the range of red alder, but is much more restricted to channel margins and is thus a reliable indicator of permanent water table levels. Its roots need constant saturation by cool, well aerated water (Holstein 1984). Reduction in the streambank water table level by diversions in March could impact initial spring growth of these and other riparian species by reducing water availability to the roots. By restricting diversions to maintain natural variability in flood hydrographs, by not permitting additional diversion after March 31 during the peak of the growing season, and by specifying a relatively conservative MCD, all subject to site specific study if less restrictions are desired, the MCD element of the Policy should inherently protect riparian growth.

7.1.6 Estuary Habitat/Ocean Connectivity

The results and literature reviewed in Chapters 4 and 6 indicate that a protective MBF for spawning should also protect estuarine sand bar breaching processes. The MCD element is therefore generally protective for all Flow Alternative Scenarios that involve a MCD rate criterion. It is possible that the MCD alternative criterion of Flow Alternative Scenario 5 might not be protective in some cases if the diversion season started on October 1 instead of December 15, where higher flows would be prevented in the fall until the CFII = 10% limit is met. Depending on the stream, it is possible that Flow Alternative Scenario 5 could delay sand bar breaching in October or early November if flow increases up to the MBF level are attenuated downstream by channel storage, and base flows are still low. The uncertainty regarding the potential level of effect would need to be addressed through effectiveness monitoring and/or site specific study.

7.2 SUMMARY OF PROTECTIVENESS

Table 7-2 summarizes the protectiveness attributes of each MCD element alternative criterion considered. The analysis and literature indicate that overall, the 5% of the 1.5 year flood magnitude MCD alternative criterion would likely be as protective of anadromous salmonid habitat as the other alternative flow rate criteria, provided it is accompanied by a protective MBF criterion. For all MCD alternatives, effectiveness monitoring and site-specific studies would be needed to determine if additional water could be made available for use without decreasing protectiveness. Importantly, the CFII = 10% volume alternative criterion proposed in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines does not appear to be protective of coho and Chinook upstream passage or spawning in many streams, and of channel maintenance flow needs in general. In addition, because the calculated magnitude of the CFII for a given date varies with specification of diversion season and MBF and the type of year, it would be difficult to establish a consistently protective volume.

Table 7-2.Summary of Protectiveness of Maximum Cumulative Diversion (MCD)
Alternatives.

Policy Element: Maximum Cumulative Diversion			
Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis	
MCD1 (Rate):	Yes	Generally allows the lowest instantaneous rate of diversion. Likely results in negligible channel change over the long term.	
MCD Rate = 15% of 20% Winter (12/15-3/31) Exceedance Flow			
MCD2 (Rate): MCD Rate = 5% of 1.5 yr flood peak flow (annualized series)	Yes	Allows a higher instantaneous rate of cumulative diversion than MCD1 and MCD4. This alternative will likely result in long term adjustment and reduction in channel size, but the potential change is thought to be minor in terms of bankfull width, depth, and surface grain size distribution. Basing a MCD rate on the 1.5 year flood peak flow rate more directly accounts for the relation between channel size and instream flow need.	
MCD3 (Volume): MCD Volume = No restriction on diversion rate, stop diversion after the ratio of total cumulative diverted volume to unimpaired runoff volume = 10%	Partially	May not be protective of coho and Chinook upstream passage and spawning habitat flow needs during the first month of the diversion season (for DS1 or DS3) in dry and average years. May not be protective of channel maintenance flow needs. Protectiveness is related more defensibly to flow rate rather than volume.	
MCD4 (Rate): MCD Rate = Diversion rate that corresponds to a half day reduction in the duration of time that flow is above the MBF during a 1.5 year flood event	Yes, but impractical to apply	Provides a comparable level of instantaneous diversion rate to MCD1 (15% of 20% winter exceedance flow). Likely results in negligible channel change over the long term. Impractical because its implementation requires detailed hourly hydrograph information for each stream.	
Biological Recommendation:	Apply Alternative MCD2.		
	There is uncertainty in defining the maximum amount of change in channel maintenance flows that could occur that would still be protective of anadromous salmonid habitat. Regardless of which MCD alternative is chosen for the Policy, effectiveness monitoring data collected over a period of 10 to 20 years would be needed to assess whether the Policy could be reopened in the future to include a less restrictive MCD that would still be protective of channel maintenance flows while offering the opportunity for higher diversion rates.		

This page intentionally left blank.

8. PROTECTIVENESS OF ON-STREAM DAM/RESERVOIR RESTRICTIONS

This chapter analyzes the protectiveness of the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines and alternatives (see Section 3.2.1) regarding the permitting of on-stream dams and water storage for streams within the Policy area (herein collectively, on-stream dams). The analysis interprets results identified in Chapter 4 and in other relevant literature, and focuses primarily on the periods of diversion.

8.1 ANALYSIS OF PROTECTIVENESS

The extent to which permitting an on-stream dam may adversely affect anadromous salmonids depends on, among other things, the size of the on-stream dam and area of stream inundated, whether upstream and downstream passage facilities are provided and the condition of such, the extent of anadromous salmonid habitat upstream and downstream from the on-stream dam, and whether flow releases from the on-stream dam are provided. In general, on-stream dams can directly impact salmonids if they: (1) prevent fish passage and block access to upstream spawning and rearing habitats; (2) intercept and retain spring and summer flows without providing continuous flow releases below the on-stream dam (i.e., bypass flows); (3) intercept and retain sediments/gravels that would otherwise replenish downstream spawning gravels; (4) intercept and retain large wood that would otherwise provide downstream habitat structure; and/or (5) create slow moving, lentic (lake-like) habitats that favor non-native species that may either prey on anadromous salmonids or compete for food and shelter.

8.1.1 Upstream Passage, Spawning, and Rearing Habitat

On-stream dams that are constructed without properly designed fishways can block upstream passage of adult and juvenile anadromous salmonids, thereby reducing the quantity of available habitat within the stream and its overall production potential (see Chapter 1). From the federal regulatory perspective, on-stream dams constructed in "critical habitat" remove stream habitat that is needed to ensure the conservation of anadromous salmonid species listed under the ESA (50 CFR 424.12(e)). In addition to preventing adult salmonids from reaching upstream spawning habitats, on-stream dams/reservoirs can prevent juveniles from moving upstream to find suitable rearing areas. In many stream systems within the Policy area, summer water temperatures exceed criteria for juvenile salmonids throughout most of the lower accessible reaches, and the only over-summering rearing habitat exists in isolated, stratified pools with groundwater input (e.g., Nielsen et al. 1994) or upstream in smaller, shaded channels.

Depending on their size and configuration, on-stream dams can retain most or all stream flow during certain times of the year. For example, many small dams with on-stream storage within the Policy area employ a "fill-and-spill" operational pattern in which the entire flow within the stream is retained by the dam until the reservoir is filled, before any downstream releases ("spill") are provided. This pattern typically occurs during the late fall-early winter period when

reservoir levels are low, and can result in lost spawning and rearing habitat for anadromous salmonids. Steiner (1996) noted that on-stream dams in tributaries within the Russian River basin have resulted in decreased habitat availability and increased water temperatures downstream.

On-stream dams that retain water year-round can create lentic habitats that are more suited to non-native, non-salmonid fish species such as bluegill and bass, as well as other exotic species such as the bullfrog. Impacts of non-native fish predation on anadromous salmonids in streams in the project area are well documented (e.g., Steiner 1996; Beach 1996), while the potential effects of other species introductions on salmonids are less understood. While bullfrogs have become a well established predator of sensitive amphibian species including red-legged frogs and salamanders (USFWS 2002), their impacts to salmonids are largely unknown.

8.1.2 Outmigration

On-stream dams that do not contain suitable fish bypass structures can delay the downstream migration of salmonid smolts and juveniles that seek to find a way past a structure (e.g., Manning et al. 2005). The potential impact of such delay becomes greatest during late spring when water temperature increases may lead to stress, disease, reverse smolting, and possibly death.

8.1.3 Channel and Riparian Maintenance

In addition to direct impacts related to fish passage and habitat loss, the regulation of flows by on-stream dams can disrupt sediment and wood transport processes that can impact the quality and quantity of downstream salmonid habitats. From a flow and sediment perspective, the filling of on-stream dams/reservoirs (particularly the fill-and-spill type) can reduce downstream peak flows (especially during dry years) resulting in an overall reduction in sediment transport and corresponding increase in sediment deposition. This can lead to sedimentation of spawning gravels or compaction of streambeds (Fisk 1955), and ultimately a reduction in egg and fry survival (Chapman 1988; Kondolf 2000). A second sediment related effect of on-stream dams relates to the trapping of bedload, which would otherwise be transported downstream (Benda et al. 2005). Trapping reduces the downstream supply of gravel, and may lead to a reduction in spawning habitat quality and quantity, streambed armoring, channel incision, and/or increased scour probability in spawning beds (Ligon et al. 1995; DeVries 2000). The degree of impact depends on the location of the on-stream dam and the balance between gravel supply and transport capacity within the spawning reaches (Montgomery and Buffington 1993, 1997; Montgomery et al. 1999; Kondolf et al. 1991; Moir et al. 2004).

On-stream dams can also intercept wood that would otherwise be transported downstream. Large woody debris represents an important habitat component in anadromous salmonid streams in the Policy area (Opperman 2002). Functionally, large woody debris provides velocity refuge and overhead cover for both adult and juvenile salmonids (e.g., Nickelson et al. 1992; Gregory et al. 2003; Opperman and Merenlender 2004). It also plays a role in shaping the morphology of a channel by contributing to pool formation, channel meandering, and channel stability. In general, the size of wood transported by water is dependent on the width of the channel. Pieces with lengths similar to or longer than the channel width are more likely to form habitat near where they entered the channel. Hence, on-stream dams located in Class III and possibly Class II streams are likely to trap mostly small pieces (on the order of 10 ft length or smaller) that would likely be flushed downstream eventually, or removed by the on-stream dam owner. In contrast, on-stream dams located in Class I channels are likely to trap larger pieces of wood, that may not become available to downstream reaches if they are not allowed to pass below the on-stream dam.

Depending on on-stream dam size and reservoir capacity, on-stream dams have the potential to regulate the quantity of water released downstream. In addition to directly affecting anadromous salmonid habitats, the regulation and reduction of flows can alter the vegetative communities (density, diversity, species composition) within the riparian zone, in some cases resulting in the complete collapse of native riparian plant communities (Rood et al. 1995; Scott et al. 1997). In general, the long term health of native riparian communities depends on flood flows to recharge alluvial aquifers, provide sites for seedling establishment, transport and deposit seeds on the floodplain, and replenish nutrients in floodplain soils. In addition, sufficient in-channel flows are needed for maintaining the alluvial aquifer within or near the rooting zone of riparian plants through the growing season.

8.2 SUMMARY OF PROTECTIVENESS

Table 8-1 summarizes the protectiveness of the alternatives that pertain to permitting of onstream dams. The analysis indicates that the restrictions imposed by the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines (DP1.1, DP2.1, and DP3.1) would be protective of anadromous salmonids within the Policy area. The guidelines prohibit construction of on-stream dams/reservoirs on Class I and II streams, and conditionally allow such on Class III streams. The analysis also considered two sets of alternatives to the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines. One alternative (DP2.2) provides a mechanism from the State Water Board to address and evaluate situations where unauthorized on-stream dams exist on Class II streams, and a proposal from MTTU (2000) that includes more stringent criteria when considering on-stream dams for Class III streams. Other alternatives provide less stringent criteria than those proposed by DFG-NMFS. For example, alternatives DP2.3 and DP3.3 would increase the potential for adverse effects on downstream anadromous salmonid spawning and rearing habitat through the cumulative effect of permitting many dams.

Stream Class		Alternative	Regionally Protective?	Basis
Class I	DF	21.1		
	Or rig	n-stream dams may not be issued water ht permits.	Yes	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines
	DF	91.2		
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:		Partially – dependent on success of mitigation measures	Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams on Class I streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria to mitigate existing adverse impacts anadromous salmonids and protect
	1.	Fish passage and screening is provided;		and/or restore important ecosyster functions to those streams.
	2.	A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		
	3.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;		
	4.	A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and		
	5.	Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.		
Class II	DF	2.1		
	On-stream dams may not be issued water right permits.		Yes	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines
	DP2.2			
	New on-stream dams may not be issued water right permits. A water right permit may be considered for an existing, unauthorized on-stream dam that was built prior to 7/19/2006 if the following criteria are met:		Yes	Although this alternative allows some existing on-stream dams on Class II streams to receive water right permits, it contains criteria design to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions to
	1.	A passive bypass system is provided to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		those streams and still afford a hig level of protectiveness.
	2.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;		
	3.	A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and		
	4.	Disturbed riparian habitat will be		

Table 8-1.Summary of Protectiveness of the On-Stream Dam Permitting Restrictions
(DP) Alternatives.

mitigated.

Table 8-1.	Summary of Protectiveness of the On-Stream Dam Permitting Restrictions
	(DP) Alternatives.

Class II	DP	2.3		
(cont)	A water right permit may be considered for an on-stream dam if the following criteria are met:		Partially	Multiple on-stream dams on Class II streams have potential to cause adverse cumulative effects on
	1.	A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		downstream spawning and rearing habitat quantity and quality in Class I streams.
	2.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented;		
	3.	A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented; and		
	4.	Disturbed riparian habitat will be mitigated.		
Class III	DP	3.1		
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam if the following criteria are t:	Partially	DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines Protectiveness could be increased
	1.	The on-stream dam will not dewater a Class II stream; and		via inclusion of additional fish protection measures as provided in DP 3.2.
	2.	The on-stream dam will cause less than 10% cumulative instantaneous flow impairment at locations where fish are seasonally present.		
	DP	3.2		
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam if the following criteria are t:	Yes	This alternative contains criteria that must be met before on-stream dams would be allowed on Class III
	1.	A passive bypass system is used to bypass the minimum instream flow requirements;		streams. The criteria are designed to protect and/or restore important ecosystem functions, and provide an additional level of protectiveness not
	2.	An exotic species eradication plan is implemented; and		provided by the DFG-NMFS (2002) Guidelines.
	3.	A gravel and wood augmentation plan or bypass system is implemented.		
	DP3.3			
		vater right permit may be considered for on-stream dam.	Partially	With no restrictions imposed, cases would likely occur where protectiveness would not be assured. Multiple on-stream dams built without restrictions on Class III streams are likely to cause adverse cumulative effects on downstream spawning and rearing habitat quantity and quality in Class I and II streams.
Biologica	l Re	commendation:	Apply DP1.1, DF	2.2 and DP3.2

This page intentionally left blank.

9. IMPORTANCE OF FISH PASSAGE AND SCREENING MEASURES

This chapter reviews recommendations in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines regarding following DFG and NMFS fish passage and screening requirements for on-stream dams and diversions in Policy area streams. Diversion structures may block or seasonally/periodically restrict upstream and downstream movements of adult and juvenile anadromous salmonids. Applicable Fish and Game Code sections concerning dams and diversions (Fish and Game Code section 5931) serve to protect anadromous salmonids from adverse effects, thereby potentially increasing production levels and survival. The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines are thus generally protective, although exemptions in the DFG code based on practicality for the dam or diversion owner could adversely affect anadromous salmonids depending on circumstance. To be fully protective, fish passage and screening should be required at any diversion located within the currently accessible range of anadromous salmonid habitat, as per the recommended passage (NMFS 2001; DFG 2003a) and screening (NMFS 1997) requirements. In addition, there should not be exemptions to passage or screening requirements for any diversion affecting Class I streams. Furthermore, fish passage and protection measures should be considered and evaluated in streams that are not currently accessible, but were used historically, if and when watershed restoration actions lead to correction of artificial barrier(s) downstream.

9.1 ASSESSING PROTECTIVENESS

Protectiveness may be assessed in the context of evaluating impacts in the absence of protective measures (i.e., what are the potential effects of on-stream dams and diversions that do not include fish passage and screening measures), and in terms of sufficiency for fully protecting anadromous salmonids within the Policy area.

9.1.1 Effects of On-Stream Dams and Diversions without Fish Passage and Screening Measures

On-stream dams and diversions constructed without properly designed fishways can block upstream passage of adult and juvenile anadromous salmonids, thereby reducing the quantity of available habitat within the stream. Inclusion of fishways into these structures may remedy the issue of upstream passage, but will not, in most cases, address the needs of downstream migrating juveniles and smolts. Protection and safe passage of smolts requires inclusion of properly designed bypass structures and/or diversion screens that will safely transport/guide downstream migrating fish below the on-stream dam, and prevent fish from entering diversion canals.

In addition to the effects associated with potential blockage and delay, structures associated with on-stream dams or diversions such as debris racks, intake screens, pumps, weir crests,

bypass pipes, etc. may physically injure and/or kill (e.g., abrasion, impingement) fish moving near, over, or through such features. In addition, fish, especially juvenile salmonids, can become entrained into unscreened diversion canals where they would be more susceptible to predation and subjected to stress. Unless a fish return or bypass system is provided, any fish entering the canals would be lost from the population.

Minimizing or eliminating these impacts by requiring, in streams that support anadromous salmonids, measures that provide for unrestricted, volitional fish passage (upstream and downstream) at all diversions, and that prevent the loss of juvenile salmonids into diversions via screening would be protective of anadromous salmonids.

9.1.2 Protectiveness of Upstream Fish Passage Measures

The DFG-NMFS (2002) requirements regarding fish passage state that fish passage must be met for any diversion structure permitted where "anadromous salmonids have the likely potential to ascend the stream to the point of diversion." Both the DFG (2003a) and NMFS (2001) have published guidelines for salmonid passage at stream crossings with technical considerations that are also relevant to fishway design. In all cases involving anadromous salmonids, fishway designs must consider upstream passage of both adults and juveniles. Depth, velocity, energy dissipation, and other criteria comprising the passage guidelines have been based on extensive research into passage needs and ensure that no fish would be blocked or seriously delayed.

California Fish and Game Code sections 5930-5948 address the issue of on-stream dams and avoiding their adverse effects on fish passage in all rivers and streams naturally frequented by fish. DFG Code Section 5931 provides that the department shall cause plans to be furnished for a suitable fishway if it is determined by the Fish and Game Commission that there is not free passage over or around any on-stream dam. The DFG can consequently order the owner of the on-stream dam to provide a durable and efficient fishway. Upon construction, sections 5935 and 5936 require that the on-stream dam owner shall keep the fishway in repair and open and free from obstructions to the passage of fish at all times. In the case of a dam without a fishway, however, the owner should allow sufficient water to pass over, around, or through the dam to keep fish in good condition downstream of the dam. (section 5937). Therefore, in the context of providing protective fish passage facilities at dams, Policy language that refers to DFG requirements for passage would be protective of anadromous salmonids.

9.1.3 Protectiveness of Fish Screening Measures

The DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines state that screening requirements must be met for any diversion structure permitted where "anadromous salmonids have the likely potential to ascend the stream to the point of diversion," and that screening must be done in accordance with NMFS and DFG's screening criteria. The DFG adopted NMFS (1997) screening criteria in 2000 as described in its screening policy (*www.dfg.ca.gov/nafwb/fishscreenpolicy.html*). The owner of

the diversion must pay for construction, operation, or maintenance costs of any screen required pursuant to section 6100. The owner of the diversion is also required to supply sufficient water for a bypass to carry fish stopped by the screen or device back to the channel from which they were diverted. The magnitude of the bypass flow depends on the diversion amount, but is generally a small fraction as outlined in Section 6022 (generally less than 1 percent of the diversion flow rate).

Further, as part of its screening policy, the DFG shall make every effort to require the modernization of fish screens which do not meet present fish screening criteria. This effort shall include the Streambed Alteration process (Section 1600 et seq. of the Fish and Game Code). The DFG requires in its screening policy that variances from screening requirements shall be supported by a report, prepared by the diverter, which includes data from onsite monitoring and a review of historical entrainment and diversion data. The scope of the report and the sampling effort shall be approved by the Department of Fish and Game prior to the initiation of work.

When anadromous fish are not present in the stream, DFG has the responsibility per Section 6021 to determine the need for a screen and to install, operate, and maintain it. DFG's screening policy includes making every effort to require the installation of fish screens on all unscreened diversions where other measures cannot reasonably prevent entrainment of fish.

Compliance with DFG and NMFS screening criteria as described above and specified in the DFG-NMFS (2002) Draft Guidelines should be protective of anadromous salmonids when screens are constructed, operated, and maintained properly.

9.2 SUMMARY OF PROTECTIVENESS

Compliance with DFG fish passage facility design requirements and fish screening facility design requirements of DFG or NMFS should be protective of anadromous salmonids in streams within the Policy area.

This page intentionally left blank.

10. EFFECTIVENESS MONITORING PROGRAM

The preceding chapters presented information and analyses evaluating the protectiveness of the proposed Policy element alternatives for the North Coast Instream Flow Policy. The assessment was based on existing information and data, supplemented by field data collected on 13 streams within the Policy area. These latter data were used for evaluating passage and spawning habitat flow needs in smaller basins. The analyses identified certain levels or attributes of each element that were deemed protective of anadromous salmonids and their habitats based on reasonable assumptions of biological criteria and channel response.

Implementation of a Policy that includes the recommended elements noted in Sections 5 through 8 (see Tables 5-2, 6-2, 7-2, and 8-1) should provide a sufficiently conservative level of protection of anadromous salmonids to meet both state mandated trust responsibilities as well as ESA objectives. However, questions remain as to (1) how implementation of the Policy would actually affect anadromous salmonids over longer time scales, say, in the range of 10 to 20 year time horizons that would correspond to 3 to 6 generations of anadromous salmonids, and (2) whether the currently proposed regionally protective criteria may be relaxed if they are indeed found to be overly conservative. The 10 to 20 year time frame should also be sufficiently long to allow detection of changes in channel morphology and composition of riparian vegetation. Such a determination requires development and implementation of a long-term monitoring program (herein, Monitoring Program). The framework for such a program is described in this chapter; detailed information pertaining to categories of monitoring, specific hypothesis to be tested, metrics to be used, and components of the program are provided in Appendix K.

10.1 MONITORING TYPES

In general, monitoring programs can be assigned into one of three types, depending on the objectives and questions to be addressed. These include: (1) compliance/implementation monitoring; (2) effectiveness monitoring; and (3) validation monitoring (see Appendix K for descriptions of each). Of these, effectiveness monitoring is the most appropriate for assessing the protectiveness of the Policy elements over the long term. Effectiveness monitoring can also provide insight on several aspects of the Policy including uncertainty and accountability. Uncertainty can include assumptions made or data gaps identified during policy development. Effectiveness monitoring also provides for accountability and ensures that potentially conflicting beneficial uses of a resource are balanced according to the values both explicit and implicit within policy goals.

In addition to effectiveness monitoring, certain aspects of the Policy would also be subject to compliance monitoring, which is used to determine if an intended action was implemented as planned. Installation of a stream gage below a diversion point to ensure required instream flow

releases is an example of compliance monitoring. Compliance monitoring should be implemented under the enforcement program of the policy.

10.2 EFFECTIVENESS MONITORING PROGRAM GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The primary goals of the Effectiveness Monitoring Program are to assess the effectiveness of the overall Policy to protect anadromous salmonid populations and their habitats in area streams and rivers. Specific objectives of the Monitoring Program would focus on evaluating individual Policy elements including those aimed at providing protective minimum bypass flows. protecting natural flow variability, avoiding cumulative impacts due to multiple diversions, and providing suitable fish passage and screens at diversions and on-stream reservoirs. Importantly, due to the wide range of geographical and temporal scales exhibited in the Policy area streams, the Monitoring Program is, of necessity, relatively general in nature and should be viewed as the starting point from which more detailed, site-specific monitoring plans can be derived. To be most effective, the Monitoring Program should be developed within an adaptive management framework (Lee 1993) as a means to provide a feedback loop linked to management actions. Thus, once the Policy is implemented, results of the Monitoring Program would be used to test whether goals and objectives are being met, and whether modifications to the Policy are warranted. Related to this, because the recommended level of protection afforded by the Policy is conservative to account for regional variation in instream flow needs across variable stream types and sizes, it is more likely that monitoring results would suggest some relaxation in the diversion restrictions could occur and still be protective of anadromous salmonids, rather than the need for more stringent restrictions.

10.3 EFFECTIVENESS MONITORING PROGRAM

There are a number of action items and components, some institutional and some technical that should be addressed and/or incorporated as part of the Monitoring Program (Figure 10-1). These are briefly described below, with more information, including an outline that describes selected metrics deemed suitable for evaluating specific Policy objectives, provided in Appendix K.

10.3.1 Establishment of Monitoring Oversight Committee

As a first step in the process of developing a coordinated Monitoring Program, it is recommended that the State Water Board form a nine member Monitoring Oversight Committee (MOC). A State Water Board senior staff member possessing a high level of experience in water resources management and a good understanding of hydrology, fluvial geomorphology, and salmonid biology should chair the MOC. Other members should include a second representative from the State Water Board, and one representative from each of the following agencies/academic institutions: DFG, NMFS, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, USGS, California Department of Water Resources (DWR), and two independent scientists from academic institutions. The MOC may also solicit input from other entities (e.g., US Forest Service, CDF, county water and flood



Figure 10-1. General components and actions associated with monitoring the protectiveness of North Coast Instream Flow Policy elements.

control districts and other water resource management agencies) and stakeholders involved in ongoing monitoring programs on certain streams and rivers, and who therefore possess streamspecific information. Also, the MOC may engage the services of certain technical specialists (e.g., statisticians; aquatic ecologists, geomorphologists, fish biologists, and others) to assist in preparing parts of the Monitoring Program. The MOC would be tasked with the overall preparation, implementation, and management of the Monitoring Program. An independent Science Review Panel appointed by the State Water Board would review key work products (including the Monitoring Program) developed by the MOC before being released to the public and prior to implementation. Specific activities of the MOC are described in Appendix K.

10.3.2 Selection of Appropriate Sampling Designs

As noted in Section 1.2 and Appendix B, the Policy area is large and contains over 3,400 classified stream segments of varying drainage area. Thus, the Monitoring Program should include sampling at a variety of spatial and temporal scales and, moreover, be founded on a strong, statistically derived sampling design (see Appendix K). This is important since regardless of whether the Monitoring Program evolves from existing programs or consists of an entirely new program, monitoring of all systems is simply not practical from a funding perspective.

10.3.3 Selecting and Monitoring Appropriate Indicators and Metrics

Choice of indicators and metrics to be measured will depend on specific Policy objectives. In terms of the Monitoring Program, two types of indicators will be important; (1) Effectiveness monitoring indicators that serve to detect potential changes in physical, geomorphological, and biological characteristics of streams attributable to Policy actions; and (2) compliance monitoring indicators, which address compliance activities associated with implementation of the Policy (can be done by the Division under the enforcement program established in the Policy).

10.3.3.1 Effectiveness Monitoring Indicators

There are three Policy elements for which effectiveness monitoring could be applied. These include the elements related to the diversion season, minimum bypass flows, and the maximum diversion rate. For each of these, there are a number of metrics/indicators that could be monitored, some of which are listed in Table 10-1, and discussed in more detail in Appendix K. It must be emphasized that there is no single set of metrics that will address all of the objectives and hypotheses raised regarding effects of Policy activities. Rather, there will likely be a suite of metrics, some standardized across geographic areas, and some that are scale-specific.

Table 10-1. Policy elements and potential effectiveness monitoring metrics useful for assessing protectiveness of the North Coast Instream Flow Policy on anadromous salmonids.

Policy Element	Potential Monitoring Metrics		
Diversion Season	Monitoring of this element captured in metrics specified under "minimum bypass flow" below.		
Minimum Bypass Flow	• Derive spawning habitat vs. flow relationships from sites selected within a stratified subset of streams representative of Policy area streams; compare with Policy-imposed bypass flows.		
	Complete passage corridor analysis within the same subset of streams; compare with Policy-imposed bypass flows.		
	 Spawning surveys within same subset of streams; monitoring for trends post-implementation of Policy; if possible – compare with trends in similar streams not subjected to Policy. 		
	• Redd marking and monitoring to evaluate "watering" duration from creation to projected fry emergence.		
	 Biological monitoring (e.g., fry/smolt production – via outmigrant traps, screw traps, snorkeling, etc.) of anadromous salmonid populations within subset of streams; if possible – compare with trends in similar streams not subjected to Policy. 		
Maximum Cumulative Diversion	Substrate quality monitoring – within subset of streams representative of Policy area streams;		
	- Core sampling (bulk, grab, freeze-core)		
	- Pebble counts		
	- Ocular – embeddedness		
	- Intragravel sediment monitoring		
	Cross-sectional profiles – subset of streams		
	Riparian corridor mapping/ vegetation species composition – subset of streams		
	Benthic macroinvertebrate (BMI) monitoring – subset of streams		

10.3.3.2 Compliance Monitoring Indicators

With respect to the Policy, the major compliance factor relates to having an accurate and reliable means of monitoring and/or determining streamflows, both above and below diversions. Since existing stream gages are typically located in the lower reaches of streams, there is a risk that hydrologic models calibrated to distant downstream flow gages, or generalized relationships

(e.g., to drainage area) may result in uncertain conclusions regarding the available unallocated surface flow in headwater streams. Therefore, consideration should be given to installation and monitoring of a stream gage network at selected watershed elevations, as a means to refine the discharge relationships, and also as a means to more accurately monitor/regulate the amount of surface flow being withdrawn by both unauthorized and authorized diversions.

10.3.4 Standardization of Sampling Protocols

Replication and repeatability are fundamental precepts in the design and conduct of statistically rigorous monitoring programs. Unless standards are implemented it will be more difficult to compare data sets collected at different times and places in the Policy area and draw appropriate conclusions. To the extent possible, the monitoring of all metrics should be completed using standardized sampling protocols and data analysis techniques. The MOC should ensure that detailed sampling protocols are drafted, reviewed and approved for each of the metrics selected for inclusion in the Monitoring Program (see Appendix K).

10.3.5 Quality Assurance/Quality Control Program

Since the data collected as part of the Monitoring Program would be used by the State Water Board in a decision-analysis framework, the validity of those data is critical. The MOC should therefore establish a rigorous Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) Program designed to ensure that all data to be relied on have been collected and compiled in accordance with QA/QC protocols, and hence have been validated for use in the decision analysis process (see Appendix K).

10.3.6 Data Dissemination

It is envisioned that many agencies and entities would be involved in the implementation of various components of the Monitoring Program. It is also anticipated that the data so collected would be of interest to a wide range of personnel, including agency representatives, scientists, and the general public. The MOC should explore ways to facilitate the dissemination of these data, while at the same time preserving data integrity.

10.3.7 Funding Support

It is recommended that the State Water Board commit sufficient funding support to allow implementation and continuance of an approved Monitoring Program. When possible, the State Water Board should seek to retain existing and create new collaborative partnerships with other agencies and stakeholders as a means to increase monitoring efficiency while at the same time reducing costs.

10.3.8 Adaptive Management – Decision Analysis

The Monitoring Program described above was framed within an adaptive management construct that embodies decision analysis. Thus, it is recommended that the State Water Board develop a formal decision-analysis process to address questions related to which (if any) Policy elements warrant modification; what type of modification is needed (i.e., is the element over- or under-protective); and whether changes in the Monitoring Program are warranted. Monitoring describes what is biologically possible under a given set of Policy conditions. From this, scientists can estimate the probability of different biological conditions evolving, such as suitable spawning habitats, population increases etc. These estimates can prove useful in helping to formulate decisions regarding the extent to which the Policy elements should be modified. However, the degree of adjustment to be implemented is largely a policy decision that must be addressed specifically by the State Water Board.

10.4 MONITORING PROGRAM: PRELIMINARY STUDY DESIGN

This section provides suggestions relative to study design development and the selection of study sites and metrics for evaluation, and is intended to assist the State Water Board in planning the overall scope and budget for the Monitoring Program. It is anticipated that the implementation of the Monitoring Program as described above will occur in phases, with initial efforts focused on (1) establishing the MOC and (2) identifying the overall goals and objectives (Figure 10-1) that will form the basis for selecting study sites and the specific metrics to be monitored. To the extent possible, monitoring sites should be established that can be used to assess both the effectiveness of specific Policy elements, and from an enforcement standpoint, compliance with specified instream flows, diversion rates, and passage requirements. Clearly, efficiencies are gained and overall monitoring costs reduced when sites can be selected that serve more than one purpose.

The Monitoring Program study design should focus on answering the null hypotheses identified at the beginning of Appendix K. In addition to measurements of flow, a variety of other metrics may be monitored for each hypothesis, with the final list dependent on specific questions to be addressed. Of the four hypothesis noted in Appendix K Table K-2, the third, pertaining to the MCD, has the greatest uncertainty associated with it in terms of what maximum level of change equates with protectiveness. Monitoring will thus be a critical part of the Policy for establishing protectiveness of the MCD Policy element. In addition, data collection and analysis related to this hypothesis may be useful in the future if the State Water Board chooses to modify the requirements of the Policy by formally reopening it.

While there is no firm guide on the number of streams to sample and study sites to establish, the large geographic area encompassed by the Policy and the diversity of streams within it suggests the need to stratify the area based on drainage area classes and hydrologic sub-regions, and then selecting a subset of sites from each for detailed monitoring. This approach is

intended to ensure some representative sampling within different basin size classes and hydrologic sub-regions, and thus, would lend itself to statistical analysis.

At a minimum, the list of streams should include the 13 evaluated in Chapter 4 (see Figure 4-2), which were used to assess protectiveness. The list would need to be expanded, however, as the 13 evaluated were selected, in part, because of their easy accessibility. Sites that were considered for the protectiveness analysis but not sampled because of access, time, and/or water availability limitations included: Redwood Creek near Muir Beach (National Park Service gage), San Geronimo Creek (Marin Municipal Water District gage), Morses Creek near Bolinas (USGS gage 11460160), Pudding Creek near Fort Bragg (Soda Creek near Boonville (USGS gage 11467850), Russian River near Redwood Valley (USGS gage 11460940), and Big Sulphur Creek (two sites near USGS gages 11463160 and 11463170). With suitable planning and discussion with biologists from various institutions, additional sites can likely be identified for sampling.

For purposes of statistical replication, it is necessary to sample a number of streams with similar characteristics forming a group often called a class or stratum. Similarity may be established any number of ways, ranging from the use of formal stream classification schemes that are different than the system used in the Policy (e.g., Montgomery and Buffington 1997), to statistical stratification and multivariate analyses (e.g., cluster analysis of various physical attributes of the stream). The number of streams necessary to represent each class will reflect in part, inherent variability within a class; that is, the greater the variability within a class, the greater the number of sites required for a specified level of statistical power. In addition, replication is necessary within a given stream. At least three samples of a given metric would be required per stream to be able to describe variability. A greater number of samples is desirable but may not be practicable depending on budget.

As an example of the above, assuming that: (1) the Policy area is stratified into six drainage area classes including <1 mi², 1-3 mi², 3-5 mi², 5-10 mi², 10-30 mi², and >30 mi²; (2) the Policy area contains a minimum of three basic hydrologic sub-regions (coastal north, coastal south, and inland); and (3) a minimum of three sites are established per stream-hydrologic class combination, a total of 6 x 3 x 3 = 54 sites would be established for monitoring (Table K-2). This number would vary depending on the final number of drainage area and hydrologic classes selected. The actual number of sites would also need to be adjusted to account for existing stream gaging stations as well as other sites that may be part of other biological monitoring programs that are already collecting data relevant to assessing the Policy effectiveness. These latter sites could include those used by DFG or other agencies and stakeholders as part of long-term biological monitoring programs.

Given the importance of flow quantification to the Policy, most/all of the active and inactive stream gage sites should be considered for incorporation (either from an effectiveness or compliance standpoint) into the Monitoring Program. Given that there are currently 88 USGS stream gages within the Policy area, 31of which are active (Figure K-2), and assuming that the above 54 sites could be represented by a subset of the gaging stations, an additional 34 sites (represented by gage sites – i.e., 34 sites + 54 = 88) should be considered for inclusion into the Monitoring Program (Table K-2). However, the final number of sites and overall scope of the program will clearly need to be based on additional considerations including costs and funding support. It is in this matter that the MOC can be instrumental in achieving consensus on an acceptable Monitoring Program.

This page intentionally left blank.

11. REFERENCES

- Achord, S., G.M. Matthews, D.M. Marsh, B.P. Sandford, and D.J. Kamikawa. 1994. Monitoring the migrations of wild Snake River spring and summer Chinook salmon smolts. Annual report 1992. NMFS Coastal Zone and Estuaries Study Division. Project No. 91-28, Contract No. DE-AI79-91BP18800. U. S. Department of Energy, Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon.
- Anderson, K.R. 1978. Streamflow recommendations for select Marin County streams. Memorandum to John Ellison, Region 3. California Department of Fish and Game, Fisheries Management, Menlo Park. August 31.
- Arthington, A.H., S.E. Bunn, N.L. Poff, and R.J. Naiman. 2006. The challenge of providing environmental flow rules to sustain river ecosystems. Ecological Applications 16(4): 1311-1318.
- Barbour, M.T., J. Gerritsen, B.D. Snyder, and J.B. Stribling. 1999. Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates and Fish, Second Edition. EPA 841-B-99-002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency; Office of Water; Washington, D.C.
- Barnhart, R.A. 1986. Species profiles: life histories and environmental requirements of coastal fishes and invertebrates (Pacific Southwest), steelhead. United States Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Report 82(11.60).
- Bauersfeld, K. 1978. Stranding of juvenile salmon by flow reductions at Mayfield Dam on the Cowlitz River 1976. Washington Department of Fisheries Technical Report No. 36.Prepared for the City of Tacoma, Department of Public Utilities. 36 p.
- Baxter, G. 1961. River utilization and the preservation of migratory fish life. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers 18: 225-244.
- Beach, R.F. 1996. The Russian River: An Assessment of Its Condition and Governmental Oversight. Sonoma County Water Agency, Santa Rosa, California. Sonoma County Water Agency, Santa Rosa, California.
- Beacham, T.D., and C.B. Murray. 1990. Temperature, egg size, and development of embryos and alevins of five species of Pacific salmon: A comparative analysis. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 119(6): 927-945.
- Becker, C.D., D.A. Neitzel, and D.H. Fickieson. 1982. Effects of dewatering on Chinook salmon redds: tolerance of four developmental phases to daily dewaterings. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 111 (5): 624-637.

- Becker, C.D., D.A. Neitzel, and C.S. Abernethy. 1983. Effects of dewatering on Chinook salmon redds: tolerance of four developmental phases to one-time dewatering. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 3: 373-382.
- Beeman, J.W., and D.W. Rondorf. 1992. Estimating the effects of river flow, smoltification and other biotic and abiotic variables on the travel time of juvenile salmonids in the Snake and Columbia Rivers. Prepared for the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon.
- Bell, M.C. 1991. Fisheries handbook of engineering requirements and biological criteria. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Office of the Chief of Engineers.
- Bella, D.A. 1996. Organizational systems and the burden of proof. Pages 617-638 *in* Stouder, D.J., P.A. Bisson, and R.J. Naiman, editors. Pacific salmon and their ecosystems: Status and future options. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY.
- Benda, L.E., D.J. Miller, T. Dunne, G.H. Reeves, and J.K. Agee. 1998. Dynamic landscape systems. Pages 261-288 *in* R.J. Naiman, and R.E. Bilby, editors. River Ecology and Management: Lessons from the Pacific Coastal Ecoregion. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY.
- Benda, L., M.A. Hassan, M. Church, and C.L. May. 2005. Geomorphology of steepland headwaters: The transition from hillslopes to channels. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41(4): 835-851.
- Bendix, J. 1998. Impact of a flood on southern California riparian vegetation. Phys. Geog. 19: 162-174.
- Bendix, J. 1999. Stream power influence on southern California riparian vegetation. J. Veg. Sci. 10: 243-252.
- Bendix, J., and C.R. Hupp. 2000. Hydrological and geomorphological impacts on riparian plant communities. Hydrological Processes 14: 2977-2990.
- Berggren, T.J., and M.J. Filardo. 1993. An analysis of variables influencing the migration of juvenile salmonids in the Columbia River Basin. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 13: 48-63.
- Bicknell, B.R., J.C. Imhoff, J.L. Kittle Jr., T.H. Jobes, and A.S. Donigian, Jr. 2001. Hydrological Simulation Program - Fortran (HSPF). User's Manual for Release 12. U.S. EPA National Exposure Research Laboratory, Athens, Georgia, in cooperation with U.S. Geological Survey, Water Resources Division, Reston, Virginia.
- Biggs, B.J.F., V.I. Nikora, and T.H. Snelder. 2005. Linking scales of flow variability to lotic ecosystem structure and function. River Research and Applications 21: 283-298.

- Bjornn, T.C. 1971. Trout and salmon movements in two Idaho streams, as related to temperature, food, stream flow, cover, and population density. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 100: 423-438.
- Bjornn, T.C. 1978. Survival, production and yield of trout and Chinook salmon in the Lemhi River, Idaho. University of Idaho, College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences Bulletin 27, Moscow, Idaho.
- Bjornn, T.C., and D.W. Reiser. 1991. Habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. *In* Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19: 83-138.
- Botsford, L.W., and C.A. Lawrence. 2002. Patterns in co-variability among California Current Chinook salmon, coho salmon, Dungeness crab, and physical oceanographic conditions. Progr. Oceanogr 53: 283-305.
- Bovee, K.D. 1982. A guide to stream habitat analysis using the Instream Flow Incremental Methodology. USFWS, Instream Flow Information Paper: No. 12, FWS/OBS-82/26. Washington D.C.
- Bovee, K., and R. Milhous. 1978. Hydraulic simulation in instream flow studies; theory and techniques. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. FWS/OBS 78/33.
- Bovee, K.R. 1978. Probability of use criteria for the family Salmonidae. Instream Flow Information Paper No. 4. FWS/OBS-78/07. US Fish and Wildlife Service, Fort Collins Colorado.
- Bradford, C.S., C.B. Schreck, L.E. Davis, C.H. Slater, M.T. Beck, and S.K. Ewing. 1990. Migratory Characteristics of spring Chinook salmon in the Willamette River. Oregon Cooperative Fishery Research Unit, Dept. of Fish. and Wildlife, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon.
- Bradford, M.J. 1995. Comparative review of Pacific salmon survival rates. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52:1327-1338.
- Bratovich, P.M., and D.W. Kelley. 1988. Investigations of salmon and steelhead in Lagunitas Creek, Marin County, California Volume I. Migration, spawning, embryo incubation and emergence, juvenile rearing, emigration. Report prepared for the Municipal Water District Corte Madera, California, March.
- Brown, L.R., P.B. Moyle, and R.M. Yoshiyama. 1994. Historical Decline and Current Status of Coho Salmon in California. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 14(2): 237-261.

- Buettner, E.W., and A.F. Brimmer. 1995. Smolt monitoring at the head of Lower Granite Reservoir and Lower Granite Dam-annual report for 1993 operations. Prepared for the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon.
- Buettner, E.W., and A.F. Brimmer. 1996. Smolt monitoring at the head of Lower Granite Reservoir and Lower Granite Dam. IDFG 96-18, Project No. 83-323-00B, Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game, Boise, Idaho. 57 p.

Calfish URL: http://www.calfish.org/

- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 1991. Russian River Salmon and Steelhead Trout Restoration Plan. Draft, March 11.
- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 1996. Steelhead restoration and management plan for California. February.
- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 2002. Status review of California coho salmon north of San Francisco. Report to the California Fish and Game Commission. April.
- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 2003a. California salmonid stream habitat restoration manual, Part IX: Fish passage evaluation at stream crossings. April.
- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 2003b. California stream bioassessment procedure: Protocol brief for biological and physical/habitat assessment in wadeable streams. DFG Water Pollution Control Laboratory. 11 pp
- California Department of Fish and Game (DFG). 2004. Recovery strategy for California coho salmon. California Department of Fish and Game, Native Anadromous Fish and Watershed Branch, Sacramento, California. Prepared for California Fish and Game Commission.
- California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). 2006. Federal and state endangered species act status for California anadromous fish as of April 20, 2006. URL: <u>http://www.dfg.ca.gov/ nafwb/</u>LISTSTAT.pdf.
- California Department of Fish and Game and National Marine Fisheries Service (DFG-NMFS). 2000. Guidelines for maintaining instream flows to protect fisheries resources downstream of water diversions in mid-California coastal streams. Sacramento and Santa Rosa, California. May.
- California Department of Fish and Game and National Marine Fisheries Service (DFG-NMFS).
 2002. Guidelines for maintaining instream flows to protect fisheries resources downstream of water diversions in mid-California coastal streams (an update of the May 22, 2000 guidelines). Sacramento and Santa Rosa, California. June.

- California Department of Water Resources (DWR). 1975. California's Groundwater, Bulletin No. 118, 135 p.
- California Department of Water Resources (DWR). 1982. Inventory of instream flow requirements related to stream diversions. Bulletin 216. Sacramento, California. December.
- California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS). 2006. Evapotranspiration Data. Sacramento, California: California Department of Water Resources, Office of Water Use Efficiency. Accessed October 2006 at <u>http://wwwcimis.water.ca.gov/cimis/data.jsp</u>
- Cannata, S.P. 1998. Observations of steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), coho salmon (*O. kisutch*) and water quality of the Navarro River Estuary/Lagoon, May 1996 to December 1997. Draft report. Humboldt State University Foundation, Arcata, California.
- Castleberry, D.T., and eleven others. 1996. Uncertainty and instream flow standards. Fisheries 21(8): 20-21.
- Castro, J.M., and P.L. Jackson. 2001. Bankfull discharge recurrence intervals and regional hydraulic geometry relationships: Patterns in the Pacific Northwest, USA, Journal of the American Water Resources Association Vol. 37, No. 5, pp 1249-1262, October.
- Cederholm, C.J., W.J. Scarlett, and N.P. Peterson. 1988. Low-cost enhancement technique for winter habitat of juvenile coho salmon. N. Amer. Jour. Fish. Mgt 8(4) 438-441.
- Chambers, J.S., G.H. Allen, and R.T. Pressey. 1955. Research relating to study of spawning grounds in natural areas. Wash. Dept. Fish. Annual Report to the Army Corps of Engineers. 175 pp.
- Chapin, D.M., R.L. Beschta, and H. Wen Shen. 2002. Relationships between flood frequencies and riparian plant communities in the upper Klamath basins, Oregon. Journal American Water Resources Association 38(3): 603-617.
- Chapman, D.W. 1988. Critical review of variables used to define effects of fines in redds of large salmonids. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 117: 1-21.
- Chapman, D.W., D.E. Weitkamp, T.L. Welsh, and T.H. Schadt. 1982. Effects of minimum flow regimes on fall Chinook spawning at Vernita Bar. 1978-82. Final report to Grant County Public Utility District 2 prepared by Parametrix Inc., Bellevue, Washington, and Don Chapman Consultants, McCall, Idaho.
- Chase, S.D., R.C. Benkert, D.J. Manning, S.K. White, and S.A. Brady. 2000. Results of the Sonoma County Water Agency's Mirabel Rubber Dam/Wohler Pool Reconnaissance Fish Sampling Program 1999. April.

- Chase, S.D., R.C. Benkert, D.J. Manning, and S.K. White. 2001. Results of the Sonoma County Water Agency's Mirabel Rubber Dam/Wohler Pool Reconnaissance Fish Sampling Program – 2000. December.
- Chase, S., R. Benkert, and S. White. 2003. Sonoma County Water Agency's Mirabel Rubber Dam/Wohler Pool Fish Sampling Program: Year 3 Results 2002. Sonoma County Water Agency, Santa Rosa, California.
- Chow, V.T. 1959. Open-channel hydraulics. McGraw-Hill. New York NY.
- Church, M.A., D.G. McLean, and J.F. Wolcott. 1987. River bed gravels: Sampling and analysis. Chapter 3 *in* C.R. Thorne, J.C. Bathurst, and R.D. Hey, editors. Sediment transport in gravel-bed rivers. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- Clarke, W.C., and T. Hirano. 1995. Osmoregulation. Pages 319-377 *in* C. Groot, L. Margolis, and W. C. Clarke, editors. Physiological ecology of Pacific salmon. UBC Press, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
- Collings, M.R. 1974. Generalization of spawning and rearing discharges for several Pacific salmon species in western Washington. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report. Tacoma, Washington.
- Collings, M.R., R.W. Smith, and G.T. Higgins. 1972a. The hydrology of four streams in western Washington as related to several Pacific salmon species: Humptulips, Elochoman, Green, and Wynootchee rivers. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report. Tacoma, Washington.
- Collings, M.R., R.W. Smith, and G.T. Higgins. 1972b. The hydrology of four streams in western Washington as related to several Pacific salmon species. U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 1968. Washington D.C.
- Conquest, L.L., and S. Ralph. 1998. Statistical design and analysis considerations for monitoring and assessment. Pages 455-475 *in* R. J. Naiman and R.E. Bilby, River ecology and management: Lessons from the Pacific Coastal Ecoregion. Springer-Verlag, NY.
- Cook, D. 2003. Chinook Salmon Spawning Study Russian River Fall 2002. Sonoma County Water Agency, Santa Rosa, California. April.
- Cook, D. 2004. Russian River Estuary Flow-related Habitat Project, Survey Methods Report 2003. Sonoma County Water Agency, Santa Rosa, California.
- Cordone, A., and D.W. Kelley. 1961. The influence of inorganic sediment on the aquatic life of streams. California Department of Fish and Game. 47: 189-228.
- Coronado, C., and R. Hilborn. 1998. Spatial and temporal factors affecting survival in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) in the Pacific Northwest. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55: 2067- 2077.
- Cramer, S.P. 1997. Use of managed pulses in flow to stimulate outmigration of juvenile salmon. Pages 563-568 *in* F.M. Holly, and A. Alsaffar, editors. Environmental and coastal hydraulics: Protecting the aquatic habitat. Volume 1, Proceedings of Theme B. Water for a changing global community, 27th Congress IAHR. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, NY.
- Crisp, D.T. 1981. A desk study of the relationship between temperature and hatching time for the eggs of five species of salmonid fishes. Freshwater Biology 11: 361-368.
- Cummins, K.W. 1979. The natural stream ecosystem. Pages 7-24 *in* J.V. Ward and J.A. Stanford, editors. The ecology of regulated streams. Plenum Press, New York. 398 p.
- Curtis, J., and K.L. Lovell. 2006. Lasting wild salmon recovery versus merely avoiding extinction. Pages 207-231 *in* R.T. Lackey, D.H. Lach, and S.L. Duncan, editors. Salmon 2100: The future of wild Pacific salmon. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda Maryland.
- Davis, G.E., J. Foster, C.E. Warren, and P. Doudoroff. 1963. The influence of oxygen concentration on the swimming performance of juvenile Pacific salmon at various temperatures. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 92: 111-124.
- Deitch, M.J. 2006. Scientific and institutional complexities of managing surface water for beneficial human and ecosystem uses under a seasonally variable flow regime in Mediterranean-climate northern California. Ph.D. dissertation, University of California Berkeley.
- Demko, D.B. 1996. Effect of pulse flows on outmigration of juvenile Chinook in the Stanislaus River. Abstract and talk presented at the Western Division American Fisheries Society Meeting, 14 July-18 July 1996, Eugene, Oregon.
- Demko, D.B., C. Gemperle, A. Phillips, and S.P. Cramer. 1998. Evaluation of juvenile Chinook behavior, migration rate and location of mortality in the Stanislaus River through the use of radio tracking. Report submitted for Tri-Dam Project. S.P. Cramer & Associates, Inc. Gresham, Oregon. December.
- Demko, D.B., C. Gemperle, A. Phillips, and S.P. Cramer. 2000. Outmigrant Trapping of Juvenile Salmonids in the Lower Stanislaus River Caswell State Park Site 1999. Report submitted to U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. S.P. Cramer & Associates, Inc. Gresham, Oregon. September.
- DeVries, P. 1997. Riverine salmonid egg burial depths: review of published data and implications for scour studies. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 1685-1698.

- DeVries, P. 2000. Scour in low gradient gravel bed streams: Patterns, processes, and implications for the survival of salmonid embryos. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Washington, Seattle. February.
- DeVries, P., B. Kvam, S. Beck, D. Reiser, M. Ramey, C. Huang, and C. Eakin. 2001. Kerr Hydroelectric Project, Lower Flathead River ramping rate study. Prepared by R2 Resource Consultants, for Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Nation, Montana.
- Dietrich, W., J.W. Kirchner, H. Ikeda, and F. Iseya. 1989. Sediment supply and the development of the coarse surface layer in gravel-bedded rivers. Nature 340: 215-217.
- Dose, J. 2006. Commitment, strategy, action: The three pillars of wild salmon recovery. Pages 233-259 *in* R.T. Lackey, D.H. Lach, and S.L. Duncan, editors. Salmon 2100: The future of wild Pacific salmon. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda Maryland.
- Downie, Scott T., C.W. Davenport, E. Dudik, F. Yee, and J. Clements. 2002. Mattole River Watershed Assessment Report. North Coast Watershed Assessment Program, pages 441 plus Appendices. California Resources Agency, and California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, California.
- Dunne, T., and L.B. Leopold. 1978. Water in environmental planning. W.H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco, California.
- Ebersole, J.L., and nine others. 2006. Juvenile coho salmon growth and survival across stream network seasonal habitats. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 135: 1681–1697.
- Entrix, Inc. 2002. Russian River Biological Assessment interim report 3: Flow-related habitat. Report prepared for: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Francisco District. Walnut Creek, California. April.
- Entrix, Inc. 2004. Russian River Biological Assessment. Report prepared for: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Francisco District. Walnut Creek, California. September.
- Environmental Protection Agency. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Program (EMAP); Internet EMAP URL: <u>http://www.epa.gov/nheerl/arm/indicators/fieldops.htm;</u>
- Erman, N.A. 1984. The use of riparian systems by aquatic insects. Pages 177-182 *in* Warner, R.E., and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems: Ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. Calif. Press, Berkeley California.
- Evans, W.A., and B. Johnston. 1980. Fish migration and fish passage. USDA Forest Service, EM-7100-12, Washington D.C. 63 pp. plus appendices.

- Everest, F.H., C.E. McLemore, and J. F. Ward. 1980. An improved tri-tube cryogenic gravel sampler. U.S. Forest Service Research Note PNW-350.
- Fast, D., J. Hubble, M. Kohn, and B. Watson. 1991. Yakima River spring Chinook enhancement study. Final report. Bonneville Power Administration Project No. 82-16. May.
- Fenneman, N.M. 1931. Physiography of western United States: New York, McGraw-Hill Book Co. 534 p.
- Fisk, L.O. 1955. Recommendation for the Development of the Navarro River Basin to Benefit Anadromous Fishes. Draft Report, California Department of Fish and Game. January.
- Florsheim, J., K. Gaffney, A. Rich, L. Charles, L. Brooke, T. Hughes, and D. Sakai. 1997.
 Upper Russian River Aggregate Resources Management Plan, Mendocino County. Philip Williams & Associates Ltd., San Francisco, California; with Circuit Rider Productions, Inc.;
 A.A. Rich and Associates; Leonard Charles & Associates; and Theresa Hughes & Associates. Prepared for Mendocino County Water Agency.
- Flosi, G., and F. Reynolds. 1994. California salmonid stream habitat restoration manual, Second Edition. The Resources Agency, California Department of Fish and Game, Inland Fish Division, Sacramento, California. 261 pp.
- Flosi, G., S. Downie, J. Hopelain, M. Bird, R. Coey, and B. Collins. 1998. California salmonid stream habitat restoration manual, 3rd edition. California Department of Fish and Game, February.
- Fong, D. 1996. 1994-1995 Redwood Creek Spawner And Carcass Survey. Aquatic Ecology Program 1995 Annual Report.
- Freeman, M.C., C.M. Pringle, and C.R. Jackson. 2007. Hydrologic connectivity and the contribution of stream headwaters to ecological integrity at regional scales. Journal American Water Resources Association 43(1): 5-14.
- Gallagher, S.P. 2000. Results of the Winter 2000 Steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Spawning Survey on the Noyo River, California with Comparison to Some Historic Habitat Information. California Department of Fish and Game. Fort Bragg. December.
- Giannico, G.R., and M.C. Healey. 1998. Effects of flow and food on winter movements of juvenile coho salmon. Transactions American Fisheries Society 127: 645-651.
- Giorgi, A.E., L.C. Stuehrenberg, D.R. Miller, and C.W. Sims. 1985. Smolt passage behavior and flow-net relationship in the forebay of John Day Dam. Final report of research, 1985. Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon.

- Gomez, B., and M. Church. 1989. An assessment of bed load sediment transport formulae for gravel bed rivers. Water Resources Research 25: 1161-1186.
- Good, T.P., R.S. Waples, and P. Adams (editors). 2005. Updated Status of Federally Listed ESUs of West Coast Salmon and Steelhead. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-66, 598 p
- Gregory, S.V., K.L. Boyer, and A.M. Gurnell. 2003. The ecology and management of wood in world rivers. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 444p.
- Griffith, J.S., Jr. 1972. Comparative behavior and habitat utilization of brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and cutthroat trout (*Salmo clarki*) in small streams in northern Idaho. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 29: 265-273.
- Grost, R.T., W.A. Hubert, and T.A. Wesche. 1991. Field comparison of three devices used to sample substrates in small streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management; 11: 347–351.
- Hallock, R.J., R.F. Elwell, and D.H. Fry, Jr. 1970. Migrations of adult king salmon Oncorhynchus tshawytscha in the San Joaquin Delta as demonstrated by the use of sonic tags. California Department of Fish and Game, Fish Bulletin 151.
- Haltiner, J.P., G.M Kondolf, and P.B. Williams. 1996. Restoration approaches in California.
 Pages 291-329 *in* Brookes, A., and F.D. Shields Jr., editors. River channel restoration:
 Guiding principles for sustainable projects. John Wiley & Sons, New York NY.
- Hare, S.R., and R.C. Francis. 1994. Climate change and salmon production in the northeast Pacific Ocean. Pages 357-372 in R.J. Beamish, editor. Climate change and northern fish populations. Canadian Special Publication Fisheries Aquatic Sciences 121.
- Harris, R.R. 1999. Defining reference conditions for restoration of riparian plant communities: Examples from California, USA. Environmental Management 24(1): 55-63.
- Hartman, G.F.,T.G. Northcote, and C.J. Cederholm. 2006. Human numbers The alpha factor affecting the future of wild salmon. Pages 261-292 *in* R.T. Lackey, D.H. Lach, and S.L. Duncan, editors. Salmon 2100: The future of wild Pacific salmon. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda Maryland.
- Harvey, B.C., J.L. White, and R.J. Nakamoto. 2005. Habitat-specific biomass, survival, and growth of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) during summer in a small coastal stream. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 650-658.
- Harvey, B.C., R.J. Nakamoto, and J.L. White. 2006. Reduced streamflow lowers dry-season growth of rainbow trout in a small stream. Transactions American Fisheries Society 135: 998-1005.

- Haschenburger, J.K. 1999. A probability model of scour and fill depths in gravel-bed channels. Water Resources Research 35: 2857-2869.
- Hatfield, T. and J. Bruce. 2000. Predicting salmon habitat-flow relationship for streams from western North America. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20 (4): 1005-1015.
- Healey, M. C. 1991. Life history of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Pages 311-393 *in* C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors. Life history of Pacific Salmon. University of British Columbia Press. Vancouver, British Columbia.
- Hedrick, L., S. Welsh, and J. Hedrick. 2005. A new sampler design for measuring sedimentation in streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 2005; 25: 238–244
- Hilborn, R. 1992. Can fisheries agencies learn from experience? Fisheries 17: 6-14.
- Hilborn, R., and C.J. Walters. 1992. Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment: Choice, Dynamics and Uncertainty. Chapman and Hall, New York. 570 p.
- Hilgert, P., and S. Madsen. 1998. Evaluation of potential stranding and trapping of juvenile salmonids as a result of flow fluctuations in the lower White River, Washington. Prepared by Beak Consultants and R2 Resource Consultants. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy
- Hill, M.T., W.S. Platts, and R.L. Beschta. 1991. Ecological and geomorphological concepts for instream and out-of-channel flow requirements. Rivers, Studies in the Science, Environmental Policy and Law of Instream Flow, 2(3): 198-210.
- Holstein, G. 1984. California riparian forests: Deciduous islands in an evergreen sea. Pages 2-21 *in* R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems: Ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. Calif. Press, Berkeley California.
- Horizon Systems. 2006. NHDPlus Geospatial Dataset. Data available on the World Wide Web, accessed July 2006, at URL [http://www.horizon-systems.com/nhdplus/].
- Humpesch, U.H. 1985. Inter- and intra-specific variation in hatching success and embryonic development of five species of salmonids and *Thymallus thymallus*. Archiv Fur Hydrobiology 104(1): 129-144.
- Hunter, M.A. 1992. Hydropower Flow Fluctuations and Salmonids: A Review of the Biological Effects, Mechanical Causes, and Options for Mitigation. Technical Report No. 119. Washington Department of Fisheries, Olympia, Washington.
- Huntsman, A.G. 1948. Freshets and fish. Transactions American Fisheries Society 75(1): 257-266.

- Independent Science Panel (ISP). 2000. Recommendations for monitoring salmonid recovery in Washington State. Report 2000-2. Olympia, Washington.
- Independent Science Panel (ISP). 2002. Instream flow for salmon. Technical Memorandum TM-2002-1. Olympia, Washington. <u>http://www.governor.wa.gov/gsro/science/pdf/021502memo.pdf</u>
- Independent Science Panel (ISP). 2006. Review of "Study Plan for the Intensively Monitored Watershed Program" (April 26, 2006 review draft). Report 2006-1. Olympia, Washington.
- Instream Flow Council (IFC). 2002. Instream flows for riverine resource stewardship.
- Interagency Advisory Committee on Water Data. 1982. Guidelines for Determining Flood Flow Frequency. Bulletin 17B of the Hydrology Subcommittee, Office of Water Data Coordination, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, 183 p.
- Interagency Advisory Committee on Water Data. 2002. *Bulletin 17B Guidelines For Determining Flood Frequency Frequently Asked Questions*. Subcommittee on Hydrology, Hydrologic Frequency Analysis Work Group. Accessed November 2006 at http://acwi.gov/hydrology/Frequency/B17bFAQ.html.
- Jackson, D. 2001. Napa River Cumulative Impacts. Exhibit 1. Dennis Jackson, Santa Cruz, California. Prepared for Tom Lippe Law Office, San Francisco, California.
- Johnson, D.H., N. Pittman, E. Wilder, J.A. Silver, R.W. Plotnikoff, B.C. Mason, K.K. Jones, P. Roger, T.A. O'Neil, C. Barrett. 2001. Inventory and Monitoring of Salmon Habitat in the Pacific Northwest Directory and Synthesis of Protocols for Management/Research and Volunteers in Washington, Oregon, Idaho, Montana, and British Columbia. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, Washington. 212 pp.
- Jones, D., R. Snyder, S. Eching, and H. Gomez-MacPherson. 1999. CIMIS Reference Evapotranspiration [Map]. Sacramento, California: California Department of Water Resources, Office of Water Use Efficiency. Accessed October 2006 at <u>http://www.cimis.water.ca.gov/cimis/info.jsp</u>.
- Kaczynski, V.W., and F. Alvarado. 2006. Assessment of the southern range limit of North American coho salmon: Difficulties in establishing natural range boundaries. Fisheries 31(8): 374-391.
- Karr, J.R. 1999. Defining and measuring river health. Freshwater Biology 41: 221-234.
- Keeley, E.R., and P.A. Slaney. 1996. Quantitative measures of rearing and spawning habitat characteristics for stream-dwelling salmonids: Guidelines for habitat restoration.
 Watershed Restoration Project Report No. 4, Watershed Restoration Program, B.C. Ministries of Environment, Lands and Parks, and of Forests. 29 pp.

- Kelley, D.W. 1976. The Possibility of Restoring Salmon and Steelhead Runs in Walker Creek, Marin County. Report prepared for Marin Municipal Water District. April.
- Kershner, J.L. 1997. Watershed restoration monitoring and adaptive management. Pages 116-135 *in* J.E. Williams, M.P. Dombeck, and C.A. Wood, editors. Watershed Restoration: Principles and Practices. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- King, J.M., R.E. Tharme, and M.S. DeVilliers, editors. 2000 Environmental flow assessments for rivers: manual for the Building Block Methodology; Pretoria, South Africa: Water Research Commission.
- Knapp, S.M., J.C. Kern, W.A. Cameron, S.L. Shapleigh, and R.W. Carmichael. 1995.
 Evaluation of juvenile salmonid outmigration and survival in the lower Umatilla Basin.
 Annual Report 1995 (October 1994- September 1995), Project No. 89-024-01, Oregon
 Dept. of Fish and Wildlife, Portland, Oregon. 133 p.
- Knight, A.W., and R.L. Bottorff. 1984. The importance of riparian vegetation to stream ecosystems. Pages 160-167 in R.E. Warner, and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems: Ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. Calif. Press, Berkeley California.
- Kondolf, G.M. 2000. Assessing salmonid spawning gravel quality. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 129(1): 262-281.
- Kondolf, G.M., and M.G. Wolman. 1993. The Sizes of Salmonid Spawning Gravels. Water Resources Research 29: 2275-2285.
- Kondolf, G.M., L.M. Maloney, and J.G. Williams. 1987. Effects of bank storage and well pumping on base flow, Carmel River, Monterey County, California. Journal of Hydrology 91: 351-369.
- Kondolf, G.M., G.F. Cada, M.J. Sale, and T. Felando. 1991. Distribution and stability of potential salmonid spawning gravels in steep boulder-bed streams of the eastern Sierra Nevada, California. Transactions American Fisheries Society 120: 177-186.
- Kondolf, G.M., M.W. Smeltzer, and S.F. Railsback. 2001. Design and Performance of a Channel Reconstruction Project in a Coastal California Gravel-Bed Stream. Environmental Management 28(6): 761-776.
- Koslow, J.A., A.J. Hobday, and G.W. Boehlert. 2002. Climate variability and marine survival of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) in the Oregon production area. Fish. Oceanogr. 11: 65-77.
- Kulik, B.H. 1990. A method to refine the New England Aquatic Base Flow Policy. Rivers 1: 8-22.

- Lachance, S., and M. Dube. 2004. A new tool for measuring sediment accumulation with minimal loss of fines. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 24:303–310.
- Lane, E.W. 1955. Design of stable channels. ASCE Transactions 120: 1234-1279.
- Lang, M., M. Love, and W. Trush. 2004. Final Report: Improving Stream Crossings for Fish Passage. National Marine Fisheries Service and Humboldt State University Foundation.
- Lapointe, M., B. Eaton, S. Driscoll, and C. Latulippe. 2000. Modelling the probability of salmonid egg pocket scour due to floods. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 1120-1130.
- Lawson, P.W. 1993. Cycles in ocean productivity, trends in habitat quality, and the restoration of salmon runs in Oregon. Fisheries 18(8): 6-10.
- Lawson, P.W., E.A. Loggerwell, N.J. Mantua, R.C. Francis, and V.N. Agostini. 2004.
 Environmental factors influencing freshwater survival and smolt production in Pacific
 Northwest coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 61: 360-373.
- Lee, D.C., and B. Rieman. 1997. Population viability assessment of salmonids by using probabilistic networks. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17: 1144-1157.
- Lee, K.N. 1993. Compass and gyroscope: integrating science and policy for the environment. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Leopold, L.B. 1994. A view of the river, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Leopold, L.B., M.G. Wolman, and J.P. Miller. 1995. Fluvial processes in geomorphology. Republication. Dover Publications, Inc. New York, N.Y. 522 p.
- Lietritz, E., and R.C. Lewis. 1980. Trout and salmon culture (hatchery methods). California Fish Bulletin No. 164. California Sea Grant, University of California.
- Ligon, F.K., W.E. Dietrich, and W.E.J. Trush. 1995. Downstream ecological effects of dams: A geomorphic perspective. Bioscience 45(3): 183-192.
- Linsley, R.K., M.A. Kohler, and J.L.H. Paulhus. 1982. Hydrology for engineers. McGraw-Hill. New York NY.
- Ludwig, D., R. Hilborn, and C. Walters. 1993. Uncertainty, resource exploitation and conservation: Lessons from History. Science 260, 17-18.
- Lumb, A.M., R.B. McCammon, and J.L. Kittle, Jr. 1994. Users manual for an expert system (HSPEXP) for calibration of the Hydrologic Simulation Program--Fortran: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 94-4168, 102 p.

- Maahs, M. 2000. Spawning survey of the Garcia River 1998-1999. Report prepared for Mendocino County Resource Conservation District.
- MacDonald, L.H., A.H. Smart, and R.C. Wissmar. 1991. Monitoring Guidelines to Evaluate Effects of Forestry Activities on Streams in the Pacific Northwest and Alaska. EPA/910/9-91-001. Edward Brothers Press, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Mahoney, J.M., and S.B. Rood. 1998. Streamflow requirements for cottonwood seedling recruitment an integrative model. Wetlands 18: 634-645.
- Manning, D.J., J.A. Mann, S.K. White, S.D. Chase, and R.C. Benkert. 2005. Steelhead emigration in a seasonal impoundment created by an inflatable rubber dam. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 25: 1239-1255.
- Mantua, N.J., S.R. Hare, Y. Zhang, J.M. Wallace, and R.C. Francis. 1997. A Pacific interdecadal climate oscillation with impacts on salmon production. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78(6): 1069-1079.
- Marchetti, M.P., and P.B. Moyle. 2001. Effects of flow regime on fish assemblages in a regulated California stream. Ecological Applications 11(2): 530-539.
- McBain and Trush and Trout Unlimited (MTTU). 2000. Allocating streamflows to protect and recover threatened salmon and steelhead populations in the Russian River and other northcoast rivers of California. Arcata, California. July.
- McBride, J.R., and J. Strahan. 1984a. Fluvial processes and woodland succession along Dry Creek, Sonoma County, California. Pages 110-119 *in* R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems: Ecology, conservation, and productive management. Univ. Calif. Press, Berkeley, California.
- McBride, J.R., and J. Strahan. 1984b. Establishment and survival of woody riparian species on gravel bars of an intermittent stream. American Midland Naturalist 112(2): 235-245.
- McCullough, D.A. 1999. A review and synthesis of effects of alterations to the water temperature regime on freshwater life stages of salmonids, with special reference to Chinook salmon. EPA Region 10, Water Resources Assessment, EPA 910-R-99-010.
- McElhaney, P., M. Ruckleshaus, M.J. Ford, T. Wainwright, E. Bjorkstedt. 2000. Viable salmon populations and the recovery of evolutionarily significant units. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum, NMFS–NWFSC–42.
- McEwan, D., and T.A. Jackson. 1996. Steelhead Restoration and Management Plan for California. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, California.

- McLean, W.E., J.O.T. Jensen, and P.J. Rombough. 1991. Microcomputer models for salmonid hatcheries. American Fisheries Society, Fisheries Bioengineering Symposium 10: 516-528. Bethesda, Maryland.
- McNeil, W., and W.H. Ahnell. 1964. Success of pink salmon spawning relative to size of spawning bed materials. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Report, Fisheries 469. 15 pp.
- Meyer, J.L., D.L. Strayer, J.B. Wallace, S.L. Eggert, G.S. Helfman, and N.E. Leonard. 2007. The contribution of headwater streams to biodiversity in river networks. Journal American Water Resources Association 43(1): 86-103.
- Moir, H.J., C.N. Gibbins, C. Soulsby, and J.H. Webb. 2004. Linking channel geomorphic characteristics to spatial patterns of spawning activity and discharge use by Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Geomorphology 60: 21-35.
- Montgomery, D.R., and W.E. Dietrich. 1989. Source areas, drainage density, and channel initiation. Water Resources Research 25: 1907-1918.
- Montgomery, D.R., and J.M. Buffington. 1993. Channel classification, prediction of channel response, and assessment of channel condition. Report TFW-SH10-93-002, Washington State Timber, Fish, and Wildlife. Olympia, Washington. June.
- Montgomery, D.R., and J.M. Buffington. 1997. Channel-reach morphology in mountain drainage basins. GSA Bull. 109: 596-611.
- Montgomery, D.R., E.M. Beamer, G.R. Pess, and T.P. Quinn. 1999. Channel type and salmonid spawning distribution and abundance. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 377-387.
- Montgomery, D.R., J.M. Buffington, N.P. Peterson, D. Schuett-Hames, and T.P. Quinn. 1996. Stream-bed scour, egg burial depths, and the influence of salmonid spawning on bed surface mobility and embryo survival. Can. J. Fish. Aq. Sci. 53: 1061-1070.
- Moser, M.L, A.F. Olson, and T.P. Quinn. 1991. Riverine and estuarine migratory behavior of coho salmon *(Oncorhynchus kisutch)* smolts. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48: 1670-1678.
- Mosley, M.P. 1982. Critical depths for passage in braided rivers, Canterbury, New Zealand. New Zealand J. Mar. Freshwat. Res. 16: 351-357.
- Moyle, P.B., M.P. Marchetti, J. Baldrige, and T.L. Taylor. 1998. Fish health and diversity: Justifying flows for a California stream. Fisheries 23(7): 6-15.
- Moyle, P.B., R.M. Yoshiyama, J.E. Williams, and E.D. Wikramanayake. 1995. Fish Species of Special Concern in California. Second Edition. California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, California.

- Moyle, P. B., G. M. Kondolf, and J. G. Williams. 2000. Fish bypass flows for coastal watersheds: A review of proposed approaches for the State Water Resources Control Board. June. 26pp.
- Mattole Restoration Council (MRC). 1995. Dynamics of Recovery: A Plan to Enhance the Mattole Estuary. Mattole Restoration Council, Petrolia, California.
- Murphy, M.L., and W.R. Meehan. 1991. Stream ecosystems. *In* Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication. 19: 17-46.
- Murray, C.B., and J.D. McPhail. 1988. Effect of incubation temperature on the development of five species of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus*) embryos and alevins. Canadian Journal of Zoology 66: 266-273.
- Napa County Resource Conservation District (NCRCD). 2006. Gaged data for Carneros and Huichica Creeks. Received from Paul Blank, NCRCD, Napa, California.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 1997. Fish Screening Criteria for Anadromous Salmonids. Southwest Region. Santa Rosa, California. January
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2000. Viable salmonid populations and the recovery of Evolutionarily Significant Units (NMFS 2000).
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2001. Guidelines for salmonid passage at stream crossings. Southwest Region. Santa Rosa, California. September.
- National Park Service (NPS). 2006. Olema rain & flowMR.xls [data file]. Received from Brannon Ketcham, Point Reyes National Seashore, Point Reyes Station, California.
- National Research Council (NRC). 1996. Upstream: Salmon and society in the Pacific Northwest. National Academy Press, Washington D.C.
- Nehlsen, W., J.E. Williams, and J.A. Lichatowich. 1991. Pacific salmon at the crossroads: stocks at risk from California, Oregon, Idaho, and Washington. Fisheries 16: 4-21.
- Neter, J., W. Wasserman, and M.H. Kutner. 1983. Applied linear regression models. Richard D. Irwin, Inc. Homewood, Illinois.
- Nickelson, T.E., J.D. Rodgers, S.L. Johnson, and M.F. Solazzi. 1992. Seasonal changes in habitat use by juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) in Oregon coastal streams. Canada Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 49: 783-789.
- Nielsen, J.L., T.E. Lisle., and V. Ozaki. 1994. Thermally stratified pools and their use by steelhead in northern California streams. Transactions American Fisheries Society 123: 613-626.

- North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board (NCRWQCB). 2000. Navarro River Watershed Technical Support Document for the Total Maximum Daily Load for Sediment and Technical Support Document for the Total Maximum Daily Load for Temperature. July.
- Opperman, J.J. 2002. Anadromous Fish Habitat in California's Mediterranean-climate Watersheds: Influences of Riparian Vegetation, Instream Large Woody Debris, and Watershed-scale Land Use. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California Berkeley.
- Opperman, J.J., and A.M. Merenlender. 2003. Factors influencing success of riparian restoration in the Russian River basin: Deer, sheep, and hydrology. Pages 357-365 *in* P. Faber, editor. California riparian systems: Processes and floodplain management, ecology, and restoration. 2001 Riparian Habitat and Floodplains Conference proceedings. Riparian Habitat Joint Venture, Sacramento, California.
- Opperman, J.J., and A.M. Merenlender. 2004. The effectiveness of riparian restoration for improving instream fish habitat in four hardwood-dominated California streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 24: 822–834
- Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (ODEQ). 1995. 1992-1994 water quality standards review. Portland, Oregon.
- Oregon State Game Commission (OSGC). 1963. The fish and wildlife resources of the middle Willamette basin, Oregon, and their water use requirements. Report submitted to the State Water Resources Board, Portland. 27 p.
- Orsborn, J.F., and P.D. Powers. 1985. Fishways An Assessment of their Development and Design. Prepared by Albrook Hydraulics Laboratory, Washington State University for Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon. 161 pp.
- Parker, G. 2005. 1d sediment transport morphodynamics with applications to rivers and turbidity currents. E-book. St. Anthony Falls Laboratory, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis Minnesota.
- Parker, G., C.M. Toro-Escobar, M. Ramey, and S. Beck. 2003. Effect of floodwater extraction on mountain stream morphology. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 129(11): 885-895.
- Paulik, G.J. 1959. The Locomotive Performance of Salmonids During the Upstream Migration. PhD Dissertation, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.
- Paulik, G.J., and A.C. DeLacy. 1957. Swimming abilities of upstream migrant silver salmon, sockeye salmon and steelhead at several water velocities. University of Washington, School of Fisheries, Tech. Rep. 44, Seattle, Washington. 40 pp.

- Peterson, N.P. 1982. Immigration of juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) into riverine ponds. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 39: 1308-1310.
- Plafkin J.L., M.T. Barbour, K.D. Porter, S. K. Gross, and R.M. Hughes. 1989. Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and rivers. Benthic macroinvertebrates and fish. U.S. EPA Report. EPA/444/4-89-001.
- Platts, W.S. 1991. Livestock grazing. *In* Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society Special Publication. 19: 389-423.
- Platts, W.S., W.F. Megahan, and G.W. Minshall. 1983. Methods for evaluating stream riparian and biotic conditions. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-138, U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Ogden, Utah.
- Poff, N.L., J.D. Allan, M.B. Bain, J.R. Karr, K.L. Prestegaard, B.D. Richter, R.E. Sparks, and J.C. Stromberg. 1997. The natural flow regime. Bioscience 47(11): 769-784.
- Postel, S. and B. Richter. 2003. Rivers for Life: Managing Water for People and Nature. Island Press, Washington, USA.
- Power, M.E., W.E. Dietrich, and J.C. Finlay. 1996. Dams and downstream aquatic biodiversity: Potential food web consequences of hydrologic and geomorphic change. Environmental Management 20: 887-895
- Powers, P.D., and J.F. Orsborn. 1985. Analysis of Barriers to Upstream Fish Migration: An investigation of the physical and biological conditions affecting fish passage success at culverts and waterfalls. Part 4 of 4. Final Report. Prepared by Albrook Hydraulics Laboratory, Washington State University for Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon. 120 pp.
- Quinn, T.P. 2005. The behavior and ecology of Pacific salmon and trout. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- R2 Resource Consultants. 2004. Instream flow claims for the Snake River Basin Adjudication, Idaho. Volumes 1-3. Prepared for U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, and U.S. Department of Justice. Redmond, Washington.
- Rantz, S.E. 1964. Stream hydrology related to the optimum discharge of king salmon spawning in the northern California coast ranges. U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 1779-AA. 16 pp.
- Rantz, S.E., and T.H. Thompson. 1967. Surface water hydrology of California coastal basins between San Francisco Bay and Eel River. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1851. Washington D.C.

- Ratner, S., R. Lande, and B.B. Roper. 1997. Population Viability Analysis of Spring Chinook Salmon in the South Umpqua River, Oregon. Conservation Biology, Vol. 11, No. 4 (Aug., 1997). pp. 879-889
- Ray, D., W. Woodroof, and R.C. Roberts. 1984. Management of riparian vegetation in the Northcoast region of California's coastal zone. Pages 660-672 *in* R.E. Warner and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems. University of California Press, Berkeley California.
- Regier, H.A. 1996. Old traditions that led to abuses of salmon and their ecosystems. Pages17-28 *in* D.J. Stouder, P.A. Bisson, and R.J. Naiman, editors. Pacific salmon and their ecosystems: Status and future options. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY.
- Reiser, D.W. 1998a. Sediment in gravel bed rivers: ecological and biological considerations.
 Pages 199-228 *in* P. Klingeman, R. Beschta, P. Komar, and J. Bradley, editors. Gravel Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- Reiser, D.W. 1998b. Why fish need water: life history strategies and habitat requirements of salmonid populations in the Snake, Salmon, and Clearwater River Basins of Idaho. Expert Report prepared for the Department of Justice, Denver, Colorado.
- Reiser, D.W., and R.T. Peacock. 1985. A technique for assessing upstream fish passage problems at small -scale hydropower developments. Pages 423-432 *in* F.W. Olson, R.G. White, and R.H. Hamre, editors. Symposium on small hydropower and fisheries. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Reiser, D.W., and R.G. White. 1981. Effects of flow fluctuation and redd dewatering on salmonid embryo development and fry quality. Research Technical Completion Report, Contract No. DE-AC79-79BP10848. Idaho Water and Energy Resources Research Institute, University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho.
- Reiser, D.W., and R.G. White. 1983. Effects of complete redd dewatering on salmonid egghatching success and development of juveniles. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 112 (4): 532-540.
- Reiser, D.W., T. Nightengale, N. Hendrix, and S. Beck. 2005. Effects of pulse-type flows on benthic macroinvertebrates and fish: a review and synthesis of information. Report prepared by R2 Resource Consultants for Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Ramon, California.
- Reiser, D.W., C. Huang, S. Beck, M. Gagner, and E. Jeanes. 2006. Defining flow windows for upstream passage of adult anadromous salmonids at cascades and falls. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 135: 668-679.

- Richter, B.D., and H.E. Richter. 2000. Prescribing flood regimes to sustain riparian ecosystems along meandering rivers. Conservation Biology 14(5): 1467-1478.
- Risser, R.J., and R.R. Harris. 1989. Mitigation for impacts to riparian vegetation on western montane streams. Chapter 9 *in* J.A. Gore, J.A. and G.E. Petts, editors. Alternatives in regulated river management. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Roberts, R.C. 1984. The transitional nature of northwestern California riparian systems. Pages 85-91 *in* Warner, R.E., and K.M. Hendrix, editors. California riparian systems. University of California Press, Berkeley California.
- Roni, P. 2005. Chapter 1 Overview and Background. Pages 1-12 *in* P. Roni, editor. Monitoring Stream and Watershed Restoration. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland
- Roni, P., T.J. Beechie, R.E. Bilby, F.E. Leonetti, M.M. Pollock, and G.R. Pess. 2002. A Review of Stream Restoration Techniques and a Hierarchical Strategy for Prioritizing Restoration in Pacific Northwest Watersheds. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 22: 1-20.
- Rood, S.B., and J.M. Mahoney. 1990. Collapse of riparian poplar forests downstream from dams in western prairies: Probable causes and prospects for mitigation. Environ. Manag. 14: 451-464.
- Rood, S.B., and J.M. Mahoney. 1995. River damming and riparian cottonwoods along the Marias River, Montana. Rivers, Studies in the Science, Environmental Policy and Law of Instream Flow, 5 (3): 195-207.
- Rood, S.B., K. Taboulchanas, C.E. Bradley, and A.R. Kalischuk. 1999. Influence of flow regulation on channel dynamics and riparian cottonwoods along the Bow River, Alberta. Rivers, Studies in the Science, Environmental Policy and Law of Instream Flow, 7(1): 33-48.
- Roper, B.B., and D.L. Scarnecchia. 1999. Emigration of age-0 Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) smolts from the upper South Umpqua River basin, Oregon, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 939-946.
- Ross Taylor and Associates (RTA). 2003. Marin County stream crossing inventory and fish passage evaluation. Final report prepared for the County of Marin, Department of Public Works. July.
- Sandercock, F.K. 1991. Life history of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Pages 395-445 *in* C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors. Life history of Pacific Salmon. University of British Columbia Press. Vancouver, British Columbia.

- Schmidt, L.J., and J.P. Potyondy. 2004. Quantifying channel maintenance instream flows: An approach for gravel-bed streams in the western United States. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-128. May.
- Scott, M.L., J.M. Friedman, and G.T. Auble. 1996. Fluvial process and the establishment of bottomland trees. Geomorphology 14: 327-339.
- Shapovalov, L. 1937. Experiments in hatching steelhead eggs in gravel. California Fish and Game 23(3): 208-214.
- Shapovalov, L., and A.C. Taft. 1954. The life histories of the steelhead rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri gairdneri) and silver salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), with special reference to Waddell Creek, California, and recommendations regarding their management. California Department of Fish and Game, Fish Bulletin No. 98.
- Sheridan, W.L. 1962. Waterflow through a salmon spawning riffle in Southeastern Alaska. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Special Scientific Report B Fisheries 407.
- Simon, A., W. Dickerson, and A. Heinz. 2004. Suspended-sediment transport rates at the 1.5year recurrence interval for ecoregions of the United States: transport conditions at the bankfull and effective discharge?, Geomorphology, Vol. 58, No. 1-4, pp 243-262, March.
- Skalski, J.R., and R.L. Townsend. 1999. Analysis of smolt travel time and survival through the John Day Project using available PIT-tag data. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Portland, Oregon.
- Slatick, E. 1975. Laboratory evaluation of a Denil-type steeppass fishway with various entrance and exit conditions for passage of adult salmonids and American shad. Mar. Fish. Rev. 37(9): 17-26.
- Smith, G.E. 1986. Instream flow requirements, anadromous salmonids spawning and rearing, Lagunitas Creek, Marin County. California Department of Fish and Game, Stream Evaluation Report 86-2. Sacramento. April.
- Smith, I.M., and M.J. Sale. 1993. Standardizing instream flow requirements at hydropower projects in the Cascade Mountains, Washington. Pages 286-295 *in* D.W. Hall, editor. Waterpower 93. Proceedings International Conference on Hydropower, August 10-13. American Society of Civil Engineers. New York, NY.
- Smith, J.J. 1990. The effects of sandbar formation and inflows on aquatic habitat, and fish utilization in Pescadero, San Gregorio, Waddell and Pomponio creek estuary/lagoon systems, 1985-1989. California Department of Parks and Recreation. Report No. 84-04-324. 38 p.

- Smith, J.J., and H.W. Li. 1983. Energetic factors influencing foraging tactics of juvenile steelhead trout. Salmo gairdneri. Pages 173-180 in D.L.G. Noakes, D.G. Lindquist, G.S. Helfman, and J.A. Ward, editors. Predators and prey in fishers. Dr. W. Junk, The Hague, Netherlands.
- Snider, W.M. 1984. An Assessment of Coho and Steelhead Resource Requirements in Redwood Creek, Marin County. California Department Of Fish And Game, Administrative Report No. 84-1. March.
- Snider, W.M. 1985. Instream Flow Requirements of Anadromous Salmonids, Brush Creek, Mendocino County, California. California Department Of Fish And Game, Stream Evaluation Report No. 85-1. Sacramento, California. September.
- Sonoma Ecology Center (SEC), Stillwater Sciences, and UC Berkeley. 2004. Sonoma Creek limiting factors analysis. Prepared with support of U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Pablo Bay Watershed Restoration Program, and CDM, Sacramento. December.
- Sparks, R.C., J.C. Nelson, and Y. Yin. 1998. Naturalization of the flood regime in regulated rivers. Bioscience 48: 706-720.
- State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 1995. Lagunitas Creek: Order Amending Water Rights and Requiring Changes in Water Diversion Practices to Protect Fishing Resources and to Prevent Unauthorized Diversion and Use of Water, Order 95-17.
- State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 1997. Proposed actions to be taken by the Division of Water Rights on pending water right applications within the Russian River watershed. Staff report, August.
- State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 1998. Report of the investigation of the Navarro River watershed complaint in Mendocino County. Staff report, July.
- State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 2001. Assessing site specific and cumulative impacts on anadromous fishery resources in coastal watersheds in Northern California. Internal working document, January 8. 5pp.
- State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 2005. Board meeting Division of Water Rights, September 22, 2005, Item 12. Subject: Consideration of a proposed resolution authorizing the Executive Director to negotiate and execute contracts for the preparation of environmental documentation in connection with the development of principles and guidelines for maintaining instream flows in Northern coastal streams in accordance with state policy for Water quality control as required by California water code Section 1259.4 (AB 2121).

- Steiner. 1996. A History of the Salmonid Decline in the Russian River. Steiner Environmental Consulting, Potter Valley, California. Prepared for Sonoma County Water Agency and the California Coastal Conservancy.
- Stella, J.C. 2005. A Field-Calibrated Model of Pioneer Riparian Tree Recruitment for the San Joaquin Basin, CA. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley, California.
- Stevens, J.S. 2005. Applying the Public Trust Doctrine to river protection. California Water Plan update 4•393 4•400.
- Stohrer, S. 1998. Steelhead trout immigration periodicities. Compilation. SWRCB Sacramento, California.
- Stolnack, S.A., M.D. Bryant, R.C. Wissmar. 2005. A review of protocols for monitoring streams and juvenile fish in forested regions of the Pacific Northwest. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-625. Portland, Oregon: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 36 p.
- Strahler, A.N. 1957. Quantitative analysis of watershed geomorphology. American Geophysical Union Transactions 38: 913-920.
- Stromberg, J.C. 1993. Instream flow models for mixed deciduous riparian vegetation within a semiarid region. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 8: 225-235.
- Stromberg, J.C., and D.T. Patten. 1990. Riparian vegetation instream flow requirements: A case study from a diverted stream in the eastern Sierra Nevada, California, USA. Environmental Management 14(2): 185-194.
- Swift, C.H. 1976. Estimation of stream discharges preferred by steelhead trout for spawning and rearing in western Washington. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 75-155. Tacoma, Washington.
- Swift, C.H. 1979. Preferred stream discharges for salmon spawning and rearing in Washington. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-422. Tacoma, Washington.
- Taylor, R.N., T.D. Grey, A.L. Knoche, and M. Love. 2003. Russian River Stream Crossing Inventory and Fish Passage Evaluation. Final Report. Ross Taylor and Associates, McKinleyville, California. Prepared for California Department of Fish and Game.
- Tennant, D.L. 1976. Instream flow regimes for fish, wildlife, recreation and related environmental resources. Fisheries 1(4): 6-10.
- Terrell, J.W., B.S. Cade, J. Carpenter, and J.M. Thompson. 1996. Modeling stream fish habitat limitations from wedge-shaped patterns of variation in standing stock. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 125: 104-117.

- Tetzlaff, D., C. Soulsby, A.F. Youngson, C. Gibbins, P.J. Bacon, I.A. Malcolm, and S. Langan. 2005. Variability in stream discharge and temperature: A preliminary assessment of the implications for juvenile and spawning Atlantic Salmon. Hydrology and Earth Systems Sciences 9(3): 193-208.
- Thompson, C.S. 1970. Effect of flow on performance and behavior of Chinook salmon in fishways. USFWS, Special Scientific Report: Fisheries No. 601, Washington D.C.
- Thompson, K.E. 1972. Determining stream flows for fish life. Proceedings of the instream flow requirements workshop, Pacific Northwest River Basins Commission, Portland, Oregon: 31-50.
- Trihey & Associates, Inc. 1996. Lagunitas Creek Coho Salmon Spawner Survey Report, Fall and Winter 1995-96. Trihey & Associates, Inc., Concord, California. Marin Municipal Water District, Corte Madera, California.
- Trush, W.J. 1991. The influence of channel morphology and hydrology on spawning populations of steelhead trout in South Fork Eel River tributaries. Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley. April.
- Tschaplinski, P.J., and G.F. Hartman. 1983. Winter distribution of juvenile coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) before and after logging in Carnation Creek, British Columbia, and some implications for overwinter survival. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 40: 452-261.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 1982. Northern California Streams Investigations: Russian River Basin Study. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, San Francisco, California.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 2000. Channel-forming discharge, ERDC/CHL HETN-II-5. September.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2002. Recovery Plan for the California Red-legged Frog (*Rana aurora draytonii*). U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Portland, Oregon.
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 1967. Surface Water Hydrology of California Coastal Basins Between San Francisco Bay and Eel River, Water-Supply Paper 1851, 60 p.
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2006. National Water Information System (NWISWeb). Data available on the World Wide Web, accessed July 2006, at URL [http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis/].
- Unwin, M.J. 1997. Survival of Chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*, from a spawning tributary to the Rakaia River, New Zealand, in relation to spring and summer mainstem flows. Fishery Bulletin 95: 812-825.

USGS URL: http://water.usgs.gov/osw/pubs/memo.summaries.html

- Vadas, R.L. 2000. Instream-flow needs for anadromous salmonids and lamprey on the Pacific coast, with special reference to the Pacific Southwest. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 64: 331-358.
- Vannote, R.L., G.W. Minshall, K.W. Cummins, J.R. Sedell, and C.E. Cushing. 1980. The river continuum concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 37: 130-137.
- Vogel, R.M., I.W. Wilson, and C. Daly. 1999. Regional regression models of annual streamflow for the United States. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 125(3): 148-157.
- Walkotten, W.J. 1976. An improved technique for freeze sampling streambed sediments. U.S. Forest Service Res. Note PNW-281, Portland, Oregon.
- Walters, C.J. 1986. Adaptive Management of Renewable Resources. The Blackburn Press, Caldwell, New Jersey, 07006. 374 pp.
- Wedemeyer, G.A., R.L. Saunders, and W.C. Clarke. 1980. Environmental factors affecting smoltification and early marine survival of anadromous salmonids. Mar. Fish. Rev. 42: 1-14.
- Weitkamp, L. A., T. C. Wainwright, G. J. Bryant, G. B. Milner, D. J. Teel, R. G. Kope, and R. S.
 Waples. 1995. Status review of coho salmon from Washington, Oregon, and California.
 U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-24.
- Wells, R.A., and W.J. McNeil. 1970. Effect of quality of the spawning bed on growth and development of pink salmon embryos and alevins. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Special Scientific Report Fisheries 616.
- Wesche, T.A., D.W. Reiser, V. Hasfurther, D. Skinner, and W. Hubert. 1989. A new method of measuring intragravel fine sediment deposition in streams, N. Amer. Journal Fish Management Vol. 9, No. 2.
- White, R.G., J.H. Milligan, A.E. Bingham, R.A. Ruediger, T. Vogel, and D.H. Bennett. 1981.
 Effects of reduced stream discharge on fish and aquatic macroinvertebrate populations.
 University of Idaho, Water and Energy Resources Research Institute, Research Technical Completion Report, Project B-045-IDA, Moscow, Idaho.
- Whiting, P.J. 1998. Floodplain maintenance flows. Rivers, Studies in the Science, Environmental Policy and Law of Instream Flow, 6(3): 160-170.
- Whitman, R.P., T.P. Quinn, and E. Brannon. 1982. Influence of suspended volcanic ash on homing behavior of adult Chinook salmon. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 111: 63-69.

- Wickett, P. 1954. The oxygen supply to salmon eggs in spawning beds. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. 11: 933-953.
- Williams, G. P. 1978. Bankfull discharge of rivers. Water Resources Research 14:1141-1154
- Williams, J.G. 1996. Lost in space: Minimum confidence intervals for idealized PHABSIM studies. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 125: 458-465.
- Wipfli, M.S., J.S. Richardson, and R.J. Naiman. 2007. Ecological linkages between headwaters and downstream ecosystems: Transport of organic matter, invertebrates, and wood down headwater channels. Journal American Water Resources Association 43(1): 72-85.
- Wolman, M.G. 1954. A method of sampling coarse river bed material. Trans. AGU. 35: 951-956.
- Wolman, M.G., and J.P. Miller. 1960. Magnitude and frequency of forces in geomorphic processes. Journal of Geology 68: 54-74.
- Young, K.A. 1999. Environmental correlates of male life history variation among coho salmon populations from two Oregon coastal basins. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 128: 1-16.

This page intentionally left blank.